

OHIO REVISED CODES (ORC) & OHIO ADMINISTRATIVE CODES (OAC) RELATING TO OHIO COUNTY VETERANS SERVICE COMMISSIONS

Per ORC 5902.02, you are being furnished current state laws, rules, and legislation relating to the operation of Ohio County Veterans Service Commissions. Content is current as of the date listed below. It is up to your commission to verify content is up to date when using this document for any reason. These codes should not be considered all-inclusive to the operation of your commission.

FEBRUARY 12, 2025

OHIO DEPARTMENT OF VETERANS SERVICES – EDUCATION AND COMPLIANCE
77 S. High St. 7th Fl. Columbus OH 43215
614-644-0898 – Toll Free: 888-387-6446
Email: countytraining@dvs.ohio.gov

Site: www.dvs.ohio.gov

CONTENTS

OHIO REVISED CODE (ORC)	1
Chapter 102: STATE GOVERNMENT – TITLE 1: PUBLIC OFFICERS - ETHICS /STANDARDS OF CONDUCT	1
102.01 Public officers - ethics definitions.	1
102.02 Financial disclosure statement filed with ethics commission	2
102.021 Former state officials to report certain financial information	8
102.022 Certain financial information substituted in statements of local officials and college and university trustees.	11
102.03 Representation by present or former public official or employee prohibited	12
102.031 Conflicts of interest of member of general assembly	16
102.04 No compensation to elected or appointed state official other than from agency served	
102.05 Ohio ethics commission created	18
102.06 Powers and duties of ethics commission	19
102.07 No divulging of information in disclosure statements	21
102.08 Recommending legislation - advisory opinions	
102.09 Furnishing financial disclosure form to candidates.	23
102.99 Penalty	23
Chapter 121: STATE DEPARTMENTS/PUBLIC MEETINGS	24
121.22 Public meetings - exceptions. Effective 3 April 2025	24
Chapter 124: DEPARTMENT OF ADMINISTRATIVE SERVICES - PERSONNEL	30
124.57 Prohibition against partisan political activity	30
Chapter 2921: CRIMES – PROCEDURE – TITLE 29: OFFENSES AGAINST JUSTICE AND PUBLIC ADMINISTRATION	30
2921.42 Having an unlawful interest in a public contract.	30
2921.43 Soliciting or accepting improper compensation.	
Chapter 5705: TAXATION – TITLE 57 – TAX LEVY LAW/BUDGETS	
5705.05 Purpose and intent of general levy for current expenses.	
5705.38 Annual appropriation measures - classification	33
5705.39 Appropriations limited by estimated revenue	
5705.392 County spending plan	34
5705.40 Amending or supplementing appropriation ordinance - transfer - unencumbered balance appropriation for contingencies.	
5705.41 Restriction upon appropriation and expenditure of money - certificate of fiscal officer	
Chapter 5901: VETERANS – TITLE 59: VETERANS' SERVICE COMMISSIONS	
5901.01 Veterans' services definitions.	

5901.02 Veterans service commission	39
5901.021 Creation of additional memberships	40
5901.03 Organization and duties of commission.	40
5901.04 Payment of expenses and compensation of commissioners	41
5901.05 Veterans service committee.	41
5901.06 Commission to employ executive director, investigators and clerks	42
5901.07 County veterans service officers and assistants	42
5901.08 Applicants for financial assistance	42
5901.09 Statement of household income and property.	43
5901.11 Determination of probable amount of funds needed	44
5901.14 Warrant for allowance	45
5901.15 Immediate assistance - veterans service commission unclaimed assistance fund	45
5901.16 Application or petition for veterans plot in cemetery	45
5901.17 Expense for care of graves	45
5901.18 Petition for burial or removal and reinterment	46
5901.19 Order to maintain dignified burial site or for removal and reinterment - maximum expe	
5901.20 Verified statement of burial or removal.	46
5901.21 Purchase of additional plots	46
5901.22 Contracts with cemetery associations for purchase and maintenance of plots	47
5901.23 Plots open for burial on application	47
5901.24 Burial in cemetery not provided with plot	47
5901.25 Commission to contract for burial of indigent veteran, parent, spouse or surviving spou veteran.	
5901.26 Duties of commission as to burial of indigent	47
5901.27 Commission to determine indigency - report to county commissioners	48
5901.28 Death of inmate of home	48
5901.29 Funeral directors' blanks	48
5901.30 Presentation of itemized bill and contract to county auditor	49
5901.31 Savings on expenses to remain in county general fund - delay where additional funds co	
5901.32 Record - expenses - headstone	49
5901.34 Permanent markers and temporary memorial day markers for graves of veterans	49
5901.35 Care of graves of veterans.	50
5901.36 County or municipal corporation may provide land for veterans' facilities	50

5901.37 Care of portion of cemetery set apart for burial of veterans.	50
5901.99 Misrepresentation of veteran status.	50
Chapter 5902: VETERANS – TITLE 59: VETERANS' SERVICES	51
5902.01 Appointment of director - employment of personnel	51
5902.02 Duties of the director of veterans services	51
5902.03 Duplicating certificates of discharge and separation.	54
5902.04 Director to furnish information and advice to veterans	54
5902.05 Military injury relief fund	55
5902.06 Director shall keep claims register	56
5902.07 Director may administrator oaths - seal	56
5902.08 Prohibition	56
5902.20 Veteran peer counseling network.	56
5902.21 Program to assist receipt of federal military-related health care benefits	56
5902.22 Sports gaming profits veterans fund	56
5902.99 Penalty	57
Chapter 5903: VETERANS – TITLE 59: VETERANS' RIGHTS	57
5903.01 Definitions	57
5903.02 Reinstatement and reemployment rights.	58
5903.03 Occupational licensing.	59
5903.04 Adoption of rules.	59
5903.05 Veteran's education benefits	60
5903.10 Renewal of license or certificate	60
5903.11 Veteran priority system to provide maximum employment and training opportunities to veterans.	
5903.12 Extension of continuing education reporting period for licensee called to active duty misservice. Effective 4/9/2025	-
5903.121 Factors used in determining fulfillment of required continuing education	63
5903.15 Preferential hiring policies.	63
5903.99 Penalty	64
Chapter 4117: LABOR AND INDUSTRY – TITLE 41: PUBLIC EMPLOYEES' COLLECTIVE BARGAINING	64
4117.10 Terms of agreement.	64
OHIO ADMINISTRATIVE CODE (OAC)	67
Chapter 5902-1: REQUIREMENTS FOR SERVICE COMMISSIONERS AND OFFICERS	67
5902-1-01 Training and education	67
5902-1-02 Education, training, and certification for county veterans service commissioners	69

5902-1-03 Criteria for hiring county veterans service officers	69
5902-1-05 Accrediting and certifying county veterans service officers.	70
5902-1-06 Education of county veterans service officers.	70
5902-1-08 Revocation of certification of county veterans service commissioners	71
5902-1-09 Revocation of certification of county veterans service officers	72
Chapter 5902-2: MEETINGS	73
5902-2-01 Ohio open meeting laws and roberts rules of order	73
Chapter 5902-3 EDUCATION, DIPLOMAS, DEGREES	74
5902-3-01 Education, diplomas and degrees high school diplomas to world war II, Korean conflict veterans.	
Chapter 5902-4: PERSIAN GULF, AFGHANISTAN, AND IRAQ CONFLICTS COMPENSATION FUND	75
5902-4-01 Definitions.	75
5902-4-02 Compensation to living current and former armed forces members who served during Persian gulf, Afghanistan, and Iraq conflicts	•
5902-4-03 Compensation to living kin of deceased veteran who served during the Persian gulf, Afghanistan, and Iraq conflicts.	77
5902-4-04 Compensation paid to living kin of veteran missing in action during the Persian gulf, Afghanistan, and Iraq conflicts.	78
5902-4-05 Persons to whom compensation shall not be paid	78
5902-4-06 Legal residence.	78
5902-4-07 Applications for compensation.	79
5902-4-08 Availability of funding for the program.	80
5902-4-09 Applications for compensation to incompetent persons	80
5902-4-10 Applications for compensation for deceased veterans	80
5902-4-11 Department shall appoint counsel and employees as necessary	81
5902-4-12 Payments of compensation	81
5902-4-13 Determination of sufficiency of documentation	82
5902-4-14 Confidentiality of applicant information.	82
Chapter 5902-5: ACCESSING CONFIDENTIAL PERSONAL INFORMATION	83
5902-5-01 Definitions.	83
5902-5-02 Procedures for accessing confidential personal information	84
5902-5-03 Valid reasons for accessing confidential personal information.	85
5902-5-04 Confidentiality Statutes.	87
5902-5-05 Restricting and logging access to confidential personal information in computerized personal information systems.	87

Chapter 5902-6 Military Nonstandard License Plate Application and Guidelines	89
5902-6-01 Agency responsibilities.	89
5902-6-02 Authorized military nonstandard license plates	89
5902-6-03 Application and documentation	90
REFERENCES AND RESOURCES	91
Useful VA Related Phone Numbers	91
VA Related Websites	92

OHIO REVISED CODE (ORC)

Chapter 102: STATE GOVERNMENT – TITLE 1: PUBLIC OFFICERS - ETHICS /STANDARDS OF CONDUCT

102.01 Public officers - ethics definitions.

As used in this chapter:

- (A) "Compensation" means money, thing of value, or financial benefit. "Compensation" does not include reimbursement for actual and necessary expenses incurred in the performance of official duties.
- (B) "Public official or employee" means any person who is elected or appointed to an office or is an employee of any public agency. "Public official or employee" does not include any of the following: (1) A person elected or appointed to the office of precinct, ward, or district committee member under section 3517.03 of the Revised Code, any presidential elector, or any delegate to a national convention; (2) A person who is a teacher, instructor, professor, or other kind of educator whose position does not involve the performance of, or authority to perform, administrative or supervisory functions; (3) An officer, member, or director of an existing qualified nonprofit corporation that creates a special improvement district under Chapter 1710. Of the Revised Code, or such a person's designee or proxy, when the person is not acting in that role with respect to a purpose for which the district is created.
- (C) (1) "Public agency" means the general assembly, all courts, any department, division, institution, board, commission, authority, bureau or other instrumentality of the state, a county, city, village, or township, the five state retirement systems, or any other governmental entity.
- (2) Notwithstanding any contrary provision of division (C) (3)(a) of this section, "public agency" includes a regional council of governments established under Chapter 167. of the Revised Code.
- (3) "Public agency" does not include either of the following:
- (a) A department, division, institution, board, commission, authority, or other instrumentality of the state or a county, municipal corporation, township, or other governmental entity that functions exclusively for cultural, educational, historical, humanitarian, advisory, or research purposes; that does not expend more than ten thousand dollars per calendar year, excluding salaries and wages of employees; and whose members are uncompensated;
- (b) The nonprofit corporation formed under section <u>187.01</u> of the Revised Code.
- (c) An existing qualified nonprofit corporation that creates a special improvement district under Chapter 1710. of the Revised Code, when the corporation is not acting with respect to a purpose for which the district is created.
- (D) "Immediate family" means a spouse residing in the person's household and any dependent child.
- (E) "Income" includes gross income as defined and used in the "Internal Revenue Code of 1986," 100 Stat. 2085, 26 U.S.C. 1, as amended, interest and dividends on obligations or securities of any state or of any political subdivision or authority of any state or political subdivision, and interest or dividends on obligations of any authority, commission, or instrumentality of the United States.
- (F) Except as otherwise provided in division (A) of section <u>102.08</u> of the Revised Code, "appropriate ethics commission" means:

- (1) For matters relating to members of the general assembly, employees of the general assembly, employees of the legislative service commission, and candidates for the office of member of the general assembly, the joint legislative ethics committee;
- (2) For matters relating to judicial officers and employees, and candidates for judicial office, the board of commissioners on grievances and discipline of the supreme court;
- (3) For matters relating to all other persons, the Ohio ethics commission.
- (G) "Anything of value" has the same meaning as provided in section $\underline{1.03}$ of the Revised Code and includes, but is not limited to, a contribution as defined in section $\underline{3517.01}$ of the Revised Code.
- (H) "Honorarium" means any payment made in consideration for any speech given, article published, or attendance at any public or private conference, convention, meeting, social event, meal, or similar gathering. "Honorarium" does not include ceremonial gifts or awards that have insignificant monetary value; unsolicited gifts of nominal value or trivial items of informational value; or earned income from any person, other than a legislative agent, for personal services that are customarily provided in connection with the practice of a bona fide business, if that business initially began before the public official or employee conducting that business was elected or appointed to the public official's or employee's office or position of employment.
- (I) "Employer" means any person who, directly or indirectly, engages an executive agency lobbyist or legislative agent.
- (J) "Executive agency decision," "executive agency lobbyist," and "executive agency lobbying activity" have the same meanings as in section <u>121.60</u> of the Revised Code.
- (K) "Legislation," "legislative agent," "financial transaction," and "actively advocate" have the same meanings as in section <u>101.70</u> of the Revised Code.
- (L) "Expenditure" has the same meaning as in section $\underline{101.70}$ of the Revised Code when used in relation to activities of a legislative agent, and the same meaning as in section $\underline{121.60}$ of the Revised Code when used in relation to activities of an executive agency lobbyist.

Amended by 134th General Assembly, HB 45, eff. 4/7/2023

102.02 Financial disclosure statement filed with ethics commission.

(A)(1) Except as otherwise provided in division (H) of this section, all of the following shall file with the appropriate ethics commission the disclosure statement described in this division on a form prescribed by the appropriate commission: every person who is elected to or is a candidate for a state, county, or city office and every person who is appointed to fill a vacancy for an unexpired term in such an elective office; all members of the state board of education; the director, assistant directors, deputy directors, division chiefs, or persons of equivalent rank of any administrative department of the state; the president or other chief administrative officer of every state institution of higher education as defined in section 3345.011 of the Revised Code; the executive director and the members of the capitol square review and advisory board appointed or employed pursuant to section 105.41 of the Revised Code; all members of the Ohio casino control commission, the executive director of the commission, all professional employees of the commission, and all technical employees of the commission who perform an internal audit function; the individuals set forth in division (B)(2) of section 187.03 of the Revised Code; the chief executive officer and the members of the board of each state retirement system; each employee of a state retirement board who is a state retirement system investment officer

licensed pursuant to section 1707.163 of the Revised Code; the members of the Ohio retirement study council appointed pursuant to division (C) of section 171.01 of the Revised Code; employees of the Ohio retirement study council, other than employees who perform purely administrative or clerical functions; the administrator of workers' compensation and each member of the bureau of workers' compensation board of directors; the bureau of workers' compensation director of investments; the chief investment officer of the bureau of workers' compensation; all members of the board of commissioners on grievances and discipline of the supreme court and the ethics commission created under section 102.05 of the Revised Code; every business manager, treasurer, or superintendent of a city, local, exempted village, joint vocational, or cooperative education school district or an educational service center; every person who is elected to or is a candidate for the office of member of a board of education of a city, local, exempted village, joint vocational, or cooperative education school district or of a governing board of an educational service center that has a total student count of twelve thousand or more as most recently determined by the department of education and workforce pursuant to section 3317.03 of the Revised Code; every person who is appointed to the board of education of a municipal school district pursuant to division (B) or (F) of section 3311.71 of the Revised Code; all members of the board of directors of a sanitary district that is established under Chapter 6115. of the Revised Code and organized wholly for the purpose of providing a water supply for domestic, municipal, and public use, and that includes two municipal corporations in two counties; every public official or employee who is paid a salary or wage in accordance with schedule C of section 124.15 or schedule E-2 of section 124.152 of the Revised Code; all members appointed to the Ohio livestock care standards board under section 904.02 of the Revised Code; all entrepreneurs in residence assigned by the LeanOhio office in the department of administrative services under section 125.65 of the Revised Code and every other public official or employee who is designated by the appropriate ethics commission pursuant to division (B) of this section.

- (2) The disclosure statement shall include all of the following:
- (a) The name of the person filing the statement and each member of the person's immediate family and all names under which the person or members of the person's immediate family do business;
- (b)(i) Subject to divisions (A)(2)(b)(ii) and (iii) of this section and except as otherwise provided in section 102.022 of the Revised Code, identification of every source of income, other than income from a legislative agent identified in division (A)(2)(b)(ii) of this section, received during the preceding calendar year, in the person's own name or by any other person for the person's use or benefit, by the person filing the statement, and a brief description of the nature of the services for which the income was received. If the person filing the statement is a member of the general assembly, the statement shall identify the amount of every source of income received in accordance with the following ranges of amounts: zero or more, but less than one thousand dollars; one thousand dollars or more, but less than ten thousand dollars; ten thousand dollars or more, but less than twenty-five thousand dollars; twenty-five thousand dollars or more, but less than fifty thousand dollars; fifty thousand dollars or more, but less than one hundred thousand dollars; and one hundred thousand dollars or more. Division (A)(2)(b)(i) of this section shall not be construed to require a person filing the statement who derives income from a business or profession to disclose the individual items of income that constitute the gross income of that business or profession, except for those individual items of income that are attributable to the person's or, if the income is shared with the person, the partner's, solicitation of services or goods or performance, arrangement, or facilitation of services or provision of goods on behalf of the business or profession of clients, including corporate clients, who are legislative agents. A person who files the statement under this section shall disclose the identity of and the amount of income received from a person who the public official or employee knows or has reason to know is doing or seeking to do business of any kind with the public official's or employee's agency. (ii) If the person filing the statement is a member of the general assembly, the statement shall identify every source of income and the amount of that income that was received from a legislative agent during the preceding calendar year, in the person's own name or by any other person for the person's use or benefit, by the person filing the statement, and a brief description

of the nature of the services for which the income was received. Division (A)(2)(b)(ii) of this section requires the disclosure of clients of attorneys or persons licensed under section $\underline{4732.12}$ of the Revised Code, or patients of persons licensed under section $\underline{4731.14}$ of the Revised Code, if those clients or patients are legislative agents. Division (A)(2)(b)(ii) of this section requires a person filing the statement who derives income from a business or profession to disclose those individual items of income that constitute the gross income of that business or profession that are received from legislative agents.

- (iii) Except as otherwise provided in division (A)(2)(b)(iii) of this section, division (A)(2)(b)(i) of this section applies to attorneys, physicians, and other persons who engage in the practice of a profession and who, pursuant to a section of the Revised Code, the common law of this state, a code of ethics applicable to the profession, or otherwise, generally are required not to reveal, disclose, or use confidences of clients, patients, or other recipients of professional services except under specified circumstances or generally are required to maintain those types of confidences as privileged communications except under specified circumstances. Division (A)(2)(b)(i) of this section does not require an attorney, physician, or other professional subject to a confidentiality requirement as described in division (A)(2)(b)(iii) of this section to disclose the name, other identity, or address of a client, patient, or other recipient of professional services if the disclosure would threaten the client, patient, or other recipient of professional services, would reveal details of the subject matter for which legal, medical, or professional advice or other services were sought, or would reveal an otherwise privileged communication involving the client, patient, or other recipient of professional services. Division (A)(2)(b)(i) of this section does not require an attorney, physician, or other professional subject to a confidentiality requirement as described in division (A)(2)(b)(iii) of this section to disclose in the brief description of the nature of services required by division (A)(2)(b)(i) of this section any information pertaining to specific professional services rendered for a client, patient, or other recipient of professional services that would reveal details of the subject matter for which legal, medical, or professional advice was sought or would reveal an otherwise privileged communication involving the client, patient, or other recipient of professional services.
- (c) The name of every corporation on file with the secretary of state that is incorporated in this state or holds a certificate of compliance authorizing it to do business in this state, trust, business trust, partnership, or association that transacts business in this state in which the person filling the statement or any other person for the person's use and benefit had during the preceding calendar year an investment of over one thousand dollars at fair market value as of the thirty-first day of December of the preceding calendar year, or the date of disposition, whichever is earlier, or in which the person holds any office or has a fiduciary relationship, and a description of the nature of the investment, office, or relationship. Division (A)(2)(c) of this section does not require disclosure of the name of any bank, savings and loan association, credit union, or building and loan association with which the person filling the statement has a deposit or a withdrawable share account.
- (d) All fee simple and leasehold interests to which the person filing the statement holds legal title to or a beneficial interest in real property located within the state, excluding the person's residence and property used primarily for personal recreation;
- (e) The names of all persons residing or transacting business in the state to whom the person filing the statement owes, in the person's own name or in the name of any other person, more than one thousand dollars. Division (A)(2)(e) of this section shall not be construed to require the disclosure of debts owed by the person resulting from the ordinary conduct of a business or profession or debts on the person's residence or real property used primarily for personal recreation, except that the superintendent of financial institutions and any deputy superintendent of banks shall disclose the names of all state-chartered banks and all bank subsidiary corporations subject to regulation under section 1109.44 of the Revised Code to whom the superintendent or deputy superintendent owes any money.
- (f) The names of all persons residing or transacting business in the state, other than a depository excluded under division (A)(2)(c) of this section, who owe more than one thousand dollars to the

person filing the statement, either in the person's own name or to any person for the person's use or benefit. Division (A)(2)(f) of this section shall not be construed to require the disclosure of clients of attorneys or persons licensed under section $\underline{4732.12}$ of the Revised Code, or patients of persons licensed under section $\underline{4731.14}$ of the Revised Code, nor the disclosure of debts owed to the person resulting from the ordinary conduct of a business or profession.

- (g) Except as otherwise provided in section 102.022 of the Revised Code, the source of each gift of over seventy-five dollars, or of each gift of over twenty-five dollars received by a member of the general assembly from a legislative agent, received by the person in the person's own name or by any other person for the person's use or benefit during the preceding calendar year, except gifts received by will or by virtue of section 2105.06 of the Revised Code, or received from spouses, parents, grandparents, children, grandchildren, siblings, nephews, nieces, uncles, aunts, brothers-in-law, sisters-in-law, sons-in-law, daughters-in-law, fathers-in-law, mothers-in-law, or any person to whom the person filing the statement stands in loco parentis, or received by way of distribution from any inter vivos or testamentary trust established by a spouse or by an ancestor;
- (h) Except as otherwise provided in section 102.022 of the Revised Code, identification of the source and amount of every payment of expenses incurred for travel to destinations inside or outside this state that is received by the person in the person's own name or by any other person for the person's use or benefit and that is incurred in connection with the person's official duties, except for expenses for travel to meetings or conventions of a national or state organization to which any state agency, including, but not limited to, any legislative agency or state institution of higher education as defined in section 3345.011 of the Revised Code, pays membership dues, or any political subdivision or any office or agency of a political subdivision pays membership dues;
- (i) Except as otherwise provided in section 102.022 of the Revised Code, identification of the source of payment of expenses for meals and other food and beverages, other than for meals and other food and beverages provided at a meeting at which the person participated in a panel, seminar, or speaking engagement or at a meeting or convention of a national or state organization to which any state agency, including, but not limited to, any legislative agency or state institution of higher education as defined in section 3345.011 of the Revised Code, pays membership dues, or any political subdivision or any office or agency of a political subdivision pays membership dues, that are incurred in connection with the person's official duties and that exceed one hundred dollars aggregated per calendar year;
- (j) If the disclosure statement is filed by a public official or employee described in division (B)(2) of section $\underline{101.73}$ of the Revised Code or division (B)(2) of section $\underline{121.63}$ of the Revised Code who receives a statement from a legislative agent, executive agency lobbyist, or employer that contains the information described in division (F)(2) of section $\underline{101.73}$ of the Revised Code or division (G)(2) of section $\underline{121.63}$ of the Revised Code, all of the nondisputed information contained in the statement delivered to that public official or employee by the legislative agent, executive agency lobbyist, or employer under division (F)(2) of section $\underline{101.73}$ or (G)(2) of section $\underline{121.63}$ of the Revised Code.
- (3) A person may file a statement required by this section in person, by mail, or by electronic means.
- (4) A person who is required to file a statement under this section shall file that statement according to the following deadlines, as applicable:
- (a) Except as otherwise provided in divisions (A)(4)(b), (c), and (d) of this section, the person shall file the statement not later than the fifteenth day of May of each year.
- (b) A person who is a candidate for elective office shall file the statement no later than the thirtieth day before the primary, special, or general election at which the candidacy is to be voted on, whichever election occurs soonest, except that a person who is a write-in candidate

shall file the statement no later than the twentieth day before the earliest election at which the person's candidacy is to be voted on.

- (c) A person who is appointed to fill a vacancy for an unexpired term in an elective office shall file the statement within fifteen days after the person qualifies for office.
- (d) A person who is appointed or employed after the fifteenth day of May, other than a person described in division (A)(4)(c) of this section, shall file an annual statement within ninety days after appointment or employment.
- (5) No person shall be required to file with the appropriate ethics commission more than one statement or pay more than one filing fee for any one calendar year.
- (6) The appropriate ethics commission, for good cause, may extend for a reasonable time the deadline for filing a statement under this section.
- (7) A statement filed under this section is subject to public inspection at locations designated by the appropriate ethics commission except as otherwise provided in this section.
- (B) The Ohio ethics commission, the joint legislative ethics committee, and the board of commissioners on grievances and discipline of the supreme court, using the rule-making procedures of Chapter 119. of the Revised Code, may require any class of public officials or employees under its jurisdiction and not specifically excluded by this section whose positions involve a substantial and material exercise of administrative discretion in the formulation of public policy, expenditure of public funds, enforcement of laws and rules of the state or a county or city, or the execution of other public trusts, to file an annual statement under division (A) of this section. The appropriate ethics commission shall send the public officials or employees written notice of the requirement not less than thirty days before the applicable filing deadline unless the public official or employee is appointed after that date, in which case the notice shall be sent within thirty days after appointment, and the filing shall be made not later than ninety days after appointment.

Disclosure statements filed under this division with the Ohio ethics commission by members of boards, commissions, or bureaus of the state for which no compensation is received other than reasonable and necessary expenses shall be kept confidential. Disclosure statements filed with the Ohio ethics commission under division (A) of this section by business managers, treasurers, and superintendents of city, local, exempted village, joint vocational, or cooperative education school districts or educational service centers shall be kept confidential, except that any person conducting an audit of any such school district or educational service center pursuant to Chapter 117. of the Revised Code may examine the disclosure statement of any business manager, treasurer, or superintendent of that school district or educational service center. Disclosure statements filed with the Ohio ethics commission under division (A) of this section by the individuals set forth in division (B)(2) of section 187.03 of the Revised Code shall be kept confidential. The Ohio ethics commission shall examine each disclosure statement required to be kept confidential to determine whether a potential conflict of interest exists for the person who filed the disclosure statement. A potential conflict of interest exists if the private interests of the person, as indicated by the person's disclosure statement, might interfere with the public interests the person is required to serve in the exercise of the person's authority and duties in the person's office or position of employment. If the commission determines that a potential conflict of interest exists, it shall notify the person who filed the disclosure statement and shall make the portions of the disclosure statement that indicate a potential conflict of interest subject to public inspection in the same manner as is provided for other disclosure statements. Any portion of the disclosure statement that the commission determines does not indicate a potential conflict of interest shall be kept confidential by the commission and shall not be made subject to

public inspection, except as is necessary for the enforcement of Chapters 102. and 2921. of the Revised Code and except as otherwise provided in this division.

- (C) No person shall knowingly fail to file, on or before the applicable filing deadline established under this section, a statement that is required by this section.
- (D) No person shall knowingly file a false statement that is required to be filed under this section.
- (E)(1) Except as provided in divisions (E)(2) and (3) of this section, the statement required by division (A) or (B) of this section shall be accompanied by a filing fee of sixty dollars. (2) The statement required by division (A) of this section shall be accompanied by the following filing fee to be paid by the person who is elected or appointed to, or is a candidate for, any of the following offices:
- (2) The statement required by division (A) of this section shall be accompanied by the following filing fee to be paid by the person who is elected or appointed to, or is a candidate for, any of the following offices:

For state office, except member of the state board of education	\$95
For office of member of general assembly	\$40
For county office	\$60
For city office	\$35
For office of member of the state board of education	\$35
For office of member of a city, local, exempted village, or cooperative education board of education or educational service center governing board	\$30
For position of business manager, treasurer, or superintendent of a city, local, exempted village, joint vocational, or cooperative education school district or educational service center	\$30

- (3) No judge of a court of record or candidate for judge of a court of record, and no referee or magistrate serving a court of record, shall be required to pay the fee required under division (E)(1) or (2) or (F) of this section.
- (4) For any public official who is appointed to a nonelective office of the state and for any employee who holds a nonelective position in a public agency of the state, the state agency that is the primary employer of the state official or employee shall pay the fee required under division (E)(1) or (F) of this section.
- (F) If a statement required to be filed under this section is not filed by the date on which it is required to be filed, the appropriate ethics commission shall assess the person required to file the statement a late filing fee of ten dollars for each day the statement is not filed, except that the total amount of the late filing fee shall not exceed two hundred fifty dollars.

- (G)(1) The appropriate ethics commission other than the Ohio ethics commission and the joint legislative ethics committee shall deposit all fees it receives under divisions (E) and (F) of this section into the general revenue fund of the state.
- (2) The Ohio ethics commission shall deposit all receipts, including, but not limited to, fees it receives under divisions (E) and (F) of this section, investigative or other fees, costs, or other funds it receives as a result of court orders, and all moneys it receives from settlements under division (G) of section 102.06 of the Revised Code, into the Ohio ethics commission fund, which is hereby created in the state treasury. All moneys credited to the fund shall be used solely for expenses related to the operation and statutory functions of the commission.
- (3) The joint legislative ethics committee shall deposit all receipts it receives from the payment of financial disclosure statement filing fees under divisions (E) and (F) of this section into the joint legislative ethics committee investigative and financial disclosure fund.
- (H) Division (A) of this section does not apply to a person elected or appointed to the office of precinct, ward, or district committee member under Chapter 3517. of the Revised Code; a presidential elector; a delegate to a national convention; village or township officials and employees; any physician or psychiatrist who is paid a salary or wage in accordance with schedule C of section 124.15 or schedule E-2 of section 124.152 of the Revised Code and whose primary duties do not require the exercise of administrative discretion; or any member of a board, commission, or bureau of any county or city who receives less than one thousand dollars per year for serving in that position.

Amended by 135th General Assembly, HB 33, eff. 10/3/2023.

102.021 Former state officials to report certain financial information.

(A) (1) For the twenty-four-month period immediately following the end of the former state elected officer's or staff member's service or public employment, except as provided in division (B) or (D) of this section, each former state elected officer or staff member who filed or was required to file a disclosure statement under section 102.02 of the Revised Code shall file, on or before the deadlines specified in division (D) of this section, with the joint legislative ethics committee a statement that shall include the information described in divisions (A)(2), (3), (4), and (5) of this section, as applicable. The statement shall be filed on a form and in the manner specified by the joint legislative ethics committee. This division does not apply to a state elected officer or staff member who filed or was required to file a disclosure statement under section 102.02 of the Revised Code, who leaves service or public employment, and who takes another position as a state elected officer or staff member who files or is required to file a disclosure statement under that section.

No person shall fail to file, on or before the deadlines specified in division (D) of this section, a statement that is required by this division.

- (2) The statement referred to in division (A)(1) of this section shall describe the source of all income received, in the former state elected officer's or staff member's own name or by any other person for the person's use or benefit, and briefly describe the nature of the services for which the income was received if the source of the income was any of the following:
- (a) An executive agency lobbyist or a legislative agent;
- (b) The employer of an executive agency lobbyist or legislative agent, except that this division does not apply if the employer is any state agency or political subdivision of the state;

- (c) Any entity, association, or business that, at any time during the two immediately preceding calendar years, was awarded one or more contracts by one or more state agencies that in the aggregate had a value of one hundred thousand dollars or more, or bid on one or more contracts to be awarded by one or more state agencies that in the aggregate had a value of one hundred thousand dollars or more.
- (3) If the former state elected officer or staff member received no income as described in division (A)(2) of this section, the statement referred to in division (A)(1) of this section shall indicate that fact.
- (4) If the former state elected officer or staff member directly or indirectly made, either separately or in combination with another, any expenditure or gift for transportation, lodging, or food or beverages to, at the request of, for the benefit of, or on behalf of any public officer or employee, and if the former state elected officer or staff member would be required to report the expenditure or gift in a statement under sections 101.70 to 101.79 or sections 121.60 to 121.69 of the Revised Code, whichever is applicable, if the former state elected officer or staff member was a legislative agent or executive agency lobbyist at the time the expenditure or gift was made, the statement referred to in division (A)(1) of this section shall include all information relative to that gift or expenditure that would be required in a statement under sections 101.70 to 101.79 or sections 121.60 to 121.69 of the Revised Code if the former state elected officer or staff member was a legislative agent or executive agency lobbyist at the time the expenditure or gift was made.
- (5) If the former state elected officer or staff member made no expenditure or gift as described in division (A)(4) of this section, the statement referred to in division (A)(1) of this section shall indicate that fact.
- (B) If, at any time during the twenty-four-month period immediately following the end of the former state elected officer's or staff member's service or public employment, a former state elected officer or staff member who filed or was required to file a disclosure statement under section 102.02 of the Revised Code becomes a legislative agent or an executive agency lobbyist, the former state elected officer or staff member shall comply with all registration and filing requirements set forth in sections 101.70 to 101.79 or sections 121.60 to 121.69 of the Revised Code, whichever is applicable, and, the former state elected officer or staff member also shall file a statement under division (A)(1) of this section except that the statement filed under division (A)(1) of this section does not need to include information regarding any income source, expenditure, or gift to the extent that that information was included in any registration or statement filed under sections 101.70 to 101.79 or sections 121.60 to 121.69 of the Revised Code.
- (C) Except as otherwise provided in this division, division (A)(2) of this section applies to attorneys, physicians, and other persons who engage in the practice of a profession and who, pursuant to a section of the Revised Code, the common law of this state, a code of ethics applicable to the profession, or otherwise, generally are required not to reveal, disclose, or use confidences of clients, patients, or other recipients of professional services except under specified circumstances or generally are required to maintain those types of confidences as privileged communications except under specified circumstances. Division (A)(2) of this section does not require an attorney, physician, or other professional subject to a confidentiality requirement as described in this division to disclose the name, other identity, or address of a client, patient, or other recipient of professional services if the disclosure would threaten the client, patient, or other recipient of professional services, would reveal details of the subject matter for which legal, medical, or professional advice or other services were sought, or would reveal an otherwise privileged communication involving the client, patient, or other recipient of professional services. Division (A)(2) of this section does not require an attorney, physician, or other professional subject to a confidentiality requirement as described in this division to disclose in the brief description of the nature of services required by division (A)(2) of this section any information pertaining to specific professional services rendered for a client, patient, or other recipient of professional services that would reveal details of the subject matter for which legal, medical, or professional advice was sought or would reveal

an otherwise privileged communication involving the client, patient, or other recipient of professional services.

(D) (1) Each state elected officer or staff member who filed or was required to file a disclosure statement under section $\underline{102.02}$ of the Revised Code and who leaves public service or public employment shall file an initial statement under division (A)(1) of this section not later than the day on which the former state elected officer or staff member leaves public service or public employment. The initial statement shall specify whether the person will, or will not, receive any income from a source described in division (A)(2)(a), (b), or (c) of this section.

If a person files an initial statement under this division that states that the person will receive income from a source described in division (A)(2)(a), (b), or (c) of this section, the person is required to file statements under division (A)(2), (3), (4), or (5) of this section at the times specified in division (D)(2) of this section.

If a person files an initial statement under this division that states that the person will not receive income from a source described in division (A)(2)(a), (b), or (c) of this section, except as otherwise provided in this division, the person is not required to file statements under division (A)(2), (4), or (5) of this section or to file subsequent statements under division (A)(3) of this section. If a person files an initial statement under this division that states that the person will not receive income from a source described in division (A)(2)(a), (b), or (c) of this section, and, subsequent to the filing of that initial statement, the person receives any income from a source described in division (A)(2)(a), (b), or (c) of this section, the person within ten days shall file a statement under division (A)(2) of this section that contains the information described in that division, and the person thereafter shall file statements under division (A)(2), (a), (a), or (a) of this section at the times specified in division (A)(2) of this section.

(2) After the filing of the initial statement under division (D)(1) of this section, each person required to file a statement under division (A)(2), (3), (4), or (5) of this section shall file it on or before the last calendar day of January, May, and September. The statements described in divisions (A)(2), (3), and (5) of this section shall relate to the sources of income the person received in the immediately preceding filing period from each source of income in each of the categories listed in division (A)(2) of this section. The statement described in division (A)(4) of this section shall include any information required to be reported regarding expenditures and gifts of the type described in division (A)(4) of this section occurring since the filing of the immediately preceding statement.

If, pursuant to this division, a person files a statement under division (A)(2) of this section, the person is required to file statements under division (A)(4) of this section, and subsequent statements under division (A)(2), (3), or (5) of this section, at the times specified in this division. In addition, if, subsequent to the filing of the statement under division (A)(2) of this section, the person receives any income from a source described in division (A)(2)(a), (b), or (c) of this section that was not listed on the statement filed under division (A)(2) of this section, the person within ten days shall file a statement under division (A)(2) of this section that contains the information described in that division regarding the new income source.

If, pursuant to this division, a person files a statement under division (A)(3) of this section, except as otherwise provided in this division, the person thereafter is not required to file statements under division (A)(2), (4), or (5) of this section, or to file subsequent statements under division (A)(3) of this section. If, subsequent to the filing of the statement under division (A)(3) of this section, the person receives any income from a source described in division (A)(2)(a), (b), or (c) of this section, the person within ten days shall file a statement under division (A)(2) of this section that contains the information described in that division regarding the new income source, and the person thereafter shall file statements under division (A)(4) of this section, and subsequent statements under division (A)(2) or (3) of this section, at the times specified in this division.

- (3) No fee shall be required for filing a statement under this section, except that the joint legislative ethics committee may charge late fees in the same manner as specified in division (G) of section 101.72 of the Revised Code.
- (E) Any state elected officer or staff member who filed or was required to file a disclosure statement under section $\underline{102.02}$ of the Revised Code and who leaves public service or public employment shall provide a forwarding address to the officer's or staff member's last employer, and the employer shall provide the person's name and address to the joint legislative ethics committee. The former elected state officer or staff member shall provide updated forwarding addresses as necessary to the joint legislative ethics committee during the twenty-four-month period during which division (A)(1) of this section applies. The public agency or appointing authority that was the last employer of a person required to file a statement under division (A)(2) of this section shall furnish to the person a copy of the form needed to complete the initial statement required under division (D)(1) of this section.
- (F) During the twenty-four-month period immediately following the end of the former state elected officer's or staff member's service or public employment, no person required to file a statement under this section shall receive from a source described in division (A)(2)(a), (b), or (c) of this section, and no source described in division (A)(2)(a), (b), or (c) of this section shall pay to that person, any compensation that is contingent in any way upon the introduction, modification, passage, or defeat of any legislation or the outcome of any executive agency decision.
- (G) As used in this section "state elected officer or staff member" means any elected officer of this state, any staff, as defined in section $\underline{101.70}$ of the Revised Code, or any staff, as defined in section $\underline{121.60}$ of the Revised Code.

Amended by 133rd General Assembly, HB 166, eff. 10/17/2019.

102.022 Certain financial information substituted in statements of local officials and college and university trustees.

Each person who is an officer or employee of a political subdivision, who receives compensation of less than sixteen thousand dollars a year for holding an office or position of employment with that political subdivision, and who is required to file a statement under section 102.02 of the Revised Code; each member of the board of trustees of a state institution of higher education as defined in section 3345.011 of the Revised Code who is required to file a statement under section 102.02 of the Revised Code; and each individual set forth in division (B)(2) of section 187.03 of the Revised Code who is required to file a statement under section 102.02 of the Revised Code, shall include in that statement, in place of the information required by divisions (A)(2)(b), (g), (h), and (i) of that section, the following information:

- (A) Exclusive of reasonable expenses, identification of every source of income over five hundred dollars received during the preceding calendar year, in the officer's or employee's own name or by any other person for the officer's or employee's use or benefit, by the person filing the statement, and a brief description of the nature of the services for which the income was received. This division shall not be construed to require the disclosure of clients of attorneys or persons licensed under section <u>4732.12</u> of the Revised Code or patients of persons licensed under section <u>4731.14</u> of the Revised Code. This division shall not be construed to require a person filing the statement who derives income from a business or profession to disclose the individual items of income that constitute the gross income of the business or profession.
- (B) The source of each gift of over five hundred dollars received by the person in the officer's or employee's own name or by any other person for the officer's or employee's use or benefit during the preceding calendar year, except gifts received by will or by virtue of section <u>2105.06</u> of the

Revised Code, received from parents, grandparents, children, grandchildren, siblings, nephews, nieces, uncles, aunts, brothers-in-law, sisters-in-law, sons-in-law, daughters-in-law, fathers-in-law, mothers-in-law, or any person to whom the person filing the statement stands in loco parentis, or received by way of distribution from any inter vivos or testamentary trust established by a spouse or by an ancestor.

Amended by 132nd General Assembly, HB 49, eff. 9/29/2017.

102.03 Representation by present or former public official or employee prohibited.

- (A)(1) No present or former public official or employee shall, during public employment or service or for twelve months thereafter, represent a client or act in a representative capacity for any person on any matter in which the public official or employee personally participated as a public official or employee through decision, approval, disapproval, recommendation, the rendering of advice, investigation, or other substantial exercise of administrative discretion.
- (2) For twenty-four months after the conclusion of service, no former commissioner or attorney examiner of the public utilities commission shall represent a public utility, as defined in section <u>4905.02</u> of the Revised Code, or act in a representative capacity on behalf of such a utility before any state board, commission, or agency.
- (3) For twenty-four months after the conclusion of employment or service, no former public official or employee who personally participated as a public official or employee through decision, approval, disapproval, recommendation, the rendering of advice, the development or adoption of solid waste management plans, investigation, inspection, or other substantial exercise of administrative discretion under Chapter 343. or 3734. of the Revised Code shall represent a person who is the owner or operator of a facility, as defined in section 3734.01 of the Revised Code, or who is an applicant for a permit or license for a facility under that chapter, on any matter in which the public official or employee personally participated as a public official or employee.
- (4) For a period of one year after the conclusion of employment or service as a member or employee of the general assembly, no former member or employee of the general assembly shall represent, or act in a representative capacity for, any person on any matter before the general assembly, any committee of the general assembly, or the controlling board. Division (A)(4) of this section does not apply to or affect a person who separates from service with the general assembly on or before December 31, 1995. As used in division (A)(4) of this section "person" does not include any state agency or political subdivision of the state.
- (5) As used in divisions (A)(1), (2), and (3) of this section, "matter" includes any case, proceeding, application, determination, issue, or question, but does not include the proposal, consideration, or enactment of statutes, rules, ordinances, resolutions, or charter or constitutional amendments. As used in division (A)(4) of this section, "matter" includes the proposal, consideration, or enactment of statutes, resolutions, or constitutional amendments. As used in division (A) of this section, "represent" includes any formal or informal appearance before, or any written or oral communication with, any public agency on behalf of any person.
- (6) Nothing contained in division (A) of this section shall prohibit, during such period, a former public official or employee from being retained or employed to represent, assist, or act in a representative capacity for the public agency by which the public official or employee was employed or on which the public official or employee served.

- (7) Division (A) of this section shall not be construed to prohibit the performance of ministerial functions, including, but not limited to, the filing or amendment of tax returns, applications for permits and licenses, incorporation papers, and other similar documents.
- (8) Division (A) of this section does not prohibit a nonelected public official or employee of a state agency, as defined in section 1.60 of the Revised Code, from becoming a public official or employee of another state agency. Division (A) of this section does not prohibit such an official or employee from representing or acting in a representative capacity for the official's or employee's new state agency on any matter in which the public official or employee personally participated as a public official or employee at the official's or employee's former state agency. However, no public official or employee of a state agency shall, during public employment or for twelve months thereafter, represent or act in a representative capacity for the official's or employee's new state agency on any audit or investigation pertaining to the official's or employee's new state agency in which the public official or employee personally participated at the official's or employee's former state agency through decision, approval, disapproval, recommendation, the rendering of advice, investigation, or other substantial exercise of administrative discretion.
- (9) Division (A) of this section does not prohibit a nonelected public official or employee of a political subdivision from becoming a public official or employee of a different department, division, agency, office, or unit of the same political subdivision. Division (A) of this section does not prohibit such an official or employee from representing or acting in a representative capacity for the official's or employee's new department, division, agency, office, or unit on any matter in which the public official or employee personally participated as a public official or employee at the official's or employee's former department, division, agency, office, or unit of the same political subdivision. As used in this division, "political subdivision" means a county, township, municipal corporation, or any other body corporate and politic that is responsible for government activities in a geographic area smaller than that of the state.
- (10) No present or former Ohio casino control commission official shall, during public service or for two years thereafter, represent a client, be employed or compensated by a person regulated by the commission, or act in a representative capacity for any person on any matter before or concerning the commission.

No present or former commission employee shall, during public employment or for two years thereafter, represent a client or act in a representative capacity on any matter in which the employee personally participated as a commission employee through decision, approval, disapproval, recommendation, the rendering of advice, investigation, or other substantial exercise of administrative discretion.

- (B) No present or former public official or employee shall disclose or use, without appropriate authorization, any information acquired by the public official or employee in the course of the public official's or employee's official duties that is confidential because of statutory provisions, or that has been clearly designated to the public official or employee as confidential when that confidential designation is warranted because of the status of the proceedings or the circumstances under which the information was received and preserving its confidentiality is necessary to the proper conduct of government business.
- (C) No public official or employee shall participate within the scope of duties as a public official or employee, except through ministerial functions as defined in division (A) of this section, in any license or rate-making proceeding that directly affects the license or rates of any person, partnership, trust, business trust, corporation, or association in which the public official or employee or immediate family owns or controls more than five per cent. No public official or employee shall participate within the scope of duties as a public official or employee, except through ministerial functions as defined in division (A) of this section, in any license or ratemaking proceeding that directly affects the license or rates of any person to whom the public

official or employee or immediate family, or a partnership, trust, business trust, corporation, or association of which the public official or employee or the public official's or employee's immediate family owns or controls more than five per cent, has sold goods or services totaling more than one thousand dollars during the preceding year, unless the public official or employee has filed a written statement acknowledging that sale with the clerk or secretary of the public agency and the statement is entered in any public record of the agency's proceedings. This division shall not be construed to require the disclosure of clients of attorneys or persons licensed under section <u>4732.12</u> of the Revised Code, or patients of persons licensed under section <u>4731.14</u> of the Revised Code.

- (D) No public official or employee shall use or authorize the use of the authority or influence of office or employment to secure anything of value or the promise or offer of anything of value that is of such a character as to manifest a substantial and improper influence upon the public official or employee with respect to that person's duties.
- (E) No public official or employee shall solicit or accept anything of value that is of such a character as to manifest a substantial and improper influence upon the public official or employee with respect to that person's duties.
- (F) No person shall promise or give to a public official or employee anything of value that is of such a character as to manifest a substantial and improper influence upon the public official or employee with respect to that person's duties.
- (G) In the absence of bribery or another offense under the Revised Code or a purpose to defraud, contributions made to a campaign committee, political party, legislative campaign fund, political action committee, or political contributing entity on behalf of an elected public officer or other public official or employee who seeks elective office shall be considered to accrue ordinarily to the public official or employee for the purposes of divisions (D), (E), and (F) of this section.

As used in this division, "contributions," "campaign committee," "political party," "legislative campaign fund," "political action committee," and "political contributing entity" have the same meanings as in section 3517.01 of the Revised Code.

- (H)(1) No public official or employee, except for the president or other chief administrative officer of or a member of a board of trustees of a state institution of higher education as defined in section 3345.011 of the Revised Code, who is required to file a financial disclosure statement under section 102.02 of the Revised Code shall solicit or accept, and no person shall give to that public official or employee, an honorarium. Except as provided in division (H)(2) of this section, this division and divisions (D), (E), and (F) of this section do not prohibit a public official or employee who is required to file a financial disclosure statement under section 102.02 of the Revised Code from accepting and do not prohibit a person from giving to that public official or employee the payment of actual travel expenses, including any expenses incurred in connection with the travel for lodging, and meals, food, and beverages provided to the public official or employee at a meeting at which the public official or employee participates in a panel, seminar, or speaking engagement or provided to the public official or employee at a meeting or convention of a national organization to which any state agency, including, but not limited to, any state legislative agency or state institution of higher education as defined in section 3345.011 of the Revised Code, pays membership dues. Except as provided in division
- (H)(2) of this section, this division and divisions (D), (E), and (F) of this section do not prohibit a public official or employee who is not required to file a financial disclosure statement under section 102.02 of the Revised Code from accepting and do not prohibit a person from promising or giving to that public official or employee an honorarium or the payment of travel, meal, and lodging expenses if the honorarium, expenses, or both were paid in recognition of demonstrable business, professional, or esthetic interests of the public official or employee that exist apart from public office or employment, including, but not limited to, such a demonstrable interest in

public speaking and were not paid by any person or other entity, or by any representative or association of those persons or entities, that is regulated by, doing business with, or seeking to do business with the department, division, institution, board, commission, authority, bureau, or other instrumentality of the governmental entity with which the public official or employee serves.

- (2) No person who is a member of the board of a state retirement system, a state retirement system investment officer, or an employee of a state retirement system whose position involves substantial and material exercise of discretion in the investment of retirement system funds shall solicit or accept, and no person shall give to that board member, officer, or employee, payment of actual travel expenses, including expenses incurred with the travel for lodging, meals, food, and beverages.
- (I) A public official or employee may accept travel, meals, and lodging or expenses or reimbursement of expenses for travel, meals, and lodging in connection with conferences, seminars, and similar events related to official duties if the travel, meals, and lodging, expenses, or reimbursement is not of such a character as to manifest a substantial and improper influence upon the public official or employee with respect to that person's duties. The house of representatives and senate, in their code of ethics, and the Ohio ethics commission, under section 111.15 of the Revised Code, may adopt rules setting standards and conditions for the furnishing and acceptance of such travel, meals, and lodging, expenses, or reimbursement.

A person who acts in compliance with this division and any applicable rules adopted under it, or any applicable, similar rules adopted by the supreme court governing judicial officers and employees, does not violate division (D), (E), or (F) of this section. This division does not preclude any person from seeking an advisory opinion from the appropriate ethics commission under section 102.08 of the Revised Code.

- (J) For purposes of divisions (D), (E), and (F) of this section, the membership of a public official or employee in an organization shall not be considered, in and of itself, to be of such a character as to manifest a substantial and improper influence on the public official or employee with respect to that person's duties. As used in this division, "organization" means a church or a religious, benevolent, fraternal, or professional organization that is tax exempt under subsection 501(a) and described in subsection 501(c)(3), (4), (8), (10), or (19) of the "Internal Revenue Code of 1986." This division does not apply to a public official or employee who is an employee of an organization, serves as a trustee, director, or officer of an organization, or otherwise holds a fiduciary relationship with an organization. This division does not allow a public official or employee who is a member of an organization to participate, formally or informally, in deliberations, discussions, or voting on a matter or to use the public official's or employee's official position with regard to the interests of the organization on the matter if the public official or employee has assumed a particular responsibility in the organization with respect to the matter or if the matter would affect that person's personal, pecuniary interests.
- (K) It is not a violation of this section for a prosecuting attorney to appoint assistants and employees in accordance with division (B) of section 309.06 and section 2921.421 of the Revised Code, for a chief legal officer of a municipal corporation or an official designated as prosecutor in a municipal corporation to appoint assistants and employees in accordance with sections 733.621 and 2921.421 of the Revised Code, for a township law director appointed under section 504.15 of the Revised Code to appoint assistants and employees in accordance with sections 504.151 and 2921.421 of the Revised Code, or for a coroner to appoint assistants and employees in accordance with division (B) of section 313.05 of the Revised Code. As used in this division, "chief legal officer" has the same meaning as in section 733.621 of the Revised Code.
- (L) No present public official or employee with a casino gaming regulatory function shall indirectly invest, by way of an entity the public official or employee has an ownership interest or control in, or directly invest in a casino operator, management company, holding company,

casino facility, or gaming-related vendor. No present public official or employee with a casino gaming regulatory function shall directly or indirectly have a financial interest in, have an ownership interest in, be the creditor or hold a debt instrument issued by, or have an interest in a contractual or service relationship with a casino operator, management company, holding company, casino facility, or gaming-related vendor. This section does not prohibit or limit permitted passive investing by the public official or employee.

As used in this division, "passive investing" means investment by the public official or employee by means of a mutual fund in which the public official or employee has no control of the investments or investment decisions. "Casino operator," "holding company," "management company," "casino facility," and "gaming-related vendor" have the same meanings as in section 3772.01 of the Revised Code.

- (M) A member of the Ohio casino control commission, the executive director of the commission, or an employee of the commission shall not:
- (1) Accept anything of value, including but not limited to a gift, gratuity, emolument, or employment from a casino operator, management company, or other person subject to the jurisdiction of the commission, or from an officer, attorney, agent, or employee of a casino operator, management company, or other person subject to the jurisdiction of the commission;
- (2) Solicit, suggest, request, or recommend, directly or indirectly, to a casino operator, management company, or other person subject to the jurisdiction of the commission, or to an officer, attorney, agent, or employee of a casino operator, management company, or other person subject to the jurisdiction of the commission, the appointment of a person to an office, place, position, or employment;
- (3) Participate in casino gaming or any other amusement or activity at a casino facility in this state or at an affiliate gaming facility of a licensed casino operator, wherever located.

Amended by 134th General Assembly, Senate Bill 288, eff. 4/4/2023.

102.031 Conflicts of interest of member of general assembly.

- (A) As used in this section:
- (1) "Business associate" means a person with whom a member of the general assembly is conducting or undertaking a financial transaction.
- (2) "Contribution" has the same meaning as in section 3517.01 of the Revised Code.
- (3) "Employee" does not include a member of the general assembly whose nonlegislative position of employment does not involve the performance of or the authority to perform administrative or supervisory functions; or whose nonlegislative position of employment, if the member is a public employee, does not involve a substantial and material exercise of administrative discretion in the formulation of public policy, expenditure of public funds, enforcement of laws and rules of the state or a county or city, or execution of other public trusts.
- (B) No member of the general assembly shall vote on any legislation that the member knows is then being actively advocated if the member is one of the following with respect to a legislative agent or employer that is then actively advocating on that legislation:
- (1) An employee;
- (2) A business associate;

- (3) A person, other than an employee, who is hired under contract to perform certain services, and that position involves a substantial and material exercise of administrative discretion in the formulation of public policy.
- (C) No member of the general assembly shall knowingly accept any of the following from a legislative agent or a person required to file a statement described in division (A)(2) of section 102.021 of the Revised Code:
- (1) The payment of any expenses for travel or lodging except as otherwise authorized by division (H) of section 102.03 of the Revised Code;
- (2) More than seventy-five dollars aggregated per calendar year as payment for meals and other food and beverages, other than for those meals and other food and beverages provided to the member at a meeting at which the member participates in a panel, seminar, or speaking engagement, at a meeting or convention of a national organization to which any state agency, including, but not limited to, any legislative agency or state institution of higher education as defined in section 3345.011 of the Revised Code, pays membership dues, or at a dinner, party, or function to which all members of the general assembly or all members of either house of the general assembly are invited;
- (3) A gift of any amount in the form of cash or the equivalent of cash, or a gift of any other thing of value whose value exceeds seventy-five dollars. As used in division (C)(3) of this section, "gift" does not include any contribution or any gifts of meals and other food and beverages or the payment of expenses incurred for travel to destinations either inside or outside this state that is received by a member of the general assembly and that is incurred in connection with the member's official duties.
- (D) It is not a violation of division (C)(2) of this section if, within sixty days after receiving notice from a legislative agent that the legislative agent has provided a member of the general assembly with more than seventy-five dollars aggregated in a calendar year as payment for meals and other food and beverages, the member of the general assembly returns to that legislative agent the amount received that exceeds seventy-five dollars.
- (E) The joint legislative ethics committee may impose a fine of not more than one thousand dollars upon a member of the general assembly who violates division (B) of this section.

Amended by 125th General Assembly, HB181, eff. 5/18/2005

102.04 No compensation to elected or appointed state official other than from agency served.

- (A) Except as provided in division (D) of this section, no person elected or appointed to an office of or employed by the general assembly or any department, division, institution, instrumentality, board, commission, or bureau of the state, excluding the courts, shall receive or agree to receive directly or indirectly compensation other than from the agency with which he serves for any service rendered or to be rendered by him personally in any case, proceeding, application, or other matter that is before the general assembly or any department, division, institution, instrumentality, board, commission, or bureau of the state, excluding the courts.
- (B) Except as provided in division (D) of this section, no person elected or appointed to an office of or employed by the general assembly or any department, division, institution, instrumentality, board, commission, or bureau of the state, excluding the courts, shall sell or agree to sell, except through competitive bidding, any goods or services to the general assembly or any department, division, institution, instrumentality, board, commission, or bureau of the state, excluding the courts.

- (C) Except as provided in division (D) of this section, no person who is elected or appointed to an office of or employed by a county, township, municipal corporation, or any other governmental entity, excluding the courts, shall receive or agree to receive directly or indirectly compensation other than from the agency with which he serves for any service rendered or to be rendered by him personally in any case, proceeding, application, or other matter which is before any agency, department, board, bureau, commission, or other instrumentality, excluding the courts, of the entity of which he is an officer or employee.
- (D) A public official who is appointed to a nonelective office or a public employee shall be exempted from division (A), (B), or (C) of this section if both of the following apply:
- (1) The agency to which the official or employee wants to sell the goods or services, or before which the matter that involves the rendering of his services is pending, is an agency other than the one with which he serves;
- (2) Prior to rendering the personal services or selling or agreeing to sell the goods or services, he files a statement with the appropriate ethics commission, with the public agency with which he serves, and with the public agency before which the matter is pending or that is purchasing or has agreed to purchase goods or services.

The required statement shall contain the official's or employee's name and home address, the name and mailing address of the public agencies with which he serves and before which the matter is pending or that is purchasing or has agreed to purchase goods or services, and a brief description of the pending matter and of the personal services to be rendered or a brief description of the goods or services to be purchased. The statement shall also contain the public official's or employee's declaration that he disqualifies himself for a period of two years from any participation as such public official or employee in any matter involving any public official or employee of the agency before which the present matter is pending or to which goods or services are to be sold. The two-year period shall run from the date of the most recently filed statement regarding the agency before which the matter was pending or to which the goods or services were to be sold. No person shall be required to file statements under this division with the same public agency regarding a particular matter more than once in a calendar year.

- (E) No public official or employee who files a statement or is required to file a statement under division (D) of this section shall knowingly fail to disqualify himself from any participation as a public official or employee of the agency with which he serves in any matter involving any official or employee of an agency before which a matter for which he rendered personal services was pending or of a public agency that purchased or agreed to purchase goods or services.
- (F) This section shall not be construed to prohibit the performance of ministerial functions including, but not limited to, the filing, or amendment of tax returns, applications for permits and licenses, incorporation papers, and other documents.

Amended by 113th General Assembly, Senate Bill 425, eff. 10/20/1980

102.05 Ohio ethics commission created.

There is hereby created the Ohio ethics commission consisting of six members, three of whom shall be members of each of the two major political parties, to be appointed by the governor with the advice and consent of the senate. Within thirty days of the effective date of this section, the governor shall make initial appointments to the commission. Of the initial appointments made to the commission, one shall be for a term ending one year after the effective date of this section, and the other appointments shall be for terms ending two, three, four, five, and six years, respectively, after the effective date of this section. Thereafter, terms of office shall be for six years, each term ending on the same day of the same month of the year as did the term that it succeeds. Each member shall hold office from the date of his appointment until the end of the term

for which he was appointed. Any member appointed to fill a vacancy occurring prior to the expiration of the term for which his predecessor was appointed shall hold office for the remainder of that term.

No person shall be appointed to the commission or shall continue to serve as a member of the commission if the person is subject to section 102.02 of the Revised Code other than by reason of his appointment to the commission or if the person is a legislative agent registered under sections 101.70 to 101.79 of the Revised Code or an executive agency lobbyist registered under sections 121.60 to 121.69 of the Revised Code. Each member shall be paid seventy-five dollars for each meeting held in the discharge of his official duties, except that no member shall be paid more than eighteen hundred dollars in any fiscal year. Each member shall be reimbursed for expenses actually and necessarily incurred in the performance of his official duties.

The commission shall meet within two weeks after all members have been appointed, at a time and place determined by the governor. At its first meeting, the commission shall elect a chairman and other officers that are necessary and shall adopt rules for its procedures. After the first meeting, the commission shall meet at the call of the chairman or upon the written request of a majority of the members. A majority of the members of the commission constitutes a quorum. The commission shall not take any action without the concurrence of a majority of the members of the commission.

The commission may appoint and fix the compensation of an executive director and other technical, professional, and clerical employees that are necessary to carry out the duties of the commission.

The commission may appoint hearing examiners to conduct hearings pursuant to section 102.06 of the Revised Code. The hearing examiners have the same powers and authority in conducting the hearings as is granted to the commission. Within thirty days after the hearing, the hearing examiner shall submit to the commission a written report of his findings of fact and conclusions of law and a recommendation of the action to be taken by the commission. The recommendation of the hearing examiner may be approved, modified, or disapproved by the commission, and no recommendation shall become the findings of the commission until so ordered by the commission. The findings of the commission shall have the same effect as if the hearing had been conducted by the commission. Hearing examiners appointed pursuant to this section shall possess the qualifications the commission requires. Nothing contained in this section shall preclude the commission from appointing a member of the commission to serve as a hearing examiner.

Amended by 120th General Assembly, HB285, eff. 3/2/1994

102.06 Powers and duties of ethics commission.

(A) The appropriate ethics commission shall receive and may initiate complaints against persons subject to this chapter concerning conduct alleged to be in violation of this chapter or section 2921.42 or 2921.43 of the Revised Code. All complaints except those by the commission shall be by affidavit made on personal knowledge, subject to the penalties of perjury. Complaints by the commission shall be by affidavit, based upon reasonable cause to believe that a violation has occurred.

(B) The appropriate ethics commission shall investigate complaints, may investigate charges presented to it, and may request further information, including the specific amount of income from a source, from any person filing with the commission a statement required by section 102.02 or 102.021 of the Revised Code, if the information sought is directly relevant to a complaint or charges received by the commission pursuant to this section. This information is confidential, except that the commission, in its discretion, may share information gathered in the course of any investigation with, or disclose the information to, the inspector general, any appropriate prosecuting authority, any law enforcement agency, or any other appropriate ethics commission. If the accused person is a member of the public employees retirement board, state teachers retirement board, school employees retirement board of trustees of the Ohio police and fire pension fund, or state highway patrol retirement board, or is a member of the bureau of workers' compensation board of directors, the appropriate ethics commission, in its discretion, also may share information gathered

in the course of an investigation with, or disclose the information to, the attorney general and the auditor of state. The person so requested shall furnish the information to the commission, unless within fifteen days from the date of the request the person files an action for declaratory judgment challenging the legitimacy of the request in the court of common pleas of the county of the person's residence, the person's place of employment, or Franklin county. The requested information need not be furnished to the commission during the pendency of the judicial proceedings. Proceedings of the commission in connection with the declaratory judgment action shall be kept confidential except as otherwise provided by this section. Before the commission proceeds to take any formal action against a person who is the subject of an investigation based on charges presented to the commission, a complaint shall be filed against the person. If the commission finds that a complaint is not frivolous, and there is reasonable cause to believe that the facts alleged in a complaint constitute a violation of section 102.02, 102.021, 102.03, 102.04, 102.07, 2921.42, or 2921.43 of the Revised Code, it shall hold a hearing. If the commission does not so find, it shall dismiss the complaint and notify the accused person in writing of the dismissal of the complaint. The commission shall not make a report of its finding unless the accused person requests a report. Upon the request of the accused person, the commission shall make a public report of its finding. The person against whom the complaint is directed shall be given reasonable notice by certified mail of the date, time, and place of the hearing and a statement of the charges and the law directly involved and shall be given the opportunity to be represented by counsel, to have counsel appointed for the person if the person is unable to afford counsel without undue hardship, to examine the evidence against the person, to produce evidence and to call and subpoena witnesses in the person's defense, to confront the person's accusers, and to cross-examine witnesses. The commission shall have a stenographic record made of the hearing. The hearing shall be closed to the public.

- (C) (1) (a) If, upon the basis of the hearing, the appropriate ethics commission finds by a preponderance of the evidence that the facts alleged in the complaint are true and constitute a violation of section 102.02, 102.021, 102.03, 102.04, 102.07, 2921.42, or 2921.43 of the Revised Code, it shall report its findings to the appropriate prosecuting authority for proceedings in prosecution of the violation and to the appointing or employing authority of the accused. If the accused person is a member of the public employees retirement board, state teachers retirement board, school employees retirement board, board of trustees of the Ohio police and fire pension fund, or state highway patrol retirement board, the commission also shall report its findings to the Ohio retirement study council.
- (b) If the Ohio ethics commission reports its findings to the appropriate prosecuting authority under division (C)(1)(a) of this section and the prosecuting authority has not initiated any official action on those findings within ninety days after receiving the commission's report of them, the commission may publicly comment that no official action has been taken on its findings, except that the commission shall make no comment in violation of the Rules of Criminal Procedure or about any indictment that has been sealed pursuant to any law or those rules. The commission shall make no comment regarding the merits of its findings. As used in division (C)(1)(b) of this section, "official action" means prosecution, closure after investigation, or grand jury action resulting in a true bill of indictment or no true bill of indictment.
- (2) If the appropriate ethics commission does not find by a preponderance of the evidence that the facts alleged in the complaint are true and constitute a violation of section 102.02, 102.021, 102.03, 102.04, 102.07, 2921.42, or 2921.43 of the Revised Code or if the commission has not scheduled a hearing within ninety days after the complaint is filed or has not finally disposed of the complaint within six months after it has been heard, it shall dismiss the complaint and notify the accused person in writing of the dismissal of the complaint. The commission shall not make a report of its finding unless the accused person requests a report. Upon the request of the accused person, the commission shall make a public report of the finding, but in this case all evidence and the record of the hearing shall remain confidential unless the accused person also requests that the evidence and record be made public. Upon request by the accused person, the commission shall make the evidence and the record available for public inspection.

- (D) The appropriate ethics commission, or a member of the commission, may administer oaths, and the commission may issue subpoenas to any person in the state compelling the attendance of witnesses and the production of relevant papers, books, accounts, and records. The commission shall issue subpoenas to compel the attendance of witnesses and the production of documents upon the request of an accused person. Section 101.42 of the Revised Code shall govern the issuance of these subpoenas insofar as applicable. Upon the refusal of any person to obey a subpoena or to be sworn or to answer as a witness, the commission may apply to the court of common pleas of Franklin county under section 2705.03 of the Revised Code. The court shall hold proceedings in accordance with Chapter 2705. of the Revised Code. The commission or the accused person may take the depositions of witnesses residing within or without the state in the same manner as prescribed by law for the taking of depositions in civil actions in the court of common pleas.
- (E) At least once each year, the Ohio ethics commission shall report on its activities of the immediately preceding year to the majority and minority leaders of the senate and house of representatives of the general assembly. The report shall indicate the total number of complaints received, initiated, and investigated by the commission, the total number of complaints for which formal hearings were held, and the total number of complaints for which formal prosecution was recommended or requested by the commission. The report also shall indicate the nature of the inappropriate conduct alleged in each complaint and the governmental entity with which any employee or official that is the subject of a complaint was employed at the time of the alleged inappropriate conduct.
- (F) All papers, records, affidavits, and documents upon any complaint, inquiry, or investigation relating to the proceedings of the appropriate ethics commission shall be sealed and are private and confidential, except as otherwise provided in this section and section 102.07 of the Revised Code.
- (G) (1) When a complaint or charge is before it, the Ohio ethics commission or the appropriate prosecuting authority, in consultation with the person filing the complaint or charge, the accused, and any other person the commission or prosecuting authority considers necessary, may compromise or settle the complaint or charge with the agreement of the accused. The compromise or settlement may include mediation, restitution, rescission of affected contracts, forfeiture of any benefits resulting from a violation or potential violation of law, resignation of a public official or employee, or any other relief that is agreed upon between the commission or prosecuting authority and the accused.
- (2) Any settlement agreement entered into under division (G)(1) of this section shall be in writing and be accompanied by a statement of the findings of the commission or prosecuting authority and the reasons for entering into the agreement. The commission or prosecuting authority shall retain the agreement and statement in the commission's or prosecuting authority's office and, in the commission's or prosecuting authority's discretion, may make the agreement, the statement, and any supporting information public, unless the agreement provides otherwise.
- (3) If a settlement agreement is breached by the accused, the commission or prosecuting authority, in the commission's or prosecuting authority's discretion, may rescind the agreement and reinstitute any investigation, hearing, or prosecution of the accused. No information obtained from the accused in reaching the settlement that is not otherwise discoverable from the accused shall be used in any proceeding before the commission or by the appropriate prosecuting authority in prosecuting the violation. Notwithstanding any other section of the Revised Code, if a settlement agreement is breached, any statute of limitations for a violation of this chapter or section 2921.42 or 2921.43 of the Revised Code is tolled from the date the complaint or charge is filed until the date the settlement agreement is breached.

Amended by 127th General Assembly, HB100, eff. 9/10/2007

102.07 No divulging of information in disclosure statements.

No member, employee, or agent of the Ohio ethics commission, board of commissioners on grievances and discipline of the supreme court, or joint legislative ethics committee shall divulge

any information or any books, papers, or documents presented to the commission, joint legislative ethics committee, or board of commissioners on grievances and discipline without the consent, in writing, of the appropriate ethics commission, unless such books, papers, or documents were presented at a public hearing, except as provided in section <u>102.06</u> of the Revised Code.

No person shall divulge information that appears on a disclosure statement and is required to be kept confidential under division (B) of section <u>102.02</u> of the Revised Code.

Amended by 120th General Assembly, HB285, HB492, eff. 5/12/1994

102.08 Recommending legislation - advisory opinions.

- (A) The Ohio ethics commission, the board of commissioners on grievances and discipline of the supreme court, and the joint legislative ethics committee may recommend legislation relating to ethics, conflicts of interest, and financial disclosure, and render advisory opinions with regard to questions concerning these matters for persons for whom it is the appropriate ethics commission.
- (B) When the Ohio ethics commission or the board of commissioners on grievances and discipline of the supreme court renders an advisory opinion relating to a special set of circumstances involving ethics, conflict of interest, or financial disclosure under Chapter 102., section 2921.42, or section 2921.43 of the Revised Code, the person to whom the opinion was directed or who was similarly situated may reasonably rely upon such opinion and shall be immune from criminal prosecutions, civil suits, or actions for removal from his office or position of employment for a violation of Chapter 102., section 2921.42, or section 2921.43 of the Revised Code based on facts and circumstances covered by the opinion, if the opinion states there is no violation of Chapter 102., section 2921.42, or section 2921.43 of the Revised Code.
- (C) When the joint legislative ethics committee renders an advisory opinion that has been publicly sought and that relates to a special set of circumstances involving ethics, conflicts of interest, or financial disclosure under Chapter 102. or section 2921.42 or 2921.43 of the Revised Code, the person to whom the opinion was directed or who was similarly situated may reasonably rely upon such opinion and shall be immune from criminal prosecutions, civil suits, or actions for removal from his office or position of employment for a violation of Chapter 102. or section 2921.42 or 2921.43 of the Revised Code based on the facts and circumstances covered by the opinion, if the opinion states that there is no violation of Chapter 102. or section 2921.42 or 2921.43 of the Revised Code. When the joint legislative ethics committee renders an advisory opinion that has been publicly sought, the advisory opinion is a public record available under section 149.43 of the Revised Code.
- (D) When the joint legislative ethics committee renders a written opinion that has been privately sought and that relates to a special set of circumstances involving ethics, conflicts of interest, or financial disclosure under Chapter 102. or section 2921.42 or 2921.43 of the Revised Code, the written opinion does not have the legal effect of an advisory opinion issued under division (C) of this section. When the joint legislative ethics committee renders a written opinion that has been privately sought, the written opinion is not a public record available under section 149.43 of the Revised Code. The proceedings of the legislative ethics committee relating to a written opinion that has been privately sought shall be closed to the public and records relating to these proceedings are not public records available under section 149.43 of the Revised Code.

The person to whom a written opinion is issued under this division may request the committee to issue the written opinion as an advisory opinion. Upon receiving such a request and with the approval of a majority of the members of the committee, the committee may issue the written opinion as an advisory opinion. If the committee issues the written opinion as an advisory opinion, the advisory opinion has the same legal effect as an advisory opinion issued under division (C) of this section and is a public record available under section 149.43 of the Revised Code.

- (E) The joint legislative ethics committee shall issue an advisory opinion under division (C) of this section or a written opinion under division (D) of this section, whether it is publicly or privately sought, only at a meeting of the committee and only with the approval of a majority of the members of the committee.
- (F) The appropriate ethics commission shall provide a continuing program of education and information concerning the provisions of Chapter 102. and sections <u>2921.42</u> and <u>2921.43</u> of the Revised Code and other provisions of law pertaining to ethics, conflicts of interest, and financial disclosure.

Amended by 120th General Assembly, HB285, HB492, eff. 5/12/1994

102.09 Furnishing financial disclosure form to candidates.

- (A) The secretary of state and the county board of elections shall furnish, to each candidate for elective office who is required to file a financial disclosure statement by section 102.02 of the Revised Code, a financial disclosure form, and shall notify the appropriate ethics commission, within fifteen days of the name of the candidate, and of the subsequent withdrawal, disqualification, or death of the candidate. The candidate shall acknowledge receipt of the financial disclosure form in writing.
- (B) The secretary of state and the county board of elections shall furnish to each person who is appointed to fill a vacancy for an unexpired term in an elective office, and who is required to file a financial disclosure statement by section 102.02 of the Revised Code, a financial disclosure form, and shall notify the appropriate ethics commission within fifteen days of being notified by the appointing authority, of the name and position of the public official and the date of appointment. The person shall acknowledge receipt of the financial disclosure form in writing.
- (C) The public agency or appointing authority that employs, appoints, or promotes any public official or employee who, as a result of such employment, appointment, or promotion, is required to file a financial disclosure statement by section 102.02 of the Revised Code, shall, within fifteen days of the employment, appointment, or promotion, furnish the public official or employee with a financial disclosure form, and shall notify the appropriate ethics commission of the name and position of the public official or employee and the date of employment, appointment, or promotion. The public official or employee shall acknowledge receipt of the financial disclosure form in writing.
- (D) Within fifteen days after any public official or employee begins the performance of official duties, the public agency with which the official or employee serves or the appointing authority shall furnish the official or employee a copy of Chapter 102. and section <u>2921.42</u> of the Revised Code, and may furnish such other materials as the appropriate ethics commission prepares for distribution. The official or employee shall acknowledge their receipt in writing. The requirements of this division do not apply at the time of reappointment or reelection.

Amended by 122nd General Assembly, HB 649, eff. 3/9/1999

102.99 Penalty.

- (A) Whoever violates division (C) of section $\underline{102.02}$ or division (C) of section $\underline{102.031}$ of the Revised Code is guilty of a misdemeanor of the fourth degree.
- (B) Whoever violates division (D) of section $\underline{102.02}$ or section $\underline{102.021}$, $\underline{102.03}$, $\underline{102.04}$, or $\underline{102.07}$ of the Revised Code is guilty of a misdemeanor of the first degree.
- (C) In addition to the penalty provided in division (B) of this section, whoever violates division (M)(1), (2), or (3) of section $\underline{102.03}$ of the Revised Code forfeits the individual's office or employment.

- (D) In addition to the penalty provided in division (B) of this section, any person who violates division (F) of section 102.03 of the Revised Code is subject to the following:
- (1) The court may prohibit the person from participating in a public contract with any public agency in this state for a period of two years if recommended by the agency by whom the offending public official or employee was employed.
- (2) The court may order the person to pay an additional fine equal to the amount of any thing of value given in violation of division (F) of section 102.03 of the Revised Code.
- (E) Upon application of the Ohio ethics commission, the court shall order a person who is convicted of a violation of section 102.021, 102.03, or 102.04 of the Revised Code to pay the costs incurred to investigate and prosecute the case. The amount ordered under this division shall not exceed the amount a person unlawfully secured, solicited, or accepted; the amount a person received as improper compensation, as an unlawful honorarium, or from the unlawful sale of goods or services; or the amount otherwise applicable under section 102.021, 102.03, or 102.04 of the Revised Code. These costs are in addition to any other cost or penalty provided in the Revised Code or any other provision of law.

Amended by 134th General Assembly, Senate Bill 288, eff. 4/4/2023

Chapter 121: STATE DEPARTMENTS/PUBLIC MEETINGS

121.22 Public meetings - exceptions. Effective 3 April 2025

- (A) This section shall be liberally construed to require public officials to take official action and to conduct all deliberations upon official business only in open meetings unless the subject matter is specifically excepted by law.
- (B) As used in this section:
- (1) "Public body" means any of the following:
- (a) Any board, commission, committee, council, or similar decision-making body of a state agency, institution, or authority, and any legislative authority or board, commission, committee, council, agency, authority, or similar decision-making body of any county, township, municipal corporation, school district, or other political subdivision or local public institution;
- (b) Any committee or subcommittee of a body described in division (B)(1)(a) of this section;
- (c) A court of jurisdiction of a sanitary district organized wholly for the purpose of providing a water supply for domestic, municipal, and public use when meeting for the purpose of the appointment, removal, or reappointment of a member of the board of directors of such a district pursuant to section 6115.10 of the Revised Code, if applicable, or for any other matter related to such a district other than litigation involving the district. As used in division (B)(1)(c) of this section, "court of jurisdiction" has the same meaning as "court" in section 6115.01 of the Revised Code.
- (2) "Meeting" means any prearranged discussion of the public business of the public body by a majority of its members.
- (3) "Regulated individual" means either of the following:
- (a) A student in a state or local public educational institution;

- (b) A person who is, voluntarily or involuntarily, an inmate, patient, or resident of a state or local institution because of criminal behavior, mental illness, an intellectual disability, disease, disability, age, or other condition requiring custodial care.
- (4) "Public office" has the same meaning as in section 149.011 of the Revised Code.
- (C) All meetings of any public body are declared to be public meetings open to the public at all times. A member of a public body shall be present in person at a meeting open to the public to be considered present or to vote at the meeting and for purposes of determining whether a quorum is present at the meeting.

The minutes of a regular or special meeting of any public body shall be promptly prepared, filed, and maintained and shall be open to public inspection. The minutes need only reflect the general subject matter of discussions in executive sessions authorized under division (G) or (J) of this section.

- (D) This section does not apply to any of the following:
- (1) A grand jury;
- (2) An audit conference conducted by the auditor of state or independent certified public accountants with officials of the public office that is the subject of the audit;
- (3) The adult parole authority when its hearings are conducted at a correctional institution for the sole purpose of interviewing inmates to determine parole or pardon and the department of rehabilitation and correction when its hearings are conducted at a correctional institution for the sole purpose of making determinations under section <u>2967.271</u> of the Revised Code regarding the release or maintained incarceration of an offender to whom that section applies;
- (4) The organized crime investigations commission established under section <u>177.01</u> of the Revised Code:
- (5) Meetings of a child fatality review board established under section $\underline{307.621}$ of the Revised Code, meetings related to a review conducted pursuant to guidelines established by the director of health under section $\underline{3701.70}$ of the Revised Code, and meetings conducted pursuant to sections $\underline{5153.171}$ to $\underline{5153.173}$ of the Revised Code;
- (6) The state medical board when determining whether to suspend a license or certificate without a prior hearing pursuant to division (G) of either section <u>4730.25</u> or <u>4731.22</u> of the Revised Code;
- (7) The board of nursing when determining whether to suspend a license or certificate without a prior hearing pursuant to division (B) of section 4723.281 of the Revised Code;
- (8) The state board of pharmacy when determining whether to do either of the following:
- (a) Suspend a license, certification, or registration without a prior hearing, including during meetings conducted by telephone conference, pursuant to Chapters 3719., 3796., 4729., and 4752. of the Revised Code and rules adopted thereunder; or
- (b) Restrict a person from obtaining further information from the drug database established in section $\frac{4729.75}{6}$ of the Revised Code without a prior hearing pursuant to division (C) of section $\frac{4729.86}{6}$ of the Revised Code.
- (9) The state chiropractic board when determining whether to suspend a license without a hearing pursuant to section <u>4734.37</u> of the Revised Code;

- (10) The executive committee of the emergency response commission when determining whether to issue an enforcement order or request that a civil action, civil penalty action, or criminal action be brought to enforce Chapter 3750. of the Revised Code;
- (11) The board of directors of the nonprofit corporation formed under section $\underline{187.01}$ of the Revised Code or any committee thereof, and the board of directors of any subsidiary of that corporation or a committee thereof;
- (12) An audit conference conducted by the audit staff of the department of job and family services with officials of the public office that is the subject of that audit under section <u>5101.37</u> of the Revised Code;
- (13) The occupational therapy section of the occupational therapy, physical therapy, and athletic trainers board when determining whether to suspend a license without a hearing pursuant to division (E) of section 4755.11 of the Revised Code;
- (14) The physical therapy section of the occupational therapy, physical therapy, and athletic trainers board when determining whether to suspend a license without a hearing pursuant to division (F) of section <u>4755.47</u> of the Revised Code;
- (15) The athletic trainers section of the occupational therapy, physical therapy, and athletic trainers board when determining whether to suspend a license without a hearing pursuant to division (E) of section <u>4755.64</u> of the Revised Code;
- (16) Meetings of the pregnancy-associated mortality review board established under section <u>3738.01</u> of the Revised Code;
- (17) Meetings of a fetal-infant mortality review board established under section <u>3707.71</u> of the Revised Code;
- (18) Meetings of a drug overdose fatality review committee described in section <u>307.631</u> of the Revised Code;
- (19) Meetings of a suicide fatality review committee described in section <u>307.641</u> of the Revised Code;
- (20) Meetings of the officers, members, or directors of an existing qualified nonprofit corporation that creates a special improvement district under Chapter 1710. of the Revised Code, at which the public business of the corporation pertaining to a purpose for which the district is created is not discussed;
- (21) Meetings of a domestic violence fatality review board established under section <u>307.651</u> of the Revised Code;
- (22) Any nonprofit agency that has received an endorsement under section <u>122.69</u> of the Revised Code.
- (E) The controlling board, the tax credit authority, or the minority development financing advisory board, when meeting to consider granting assistance pursuant to Chapter 122. or 166. of the Revised Code, in order to protect the interest of the applicant or the possible investment of public funds, by unanimous vote of all board or authority members present, may close the meeting during consideration of the following information confidentially received by the authority or board from the applicant:
- (1) Marketing plans;

- (2) Specific business strategy;
- (3) Production techniques and trade secrets;
- (4) Financial projections;
- (5) Personal financial statements of the applicant or members of the applicant's immediate family, including, but not limited to, tax records or other similar information not open to public inspection.

The vote by the authority or board to accept or reject the application, as well as all proceedings of the authority or board not subject to this division, shall be open to the public and governed by this section.

(F) Every public body, by rule, shall establish a reasonable method whereby any person may determine the time and place of all regularly scheduled meetings and the time, place, and purpose of all special meetings. A public body shall not hold a special meeting unless it gives at least twenty-four hours' advance notice to the news media that have requested notification, except in the event of an emergency requiring immediate official action. In the event of an emergency, the member or members calling the meeting shall notify the news media that have requested notification immediately of the time, place, and purpose of the meeting.

The rule shall provide that any person, upon request and payment of a reasonable fee, may obtain reasonable advance notification of all meetings at which any specific type of public business is to be discussed. Provisions for advance notification may include, but are not limited to, mailing the agenda of meetings to all subscribers on a mailing list or mailing notices in self-addressed, stamped envelopes provided by the person.

- (G) Except as provided in divisions (G)(8) and (J) of this section, the members of a public body may hold an executive session only after a majority of a quorum of the public body determines, by a roll call vote, to hold an executive session and only at a regular or special meeting for the sole purpose of the consideration of any of the following matters:
- (1) To consider the appointment, employment, dismissal, discipline, promotion, demotion, or compensation of a public employee or official, or the investigation of charges or complaints against a public employee, official, licensee, or regulated individual, unless the public employee, official, licensee, or regulated individual requests a public hearing. Except as otherwise provided by law, no public body shall hold an executive session for the discipline of an elected official for conduct related to the performance of the elected official's official duties or for the elected official's removal from office. If a public body holds an executive session pursuant to division (G)(1) of this section, the motion and vote to hold that executive session shall state which one or more of the approved purposes listed in division (G)(1) of this section are the purposes for which the executive session is to be held, but need not include the name of any person to be considered at the meeting.
- (2) To consider the purchase of property for public purposes, the sale of property at competitive bidding, or the sale or other disposition of unneeded, obsolete, or unfit-for-use property in accordance with section 505.10 of the Revised Code, if premature disclosure of information would give an unfair competitive or bargaining advantage to a person whose personal, private interest is adverse to the general public interest. No member of a public body shall use division (G)(2) of this section as a subterfuge for providing covert information to prospective buyers or sellers. A purchase or sale of public property is void if the seller or buyer of the public property has received covert information from a member of a public body that has not been disclosed to the general public in sufficient time for other prospective buyers and sellers to prepare and submit offers.

If the minutes of the public body show that all meetings and deliberations of the public body have been conducted in compliance with this section, any instrument executed by the public body purporting to convey, lease, or otherwise dispose of any right, title, or interest in any public property shall be conclusively presumed to have been executed in compliance with this section insofar as title or other interest of any bona fide purchasers, lessees, or transferees of the property is concerned.

- (3) Conferences with an attorney for the public body concerning disputes involving the public body that are the subject of pending or imminent court action;
- (4) Preparing for, conducting, or reviewing negotiations or bargaining sessions with public employees concerning their compensation or other terms and conditions of their employment;
- (5) Matters required to be kept confidential by federal law or regulations or state statutes;
- (6) Details relative to the security arrangements and emergency response protocols for a public body or a public office, if disclosure of the matters discussed could reasonably be expected to jeopardize the security of the public body or public office;
- (7) In the case of a county hospital operated pursuant to Chapter 339. of the Revised Code, a joint township hospital operated pursuant to Chapter 513. of the Revised Code, or a municipal hospital operated pursuant to Chapter 749. of the Revised Code, to consider trade secrets, as defined in section <u>1333.61</u> of the Revised Code;
- (8) To consider confidential information related to the marketing plans, specific business strategy, production techniques, trade secrets, or personal financial statements of an applicant for economic development assistance, or to negotiations with other political subdivisions respecting requests for economic development assistance, provided that both of the following conditions apply:
- (a) The information is directly related to a request for economic development assistance that is to be provided or administered under any provision of Chapter 715., 725., 1724., or 1728. or sections 701.07, 3735.67 to 3735.70, 5709.40 to 5709.43, 5709.61 to 5709.69, 5709.73 to 5709.77 to 5709.81 of the Revised Code, or that involves public infrastructure improvements or the extension of utility services that are directly related to an economic development project.
- (b) A unanimous quorum of the public body determines, by a roll call vote, that the executive session is necessary to protect the interests of the applicant or the possible investment or expenditure of public funds to be made in connection with the economic development project.

If a public body holds an executive session to consider any of the matters listed in divisions (G)(2) to (8) of this section, the motion and vote to hold that executive session shall state which one or more of the approved matters listed in those divisions are to be considered at the executive session.

A public body specified in division (B)(1)(c) of this section shall not hold an executive session when meeting for the purposes specified in that division.

(H) A resolution, rule, or formal action of any kind is invalid unless adopted in an open meeting of the public body. A resolution, rule, or formal action adopted in an open meeting that results from deliberations in a meeting not open to the public is invalid unless the deliberations were for a purpose specifically authorized in division (G) or (J) of this section and conducted at an executive session held in compliance with this section. A resolution, rule, or formal action adopted in an open meeting is invalid if the public body that adopted the resolution, rule, or formal action violated division (F) of this section.

- (I)(1) Any person may bring an action to enforce this section. An action under division (I)(1) of this section shall be brought within two years after the date of the alleged violation or threatened violation. Upon proof of a violation or threatened violation of this section in an action brought by any person, the court of common pleas shall issue an injunction to compel the members of the public body to comply with its provisions.
- (2)(a) If the court of common pleas issues an injunction pursuant to division (I)(1) of this section, the court shall order the public body that it enjoins to pay a civil forfeiture of five hundred dollars to the party that sought the injunction and shall award to that party all court costs and, subject to reduction as described in division (I)(2) of this section, reasonable attorney's fees. The court, in its discretion, may reduce an award of attorney's fees to the party that sought the injunction or not award attorney's fees to that party if the court determines both of the following:
- (i) That, based on the ordinary application of statutory law and case law as it existed at the time of violation or threatened violation that was the basis of the injunction, a well-informed public body reasonably would believe that the public body was not violating or threatening to violate this section;
- (ii) That a well-informed public body reasonably would believe that the conduct or threatened conduct that was the basis of the injunction would serve the public policy that underlies the authority that is asserted as permitting that conduct or threatened conduct.
- (b) If the court of common pleas does not issue an injunction pursuant to division (I)(1) of this section and the court determines at that time that the bringing of the action was frivolous conduct, as defined in division (A) of section <u>2323.51</u> of the Revised Code, the court shall award to the public body all court costs and reasonable attorney's fees, as determined by the court.
- (3) Irreparable harm and prejudice to the party that sought the injunction shall be conclusively and irrebuttably presumed upon proof of a violation or threatened violation of this section.
- (4) A member of a public body who knowingly violates an injunction issued pursuant to division (I)(1) of this section may be removed from office by an action brought in the court of common pleas for that purpose by the prosecuting attorney or the attorney general.
- (J)(1) Pursuant to division (C) of section $\underline{5901.09}$ of the Revised Code, a veterans service commission shall hold an executive session for one or more of the following purposes unless an applicant requests a public hearing:
- (a) Interviewing an applicant for financial assistance under sections $\underline{5901.01}$ to $\underline{5901.15}$ of the Revised Code;
- (b) Discussing applications, statements, and other documents described in division (B) of section <u>5901.09</u> of the Revised Code;
- (c) Reviewing matters relating to an applicant's request for financial assistance under sections 5901.01 to 5901.15 of the Revised Code.
- (2) A veterans service commission shall not exclude an applicant for, recipient of, or former recipient of financial assistance under sections <u>5901.01</u> to <u>5901.15</u> of the Revised Code, and shall not exclude representatives selected by the applicant, recipient, or former recipient, from a meeting that the commission conducts as an executive session that pertains to the applicant's, recipient's, or former recipient's application for financial assistance.
- (3) A veterans service commission shall vote on the grant or denial of financial assistance under sections $\underline{5901.01}$ to $\underline{5901.15}$ of the Revised Code only in an open meeting of the commission.

The minutes of the meeting shall indicate the name, address, and occupation of the applicant, whether the assistance was granted or denied, the amount of the assistance if assistance is granted, and the votes for and against the granting of assistance.

Amended by 135th General Assembly, HB 315, HB 45, eff. 4/3/2025.

Chapter 124: DEPARTMENT OF ADMINISTRATIVE SERVICES - PERSONNEL

124.57 Prohibition against partisan political activity.

- (A) No officer or employee in the classified service of the state, the several counties, cities, and city school districts of the state, or the civil service townships of the state shall directly or indirectly, orally or by letter, solicit or receive, or be in any manner concerned in soliciting or receiving, any assessment, subscription, or contribution for any political party or for any candidate for public office; nor shall any person solicit directly or indirectly, orally or by letter, or be in any manner concerned in soliciting, any such assessment, contribution, or payment from any officer or employee in the classified service of the state, the several counties, cities, or city school districts of the state, or the civil service townships of the state; nor shall any officer or employee in the classified service of the state, the several counties, cities, and city school districts of the state, or the civil service townships of the state be an officer in any political organization or take part in politics other than to vote as the officer or employee pleases and to express freely political opinions.
- (B) (1) Nothing in division (A) of this section prohibits an officer or employee described in that division from serving as a precinct election official under section 3501.22 of the Revised Code.
- (2) Nothing in division (A) of this section prohibits an employee of OSU extension whose position is transferred from the unclassified civil service to the classified civil service and who also holds the office of president of a city legislative authority from completing the existing term of office as president.

Amended by 130th General Assembly, HB 59, eff. 9/29/2013.

Chapter 2921: CRIMES – PROCEDURE – TITLE 29: OFFENSES AGAINST JUSTICE AND PUBLIC ADMINISTRATION

2921.42 Having an unlawful interest in a public contract.

- (A) No public official shall knowingly do any of the following:
- (1) Authorize, or employ the authority or influence of the public official's office to secure authorization of any public contract in which the public official, a member of the public official's family, or any of the public official's business associates has an interest;
- (2) Authorize, or employ the authority or influence of the public official's office to secure the investment of public funds in any share, bond, mortgage, or other security, with respect to which the public official, a member of the public official's family, or any of the public official's business associates either has an interest, is an underwriter, or receives any brokerage, origination, or servicing fees;
- (3) During the public official's term of office or within one year thereafter, occupy any position of profit in the prosecution of a public contract authorized by the public official or by a legislative

body, commission, or board of which the public official was a member at the time of authorization, unless the contract was let by competitive bidding to the lowest and best bidder;

- (4) Have an interest in the profits or benefits of a public contract entered into by or for the use of the political subdivision or governmental agency or instrumentality with which the public official is connected;
- (5) Have an interest in the profits or benefits of a public contract that is not let by competitive bidding if required by law and that involves more than one hundred fifty dollars.
- (B) In the absence of bribery or a purpose to defraud, a public official, member of a public official's family, or any of a public official's business associates shall not be considered as having an interest in a public contract or the investment of public funds, if all of the following apply:
- (1) The interest of that person is limited to owning or controlling shares of the corporation, or being a creditor of the corporation or other organization, that is the contractor on the public contract involved, or that is the issuer of the security in which public funds are invested;
- (2) The shares owned or controlled by that person do not exceed five per cent of the outstanding shares of the corporation, and the amount due that person as creditor does not exceed five per cent of the total indebtedness of the corporation or other organization;
- (3) That person, prior to the time the public contract is entered into, files with the political subdivision or governmental agency or instrumentality involved, an affidavit giving that person's exact status in connection with the corporation or other organization.
- (C) This section does not apply to a public contract in which a public official, member of a public official's family, or one of a public official's business associates has an interest, when all of the following apply:
- (1) The subject of the public contract is necessary supplies or services for the political subdivision or governmental agency or instrumentality involved:
- (2) The supplies or services are unobtainable elsewhere for the same or lower cost, or are being furnished to the political subdivision or governmental agency or instrumentality as part of a continuing course of dealing established prior to the public official's becoming associated with the political subdivision or governmental agency or instrumentality involved;
- (3) The treatment accorded the political subdivision or governmental agency or instrumentality is either preferential to or the same as that accorded other customers or clients in similar transactions;
- (4) The entire transaction is conducted at arm's length, with full knowledge by the political subdivision or governmental agency or instrumentality involved, of the interest of the public official, member of the public official's family, or business associate, and the public official takes no part in the deliberations or decision of the political subdivision or governmental agency or instrumentality with respect to the public contract.
- (D) Division (A)(4) of this section does not prohibit participation by a public employee in any housing program funded by public moneys if the public employee otherwise qualifies for the program and does not use the authority or influence of the public employee's office or employment to secure benefits from the program and if the moneys are to be used on the primary residence of the public employee. Such participation does not constitute an unlawful interest in a public contract in violation of this section.
- (E) Whoever violates this section is guilty of having an unlawful interest in a public contract. Violation of division (A)(1) or (2) of this section is a felony of the fourth degree. Violation of division (A)(3), (4), or (5) of this section is a misdemeanor of the first degree.
- (F) It is not a violation of this section for a prosecuting attorney to appoint assistants and employees in accordance with sections 309.06 and 2921.421 of the Revised Code, for a chief legal officer of a municipal corporation or an official designated as prosecutor in a municipal corporation

to appoint assistants and employees in accordance with sections $\underline{733.621}$ and $\underline{2921.421}$ of the Revised Code, or for a township law director appointed under section $\underline{504.15}$ of the Revised Code to appoint assistants and employees in accordance with sections $\underline{504.151}$ and $\underline{2921.421}$ of the Revised Code.

- (G) This section does not apply to a public contract in which a township trustee in a township with a population of five thousand or less in its unincorporated area, a member of the township trustee's family, or one of the township trustee's business associates has an interest, if all of the following apply:
- (1) The subject of the public contract is necessary supplies or services for the township and the amount of the contract is less than five thousand dollars per year;
- (2) The supplies or services are being furnished to the township as part of a continuing course of dealing established before the township trustee held that office with the township;
- (3) The treatment accorded the township is either preferential to or the same as that accorded other customers or clients in similar transactions;
- (4) The entire transaction is conducted with full knowledge by the township of the interest of the township trustee, member of the township trustee's family, or the township trustee's business associate.
- (H) Any public contract in which a public official, a member of the public official's family, or any of the public official's business associates has an interest in violation of this section is void and unenforceable. Any contract securing the investment of public funds in which a public official, a member of the public official's family, or any of the public official's business associates has an interest, is an underwriter, or receives any brokerage, origination, or servicing fees and that was entered into in violation of this section is void and unenforceable.
- (I) As used in this section:
- (1) "Public contract" means any of the following:
- (a) The purchase or acquisition, or a contract for the purchase or acquisition, of property or services by or for the use of the state, any of its political subdivisions, or any agency or instrumentality of either, including the employment of an individual by the state, any of its political subdivisions, or any agency or instrumentality of either;
- (b) A contract for the design, construction, alteration, repair, or maintenance of any public property.
- (2) "Chief legal officer" has the same meaning as in section 733.621 of the Revised Code.

Amended by 127th General Assembly, HB 119, eff. 9/29/2007

2921.43 Soliciting or accepting improper compensation.

- (A) No public servant shall knowingly solicit or accept, and no person shall knowingly promise or give to a public servant, either of the following:
- (1) Any compensation, other than as allowed by divisions (G), (H), and (I) of section 102.03 of the Revised Code or other provisions of law, to perform the public servant's official duties, to perform any other act or service in the public servant's public capacity, for the general performance of the duties of the public servant's public office or public employment, or as a supplement to the public servant's public compensation;
- (2) Additional or greater fees or costs than are allowed by law to perform the public servant's official duties.

- (B) No public servant for the public servant's own personal or business use, and no person for the person's own personal or business use or for the personal or business use of a public servant or party official, shall solicit or accept anything of value in consideration of either of the following:
- (1) Appointing or securing, maintaining, or renewing the appointment of any person to any public office, employment, or agency;
- (2) Preferring, or maintaining the status of, any public employee with respect to compensation, duties, placement, location, promotion, or other material aspects of employment.
- (C) No person for the benefit of a political party, campaign committee, legislative campaign fund, political action committee, or political contributing entity shall coerce any contribution in consideration of either of the following:
- (1) Appointing or securing, maintaining, or renewing the appointment of any person to any public office, employment, or agency;
- (2) Preferring, or maintaining the status of, any public employee with respect to compensation, duties, placement, location, promotion, or other material aspects of employment.
- (D) Whoever violates this section is guilty of soliciting improper compensation, a misdemeanor of the first degree.
- (E) A public servant who is convicted of a violation of this section is disqualified from holding any public office, employment, or position of trust in this state for a period of seven years from the date of conviction.
- (F) Divisions (A), (B), and (C) of this section do not prohibit a person from making voluntary contributions to a political party, campaign committee, legislative campaign fund, political action committee, or political contributing entity or prohibit a political party, campaign committee, legislative campaign fund, political action committee, or political contributing entity from accepting voluntary contributions.

Amended by 126th General Assembly, Senate Bill 115, eff. 4/26/2005

Chapter 5705: TAXATION – TITLE 57 – TAX LEVY LAW/BUDGETS

5705.05 Purpose and intent of general levy for current expenses.

The purpose and intent of the general levy for current expenses is to provide one general operating fund derived from taxation from which any expenditures for current expenses of any kind may be made. The taxing authority of a political subdivision may include in such levy the amounts required for carrying into effect any of the general or special powers granted by law to such subdivision, including the acquisition or construction of permanent improvements and the payment of judgments, but excluding the payment of debt charges and, in the case of counties, the construction, reconstruction, resurfacing, or repair of roads and bridges. The power to include in the general levy for current expenses additional amounts for purposes for which a special tax is authorized shall not affect the right or obligation to levy such special tax. Without prejudice to the generality of the authority to levy a general tax for any current expense, such general levy shall include:

- (A) The amounts certified to be necessary for the payment of final judgments;
- (B) The amounts necessary for general, special, and primary elections;
- (C) The amounts necessary for boards and commissioners of health, and other special or district appropriating authorities deriving their revenue in whole or part from the subdivision;

- (D) In the case of municipal corporations, the amounts necessary for the maintenance, operation, and repair of public buildings, wharves, bridges, parks, and streets, for the prevention, control, and abatement of air pollution, and for a sanitary fund;
- (E) In the case of counties, the amounts necessary for the maintenance, operation, and repair of public buildings, for providing or maintaining senior citizens services or facilities, for the relief and support of the poor, for the relief of needy blind, for the support of mental health or developmental disability services, for the relief of honorably discharged soldiers, indigent soldiers, sailors, and marines, for the operation and maintenance and the acquisition, construction, or improvement of permanent improvements, including, without limitation, the acquisition and improvement of land and buildings owned or used by a county land reutilization corporation organized under Chapter 1724. of the Revised Code, for mothers' pension fund, support of soil and water conservation districts, watershed conservancy districts, and educational television, for the prevention, control, and abatement of air pollution, and for the county's share of the compensation paid judges;
- (F) In the case of a school district, the amounts necessary for tuition, the state teachers retirement system, and the maintenance, operation, and repair of schools;
- (G) In the case of a township, the amounts necessary for the relief of the poor and for the prevention, control, and abatement of air pollution.

This section does not require the inclusion within the general levy of amounts for any purpose for which a special levy is authorized by section <u>5705.06</u> of the Revised Code.

Amended by 131st General Assembly, HB 158, eff. 10/12/2016.

5705.38 Annual appropriation measures - classification.

- (A) This division does not apply to school district appropriation measures. On or about the first day of each fiscal year, the taxing authority of each subdivision or other taxing unit shall pass an appropriation measure, and thereafter during the year it may pass any supplemental appropriation measures as it finds necessary, based on the revised tax budget or the official certificate of estimated resources or amendments of the certificate. If it desires to postpone the passage of the annual appropriation measure until an amended certificate is received based on the actual balances, it may pass a temporary appropriation measure for meeting the ordinary expenses of the taxing unit until no later than the first day of April or, in the case of the city of Cincinnati, the first day of October, of the current year, and the appropriations made in the temporary measure shall be chargeable to the appropriations in the annual appropriation measure for that fiscal year when passed.
- (B) A board of education shall pass its annual appropriation measure by the first day of October. If, by the first day of October, a board has not received either the amended certificates of estimated resources required by division (B) of section 5705.36 of the Revised Code or certifications that no amended certificates need be issued, the adoption of the annual appropriation measure shall be delayed until the amended certificates or certifications are received. Prior to the passage of the annual appropriation measure, the board may pass a temporary appropriation measure for meeting the ordinary expenses of the district until it passes an annual appropriation measure, and appropriations made in the temporary measure shall be chargeable to the appropriations in the annual appropriation measure for that fiscal year when passed. During the fiscal year and after the passage of the annual appropriation measure, a district may pass any supplemental appropriation measures as it finds necessary, based on the revised tax budget or the official certificate of estimated resources or amendments of the certificate. School district appropriation measures shall be in the form as the auditor of state, after consultation with the tax commissioner, prescribes.
- (C) Appropriation measures shall be classified so as to set forth separately the amounts appropriated for each office, department, and division, and, within each, the amount appropriated for personal services. In the case of a municipal university, the board of directors of which have

assumed, in the manner provided by law, custody and control of the funds of the university, funds shall be appropriated as a lump sum for the use of the university.

Amended by 129th General Assembly, HB 487, eff. 9/10/2012.

5705.39 Appropriations limited by estimated revenue.

The total appropriations from each fund shall not exceed the total of the estimated revenue available for expenditure therefrom, as certified by the budget commission, or in case of appeal, by the board of tax appeals. No appropriation measure shall become effective until the county auditor files with the appropriating authority a certificate that the total appropriations from each fund, taken together with all other outstanding appropriations, do not exceed such official estimate or amended official estimate. When the appropriation does not exceed such official estimate, the county auditor shall give such certificate forthwith upon receiving from the appropriating authority a certified copy of the appropriation measure. Appropriations shall be made from each fund only for the purposes for which such fund is established.

Amended by 125th General Assembly, HB 95, eff. 9/26/2003

5705.392 County spending plan.

- (A) A board of county commissioners may adopt as a part of its annual appropriation measure a spending plan, or in the case of an amended appropriation measure, an amended spending plan, setting forth a quarterly schedule of expenses and expenditures of all appropriations for the fiscal year from the county general fund. The spending plan shall be classified to set forth separately a quarterly schedule of expenses and expenditures for each office, department, and division, and within each, the amount appropriated for personal services. Each office, department, and division shall be limited in its expenses and expenditures of moneys appropriated from the general fund during any quarter by the schedule established in the spending plan. The schedule established in the spending plan shall serve as a limitation during a quarter on the making of contracts and giving of orders involving the expenditure of money during that quarter for purposes of division (D) of section <u>5705.41</u> of the Revised Code.
- (B) (1) A board of county commissioners, by resolution, may adopt a spending plan or an amended spending plan setting forth separately a quarterly schedule of expenses and expenditures of appropriations from any county fund, except as provided in division (C) of this section, for the second half of a fiscal year and any subsequent fiscal year, for any county office, department, or division that has spent or encumbered more than six-tenths of the amount appropriated for personal services and payrolls during the first half of any fiscal year.
- (2) During any fiscal year, a board of county commissioners, by resolution, may adopt a spending plan or an amended spending plan setting forth separately a quarterly schedule of expenses and expenditures of appropriations from any county fund, except as provided in division (C) of this section, for any county office, department, or division that, during the previous fiscal year, spent one hundred ten per cent or more of the total amount appropriated for personal services and payrolls by the board in its annual appropriation measure required by section $\underline{5705.38}$ of the Revised Code. The spending plan or amended spending plan shall remain in effect for not more than two fiscal years . But if the administrative officer of the office, department, or division for which the plan was adopted is an elected official, the spending plan shall not be in effect during a fiscal year in which that elected official is no longer the administrative officer of that office, department, or division.
- (3) At least thirty days before adopting a resolution under division (B)(1) or (2) of this section, the board of county commissioners shall provide written notice to each county office, department, or division for which it intends to adopt a spending plan or an amended spending plan. The notice shall be sent by regular first class mail or provided by personal service, and shall include a copy of the proposed spending plan or proposed amended spending plan. The county office, department, or division may meet with the board at any regular session of the board to comment on the notice,

or to express concerns or ask questions about the proposed spending plan or proposed amended spending plan.

(C) Division (B) of this section shall not apply to any fund that is subject to rules adopted by the tax commissioner under division (O) of section <u>5703.05</u> of the Revised Code.

Amended by 129th General Assembly, HB 509, eff. 9/28/2012.

5705.40 Amending or supplementing appropriation ordinance - transfer - unencumbered balance - appropriation for contingencies.

Any appropriation ordinance or measure may be amended or supplemented, provided that such amendment or supplement shall comply with all provisions of law governing the taxing authority in making an original appropriation and that no appropriation for any purpose shall be reduced below an amount sufficient to cover all unliquidated and outstanding contracts or obligations certified from or against the appropriation. Transfers may be made by resolution or ordinance from one appropriation item to another, except that a board of county commissioners shall, at the request of the county board of elections, adopt a resolution to transfer funds from one appropriation item of the board of elections to another appropriation item of the board of elections unless the board of county commissioners determines that the transfer is sought for the purpose of providing employee bonuses or salary increases other than increases necessary to reimburse employees for overtime worked. At the close of each fiscal year, the unencumbered balance of each appropriation shall revert to the respective fund from which it was appropriated and shall be subject to future appropriations, provided that funds unexpended at the end of such fiscal year previously appropriated for the payment of obligations unliquidated and outstanding, or previously appropriated pursuant to section 321.261 of the Revised Code for the collection of delinquent taxes, need not be reappropriated, but such unexpended funds shall not be included by any budget-making body or board or any county budget commission in estimating the balance available for the purposes of the next or any succeeding fiscal year.

The annual appropriation measure, or an amendment or supplement thereto, may contain an appropriation for contingencies not to exceed the amount authorized by section <u>5705.29</u> of the Revised Code and in the case of a school district may also include a voluntary contingency reserve balance in the amount authorized by such section. By a two-thirds vote of all members of the taxing authority of a subdivision or taxing unit, expenditures may be authorized in pursuance of such contingency appropriation or voluntary contingency reserve balance for any lawful purpose for which public funds may be expended, if such purpose could not have reasonably been foreseen at the time of the adoption of the appropriation measure or, in the case of a voluntary contingency reserve balance, if the board of education requests payment of any portion of such balance.

Amended by 126th General Assembly, HB 66, eff. 9/29/2005

5705.41 Restriction upon appropriation and expenditure of money - certificate of fiscal officer.

No subdivision or taxing unit shall:

(A) Make any appropriation of money except as provided in Chapter 5705. of the Revised Code; provided, that the authorization of a bond issue shall be deemed to be an appropriation of the proceeds of the bond issue for the purpose for which such bonds were issued, but no expenditure shall be made from any bond fund until first authorized by the taxing authority;

- (B)(1) Make any expenditure of money unless the fiscal officer of the subdivision or taxing authority has certified that all of the following apply:
- (a) The expenditure has been appropriated as provided in Chapter 5705. of the Revised Code;
- (b) The expenditure has been appropriated by the subdivision's or taxing unit's legislative authority;
- (c) The expenditure is not compelled by a process authorizing management, control, distribution, or disbursement of an appropriation or expenditure by a vote of the subdivision's or taxing unit's residents.
- (2) Nothing in division (B)(1) of this section prohibits a subdivision or taxing unit from doing either of the following:
- (a) Authorizing a bond issue otherwise permitted by law;
- (b) Soliciting public input related to the management, control, distribution, or disbursement of funds.
- (C) Make any expenditure of money except by a proper warrant drawn against an appropriate fund:
- (D)(1) Except as otherwise provided in division (D)(2) of this section and section 5705.44 of the Revised Code, make any contract or give any order involving the expenditure of money unless there is attached thereto a certificate of the fiscal officer of the subdivision that the amount required to meet the obligation or, in the case of a continuing contract to be performed in whole or in part in an ensuing fiscal year, the amount required to meet the obligation in the fiscal year in which the contract is made, has been lawfully appropriated for such purpose and is in the treasury or in process of collection to the credit of an appropriate fund free from any previous encumbrances. This certificate need be signed only by the subdivision's fiscal officer. Every such contract made without such a certificate shall be void, and no warrant shall be issued in payment of any amount due thereon. If no certificate is furnished as required, upon receipt by the taxing authority of the subdivision or taxing unit of a certificate of the fiscal officer stating that there was at the time of the making of such contract or order and at the time of the execution of such certificate a sufficient sum appropriated for the purpose of such contract and in the treasury or in process of collection to the credit of an appropriate fund free from any previous encumbrances, such taxing authority may authorize the drawing of a warrant in payment of amounts due upon such contract, but such resolution or ordinance shall be passed within thirty days after the taxing authority receives such certificate; provided that, if the amount involved is less than one hundred dollars in the case of counties or three thousand dollars in the case of all other subdivisions or taxing units, the fiscal officer may authorize it to be paid without such affirmation of the taxing authority of the subdivision or taxing unit, if such expenditure is otherwise valid.
- (2) The board of county commissioners may adopt a resolution exempting county purchases of one thousand dollars or less from the requirement of division (D)(1) of this section that a certificate be attached to any contract or order involving the expenditure of money. The resolution shall state the dollar amount that is exempted from the certificate requirement and whether the exemption applies to all purchases, to one or more specific classes of purchases, or to the purchase of one or more specific items. Prior to the adoption of the resolution, the board shall give written notice to the county auditor that it intends to adopt the resolution. The notice shall state the dollar amount that is proposed to be exempted and whether the exemption would apply to all purchases, to one or more specific classes of purchases, or to the purchase of one or more specific items. The county auditor may review and comment on the proposal, and shall send any comments to the board within fifteen days after receiving the notice. The board shall wait at least fifteen days after giving the notice to the auditor before adopting the resolution. A

person authorized to make a county purchase in a county that has adopted such a resolution shall prepare and file with the county auditor, within three business days after incurring an obligation not requiring a certificate, or within any other period of time the board of county commissioners specifies in the resolution, a written or electronically transferred document specifying the purpose and amount of the expenditure, the date of the purchase, the name of the vendor, the specific appropriation items from which the expenditures are to be made, and any additional information as the auditor of state may prescribe.

(3) Upon certification by the auditor or other chief fiscal officer that a certain sum of money, not in excess of an amount established by resolution or ordinance adopted by a majority of the members of the legislative authority of the subdivision or taxing unit, has been lawfully appropriated, authorized, or directed for a certain purpose and is in the treasury or in the process of collection to the credit of a specific line-item appropriation account in a certain fund free from previous and then outstanding obligations or certifications, then for such purpose and from such line-item appropriation account in such fund, over a period not extending beyond the end of the fiscal year, expenditures may be made, orders for payment issued, and contracts or obligations calling for or requiring the payment of money made and assumed; provided, that the aggregate sum of money included in and called for by such expenditures, orders, contracts, and obligations shall not exceed the sum so certified. Such a certification need be signed only by the fiscal officer of the subdivision or the taxing district and may, but need not, be limited to a specific vendor. An itemized statement of obligations incurred and expenditures made under such certificate shall be rendered to the auditor or other chief fiscal officer before another such certificate may be issued, and not more than one such certificate shall be outstanding at a time. In addition to providing the certification for expenditures as specified in this division, a subdivision also may make expenditures, issue orders for payment, and make contracts or obligations calling for or requiring the payment of money made and assumed for specified permitted purposes from a specific line-item appropriation account in a specified fund for a sum of money upon the certification by the fiscal officer of the subdivision that this sum of money has been lawfully appropriated, authorized, or directed for a permitted purpose and is in the treasury or in the process of collection to the credit of the specific line-item appropriation account in the specified fund free from previous and then-outstanding obligations or certifications; provided that the aggregate sum of money included in and called for by the expenditures, orders, and obligations shall not exceed the certified sum. The purposes for which a subdivision may lawfully appropriate, authorize, or issue such a certificate are the services of an accountant, architect, attorney at law, physician, professional engineer, construction project manager, consultant, surveyor, or appraiser by or on behalf of the subdivision or contracting authority; fuel oil, gasoline, food items, roadway materials, and utilities; and any purchases exempt from competitive bidding under section 125.04 of the Revised Code and any other specific expenditure that is a recurring and reasonably predictable operating expense. Such a certification shall not extend beyond the end of the fiscal year or, in the case of a board of county commissioners that has established a quarterly spending plan under section 5705.392 of the Revised Code, beyond the guarter to which the plan applies. Such a certificate shall be signed by the fiscal officer and may, but need not, be limited to a specific vendor. An itemized statement of obligations incurred and expenditures made under such a certificate shall be rendered to the fiscal officer for each certificate issued. More than one such certificate may be outstanding at any time.

In any case in which a contract is entered into upon a per unit basis, the head of the department, board, or commission for the benefit of which the contract is made shall make an estimate of the total amount to become due upon such contract, which estimate shall be certified in writing to the fiscal officer of the subdivision. Such a contract may be entered into if the appropriation covers such estimate, or so much thereof as may be due during the current year. In such a case the certificate of the fiscal officer based upon the estimate shall be a sufficient compliance with the law requiring a certificate.

Any certificate of the fiscal officer attached to a contract shall be binding upon the political subdivision as to the facts set forth therein. Upon request of any person receiving an order or

entering into a contract with any political subdivision, the certificate of the fiscal officer shall be attached to such order or contract. "Contract" as used in this section excludes current payrolls of regular employees and officers.

(E) Taxes and other revenue in process of collection, or the proceeds to be derived from authorized bonds, notes, or certificates of indebtedness sold and in process of delivery, shall for the purpose of this section be deemed in the treasury or in process of collection and in the appropriate fund. This section applies neither to the investment of sinking funds by the trustees of such funds, nor to investments made under sections <u>731.56</u> to <u>731.59</u> of the Revised Code.

No district authority shall, in transacting its own affairs, do any of the things prohibited to a subdivision by this section, but the appropriation referred to shall become the appropriation by the district authority, and the fiscal officer referred to shall mean the fiscal officer of the district authority.

Amended by 135th General Assembly, Senate Bill 91, eff. 3/28/2024.

Chapter 5901: VETERANS – TITLE 59: VETERANS' SERVICE COMMISSIONS

5901.01 Veterans' services definitions.

As used in sections 5901.01 to 5901.37 of the Revised Code:

- (A) Except as otherwise provided in division (B) of this section, "veteran" means either of the following:
- (1) A former member of the armed forces of the United States who served on active military duty and received an honorable discharge or honorable separation, a member of the armed forces of the United States who died on active military duty, or a member of the armed forces of the United States missing in action more than ninety days;
- (2) A member of the United States merchant marine to whom either of the following applies:
- (a) The member has an honorable report of separation from the active duty military service, form DD214 or DD215.
- (b) The member served in the United States merchant marine between December 7, 1941, and December 31, 1946, and died on active duty while serving in a war zone during that period of service.
- (B) As used in section $\underline{5901.08}$ and other sections of the Revised Code with regard to applications for financial assistance under sections $\underline{5901.02}$ to $\underline{5901.15}$ of the Revised Code, "veteran" means either of the following:
- (1) A person who served in the armed forces of the United States on active military duty and was discharged from the service under honorable conditions, and who either served on active duty for reasons other than training or, while serving on active duty for training, incurred a disability recognized by the department of veterans affairs or department of defense as service-connected;
- (2) A person who served in the United States merchant marine, who either served on active duty for reasons other than training or, while serving on active duty for training, incurred a disability recognized by the department of veterans affairs or department of defense as service-connected, and to whom either of the following applies:
- (a) The person has an honorable report of separation from the active duty military service, form DD214 or DD215.

- (b) The person served in the United States merchant marine between December 7, 1941, and December 31, 1946, and died on active duty while serving in a war zone during that period of service.
- (C) "Veterans plot" means a plot of land in any cemetery, set apart to be exclusively used for interring the remains of deceased veterans.
- (D) "United States merchant marine" includes the United States army transport service and the United States naval transport service.

Amended by 123rd General Assembly, HB 118, eff. 3/17/2000

5901.02 Veterans service commission.

In each county there shall be a commission known as "the veterans service commission." Except as provided in section <u>5901.021</u> of the Revised Code, the commission shall be composed of five residents of the county appointed to five-year terms by a judge of the court of common pleas. At the time of appointment or reappointment to the commission, no commission member appointed under this section shall be an employee of the commission or hold an elective or other appointive office of the county served by the commission.

Each member of the commission appointed under this section shall be an honorably discharged or honorably separated veteran. Within sixty days after the date of appointment, each such member shall file the member's form DD214 with the department of veterans services in accordance with guidelines established by the director of that department. Such appointments shall be made from lists of recommended persons, in the manner specified in the following paragraph. One person shall be a representative recommended by the American Legion; one person shall be a representative recommended by the Veterans of Foreign Wars; one person shall be a representative recommended by the Disabled American Veterans; one person shall be a representative recommended by the AMVETS; and one person shall be a representative recommended by the Military Order of the Purple Heart of the U.S.A., the Vietnam Veterans of America, or the Korean War Veterans Association. If any such organization has no post or chapter located in the county, the appointment shall be made from lists of recommended persons submitted by posts or chapters of any other congressionally chartered veterans organizations located in the county. If no such other organizations have posts or chapters located in the county, the judge responsible for making appointments under this section may appoint any qualified veteran to represent the veteran community.

On or before the fifteenth day of October of each year, the appointing judge shall notify each post or chapter of each organization within the county from which the member may or must be appointed that it may submit a list containing three recommendations of persons who are eligible for appointment. If the judge does not receive any recommendations within sixty days after providing the required notification, the judge may appoint any qualified veteran to represent the veteran community. The judge shall make the appointment on or before the fifteenth day of January of each year. Any vacancy in a membership appointed under this section shall be filled in the same manner as the original appointments.

Beginning in the year 2000, appointment of members to the commission under this section shall be made as follows:

- (A) Appointments for members to represent the American Legion shall be made for terms to commence in years ending in zero and five.
- (B) Appointments for members to represent the Veterans of Foreign Wars shall be made for terms to commence in years ending in one and six.
- (C) Appointments for members to represent the Disabled American Veterans shall be made for terms to commence in years ending in two and seven.

- (D) Appointments for members to represent the AMVETS shall be made for terms to commence in years ending in three and eight.
- (E) Appointments for members to represent the Military Order of the Purple Heart of the U.S.A., the Vietnam Veterans of America, or the Korean War Veterans Association shall be made for terms to commence in years ending in four and nine.

The terms immediately preceding the initial appointments made under divisions (A) to (E) of this section may be for periods of less than five years.

The appointing authority shall remove a member who fails to maintain certification or whose certification is revoked by the director of veterans services.

Amended by 127th General Assembly, Senate Bill 289, eff. 8/22/2008

5901.021 Creation of additional memberships.

- (A) This section applies only to counties having a population, according to the most recent decennial census, of more than five hundred thousand.
- (B) (1) In any county that is described in division (A) of this section and in which the veterans service commission submits a budget request under section 5901.11 of the Revised Code for the ensuing fiscal year that exceeds twenty-five-thousandths of one per cent of the assessed value of property in the county or the amount appropriated to the commission from the county general fund in the current fiscal year by more than ten per cent of that appropriation, the board of county commissioners, by resolution, may create not more than six memberships on the veterans service commission in addition to the memberships provided for by section <u>5901.02</u> of the Revised Code. The board shall prescribe the number of years the additional memberships shall exist, which shall not exceed five years. Once a board of county commissioners creates any additional memberships, it may not create further additional memberships under this section if the total number of such memberships would exceed six. The board shall appoint persons who are residents of the county and who are honorably discharged or honorably separated veterans to each of the additional memberships, for terms prescribed by the board and commencing on a date fixed by the board. Each person appointed to an additional membership shall file, within sixty days after the date of the appointment, the person's form DD214 with the department of veterans services in accordance with guidelines established by the director of that department.
- (2) If the board of county commissioners appoints additional members as described in division (B)(1) of this section, the board may permit the commission to submit an original or revised budget request for the ensuing fiscal year later than the last Monday in May, as otherwise required under section <u>5901.11</u> of the Revised Code.
- (C) The board of county commissioners may remove, for cause, any member appointed under this section. The board shall determine whether the additional members may be reappointed upon the expiration of their terms, and shall fill any vacancy in an additional membership for the unexpired term in the manner provided for the original appointment.

Amended by 127th General Assembly, Senate Bill 289, eff. 8/22/2008

5901.03 Organization and duties of commission.

The veterans service commission shall select one of its members as president, one as vice-president, and one as secretary. The commission shall meet at least once each month. A judge of the court of common pleas may remove, for cause, any member of the commission appointed under section <u>5901.02</u> of the Revised Code, and shall fill vacancies occurring among memberships appointed under that section for the unexpired terms in the manner provided for the original appointments.

The commission's duties shall include but are not limited to the following:

- (A) Employing such staff as are necessary to carry out the commission's duties, and fixing their compensation;
- (B) Establishing policies and procedures for the administration of the commission and the veterans service office;
- (C) Establishing policies and procedures for the administration of assistance as provided under this chapter;
- (D) Causing the budgets of the veterans service commission and veterans service office to be presented to the board of county commissioners for approval;
- (E) Establishing programs of outreach and coordination with other agencies to enhance available services to veterans within the county;
- (F) Promoting, monitoring, and providing funding for ongoing education and training for veterans service commissioners and staff:
- (G) Making reports to the organizations represented on the commission, as provided in section <u>5901.02</u> of the Revised Code, and to others, upon request;
- (H) Establishing regularly scheduled transportation for veterans to and from veterans administration medical centers whose districts the county is within, through contractual agreements or through other arrangements determined by the commission to be most cost-effective;
- (I) Participating in appropriate memorial and commemorative activities to help promote patriotism and veterans services;
- (J) Taking any other actions required by this chapter.

Amended by 124th General Assembly, Senate Bill 261, eff. 9/4/2002

5901.04 Payment of expenses and compensation of commissioners.

On the presentation of an itemized statement, the board of county commissioners shall allow the persons composing the veterans service commission their reasonable expenses incurred in the performance of their duties, and shall fix a fair compensation for their services. The county auditor shall issue a warrant upon the county treasurer for the amount so allowed.

Amended by 120th General Assembly, HB 448, eff. 7/22/1994

5901.05 Veterans service committee.

On the first Monday of January in each year, the veterans service commission may appoint for the county a veterans service committee, consisting of at least three persons who are residents of the county, whose duties shall be set forth by the commission. Such persons shall be veterans, one of whom shall be designated as chairperson of the county veterans service committee. The commission shall fill all vacancies that occur in any such committee, and may remove any member of a committee for cause.

Amended by 120th General Assembly, HB 448, eff. 7/22/1994

5901.06 Commission to employ executive director, investigators and clerks.

The veterans service commission may employ an executive director, who shall be a veteran and shall be employed in the unclassified service, and such investigators and clerks as are necessary to perform the duties of the commission. Each investigator and clerk shall be a veteran or, if a qualified veteran is not available, the spouse, surviving spouse, child, or parent of a veteran. Each shall be employed in the classified service and is exempt from civil service examination. The compensation of such investigators and clerks shall be established by the commission, and shall be paid from the county allotment of veterans service funds.

Amended by 120th General Assembly, HB448, eff. 7/22/1994

5901.07 County veterans service officers and assistants.

The veterans service commission shall employ one or more county veterans service officers, one of whom may act as executive director. Each service officer shall be a veteran. Within sixty days after the date of initial employment, each service officer shall file a copy of the officer's form DD214 with the department of veterans services in accordance with guidelines established by the director of that department. Each service officer shall be employed in the classified service and is exempt from civil service examination. The commission may remove a veterans service officer who fails to maintain accreditation or whose certification is revoked by the director of veterans services. The service officers shall advise and assist present and former members of the armed forces of the United States, veterans, and their spouses, surviving spouses, children, parents, and dependents in presenting claims or obtaining rights or benefits under any law of the United States or of this state.

The commission shall employ each service officer on a part- or full-time basis and fix the officer's compensation. No county commissioner or member of the veterans service commission shall be employed as a service officer.

The commission shall employ the necessary clerks, stenographers, and other personnel to assist the service officers in the performance of duties and shall fix their compensation. Each of these employees shall be a veteran or, if a qualified veteran is not available, the spouse, surviving spouse, child, or parent of a veteran. Each of these employees shall be employed in the classified service and is exempt from civil service examination.

The board of county commissioners, upon the recommendation or approval of the veterans service commission, may provide suitable office space, supplies, and office and incidental expenses for each service officer. The compensation of each service officer and of any employee and any expenses incurred under this section shall be paid out of funds appropriated to the commission, as provided in section <u>5901.11</u> of the Revised Code.

Amended by 127th General Assembly, Senate Bill 289, eff. 8/22/2008

5901.08 Applicants for financial assistance.

Each applicant for financial assistance under sections <u>5901.02</u> to <u>5901.15</u> of the Revised Code shall be a veteran, an active-duty member of the armed forces of the United States, or the spouse, surviving spouse, dependent parent, minor child, or ward of a veteran or active-duty member of the armed forces of the United States, who has been a bona fide resident of the county in which application is being made for at least three months.

Amended by 120th General Assembly, HB 448, eff.7/22/1994

5901.09 Statement of household income and property.

(A) Each applicant for financial assistance under sections <u>5901.01</u> to <u>5901.15</u> of the Revised Code shall provide the veterans service commission with a statement concerning the applicant's household income and the amount of real and personal taxable property, stocks, bonds, moneys on hand loaned or deposited in any bank or elsewhere, shares in building associations, mortgages, notes, or other articles of value from which the applicant derives an income or revenue. The statement shall be made upon blanks furnished by the commission and shall be subscribed by the applicant.

Statements provided under this division shall not include medical records and, pursuant to division (B) of this section, are not public records under section <u>149.43</u> of the Revised Code. Veterans service commissions may compile statistical data from the statements in a manner to be prescribed by the department of veterans services. These data shall be considered a matter of public record.

- (B) The following are not public records under section <u>149.43</u> of the Revised Code:
- (1) A statement described in division (A) of this section;
- (2) Any application for financial assistance under sections <u>5901.01</u> to <u>5901.15</u> of the Revised Code;
- (3) Any documents that accompany and pertain to a statement described in division (A) of this section or an application described in division (B)(2) of this section;
- (4) Any other documents that are used by or are in the possession of a veterans service commission that may affect the determination of the eligibility of an applicant for financial assistance under sections <u>5901.01</u> to <u>5901.15</u> of the Revised Code or that may affect the determination of an increase, decrease, or discontinuance of an allowance under section <u>5901.14</u> of the Revised Code, if those documents are required to be kept confidential under any statute of this state or the United States;
- (5) Any applications to obtain benefits under any law of the United States or of this state, and any documents accompanying those applications, in the possession of a veterans service commission and filed by persons in the armed forces of the United States, veterans, or the spouses, surviving spouses, children, parents, or dependents of veterans.
- (C) Interviews of applicants for financial assistance under sections $\underline{5901.01}$ to $\underline{5901.15}$ of the Revised Code, discussions of the applications, statements, and other documents described in division (B) of this section, and reviews of matters relating to applicants' requests for financial assistance under sections $\underline{5901.01}$ to $\underline{5901.15}$ of the Revised Code shall be kept confidential. In accordance with division (J) of section $\underline{121.22}$ of the Revised Code, a veterans service commission shall conduct a meeting of the commission or a portion of a meeting of the commission to interview an applicant for financial assistance under sections $\underline{5901.01}$ to $\underline{5901.15}$ of the Revised Code, to discuss an application, statement, or other document described in division (B) of this section, or to review matters relating to an applicant's request for financial assistance under sections $\underline{5901.01}$ to $\underline{5901.15}$ of the Revised Code in an executive session.
- (D) Except as otherwise provided in division (E) of this section or division (B) of section <u>5902.04</u> of the Revised Code, a veterans service commission shall ensure that the applications, statements, and other documents described in division (B) of this section are not used for any purpose other than to determine the eligibility of the applicant for financial assistance under sections <u>5901.01</u> to <u>5901.15</u> of the Revised Code or to determine whether to increase, decrease, or discontinue an allowance under section <u>5901.14</u> of the Revised Code.
- (E) (1) An applicant for, or a recipient or former recipient of, financial assistance under sections <u>5901.01</u> to <u>5901.15</u> of the Revised Code may consent to the release by a veterans service commission of any information in an application, statement, or other document described in

division (B) of this section that pertains to the applicant, recipient, or former recipient by completing and signing a release of information form. The form shall be prescribed by the department of veterans services. An applicant for, or a recipient or former recipient of, financial assistance shall sign a separate release of information form each time the applicant, recipient, or former recipient consents to the release of any specific information in the application, statement, or other document involved. A copy of each signed release of information form shall be kept in the file of the applicant, recipient, or former recipient kept by the commission. The release of information form shall specify the following items:

- (a) The individual, agency, or organization requesting the information;
- (b) The specific information requested;
- (c) The intended use of the information requested;
- (d) The date of the request for the information;
- (e) The signature of the person who consents to the release of the information.
- (2) A law enforcement officer may obtain an application, statement, or document as described in division (B) of this section pursuant to an investigation by a law enforcement authority, upon the issuance of a court order established upon reasonable grounds that the information contained in the application, statement, or document is relevant to a suspected violation of law.
- (3) (a) A party to a matter pending before a court may obtain an application, statement, or document as described in division (B) of this section, if upon application to a court of competent jurisdiction, the party proves all of the following:
- (i) The information contained in the application, statement, or document is relevant and material to the matter before the court.
- (ii) Disclosure of the application, statement, or document serves the interests of justice, because the need of the party requesting the information within the application, statement, or document outweighs the privacy interest of the applicant, recipient, or former recipient of financial assistance under sections <u>5901.01</u> to <u>5901.15</u> of the Revised Code.
- (iii) No other reasonable mean exists to obtain the information contained in the application, statement, or document.
- (b) If the party to a matter pending before a court proves all of the elements in division (E)(3)(a) of this section, the court may order the disclosure of an application, statement, or document described in division (B) of this section. For purposes of this division the court shall do all of the following:
- (i) Indicate the specific application, statement, or document to be disclosed;
- (ii) Indicate the purpose for the disclosure of the application, statement, or document;
- (iii) Indicate the person to whom the application, statement, or document will be disclosed.

Amended by 127th General Assembly, Senate Bill 289, eff. 8/22/2008

5901.11 Determination of probable amount of funds needed.

On or before the last Monday in May in each year, the veterans service commission shall meet and determine in an itemized manner the probable amount necessary for the aid and financial assistance of persons entitled to such aid and assistance and for the operation of the veterans service office for the ensuing year. After determining the probable amount necessary for such purposes, the commission shall prepare and submit a budget in the manner specified in division (C) of section <u>5705.28</u> of the Revised Code to the board of county commissioners which may review the proposed budget and shall appropriate funds to the commission pursuant to Title III, section <u>5705.05</u>, and sections <u>5705.38</u> to <u>5705.41</u> of the Revised Code. The board, at its June session, shall make the necessary levy, not to exceed five-tenths of a mill per dollar on the assessed value of the property of the county, to raise the amount that the board approves. The veterans service commission may, prior to the first day of October in any year, submit to the board

of county commissioners a written request for a hearing before the board to discuss the commission's budget request for the ensuing fiscal year. Upon receiving this request, the board shall provide for such a hearing at a regular or special meeting of the board to be held no later than fourteen days prior to the board's adoption of a permanent appropriation measure under section 5705.38 of the Revised Code.

Amended by 120th General Assembly, HB 448, eff. 7/22/1994

5901.14 Warrant for allowance.

To each person certified by the veterans service commission to the county auditor, the auditor shall issue a warrant upon the county treasurer for the allowance awarded to that person by the commission. Upon proper cause shown, the commission may appoint a suitable person to draw, receipt for, and properly expend the allowance made to any person under sections <u>5901.02</u> to <u>5901.15</u> of the Revised Code, after the voucher or certificate is endorsed by the person for whom the allowance is intended, for the benefit of the person and the indigent members of his family. No part of the allowance shall be paid to any person without such endorsement. The commission, at any meeting, may increase, decrease, or discontinue any allowance previously awarded, which action shall be certified to the auditor, who shall amend his list of recipients accordingly.

Amended by 120th General Assembly, HB 448, eff. 7/22/1994

5901.15 Immediate assistance - veterans service commission unclaimed assistance fund.

The veterans service commission shall adopt and implement rules to grant immediate assistance, financial or otherwise, to any person entitled to it under sections 5901.02 to 5901.14 of the Revised Code, and to any member, spouse, or dependent of any member of the Ohio national guard, the Ohio military reserve, the Ohio naval militia, or a reserve component of the armed forces of the United States serving active military duty because of an executive order issued by the president of the United States or an act of congress, until the benefits or pay and allowances to which the member, spouse, or dependent is entitled from the armed forces are available, under such rules as the commission designates. If any money so awarded as financial assistance is not called for by the applicant within sixty days after it is awarded, such amounts shall be paid into the county treasury to the veterans service commission unclaimed assistance fund, which is hereby created.

Amended by 120th General Assembly, HB 448, eff. 7/22/1994

5901.16 Application or petition for veterans plot in cemetery.

Upon application in writing by a veterans organization in any municipal corporation or township, or upon a petition in writing by five or more veterans in any municipal corporation or township where no veterans organization exists, the veterans service commission of any county shall purchase or provide a veterans plot in any cemetery in such county or municipal corporation where no burial plot is provided, for the burial, removal, and reinterment of the bodies of neglected and indigent veterans.

The expense of such purchase shall be filed with and audited by the county auditor, who shall issue a warrant for it upon the county treasurer, who shall pay such warrant from the general fund of the county.

Amended by 117th General Assembly, HB 626, eff. 9/14/1988

5901.17 Expense for care of graves.

On and after the interment of the remains of one or more deceased veterans in a veterans plot, the reasonable expenses of the care of the grave shall be annually provided for by the municipal

corporation or township in which the remains are buried, and shall be paid annually to the cemetery association in which the remains may be interred, removed, or reinterred.

Amended by 120th General Assembly, HB 448, eff. 7/22/1994

5901.18 Petition for burial or removal and reinterment.

A petition may be presented to the county veterans service commission signed by the officers of a local or state veterans organization, or by a majority of a memorial committee of any municipal corporation in which one or more such organizations exist, or by veterans in townships or villages in which no veterans organization exists. Such petition shall contain:

- (A) The name of the deceased veteran or veterans whose remains are sought to be buried or removed, and, if known, the company and regiment in which each served;
- (B) The name and location of the cemetery in which each is interred, and from which removal is asked to be made;
- (C) The name and location of the cemetery to which the remains are desired to be removed and reinterred;
- (D) The facts showing the reason for such removal.

Amended by 120th General Assembly, HB 448, eff. 7/22/1994

5901.19 Order to maintain dignified burial site or for removal and reinterment - maximum expense to be specified.

Within thirty days after the next succeeding regular meeting, the veterans service commission shall act upon any petition presented as provided by section <u>5901.18</u> of the Revised Code, and, if true, it shall issue an order to maintain a dignified burial site with the agreement of the petitioners, or direct the removal of the remains of the deceased veteran or veterans to the cemetery designated in the petition, within the municipal corporation or township, in which the remains are then to be buried, and the commission shall specify in the order the maximum expense of the proposed removal and reinterment, including the expense incurred by the commission. The order shall designate the persons who shall have charge of the burial or removal and reinterment.

Amended by 120th General Assembly, HB 448, eff. 7/22/1994

5901.20 Verified statement of burial or removal.

Upon the completion of the burial or removal and reinterment of a deceased veteran, the persons having charge thereof shall make an itemized statement, and shall verify and file such statement with the veterans service commission, which shall, at the next regular meeting, act upon such expense account and file it with the county auditor forthwith, at which time it shall become a charge upon the county in which the interment or reinterment is made.

Such expense shall be audited and the auditor shall issue a warrant for it on the county treasurer, who shall pay such warrant out of the general fund of the county.

Amended by 117th General Assembly, HB 626, eff. 9/14/1988

5901.21 Purchase of additional plots.

If it becomes necessary to purchase additional plots of ground in any cemetery in which a veterans plot has been filled with graves to its capacity, sections <u>5901.16</u> to <u>5901.24</u> of the Revised Code do not prevent the purchase of such additional plots.

Amended by 117th General Assembly, HB 626, eff. 9/14/1988

5901.22 Contracts with cemetery associations for purchase and maintenance of plots.

The board of county commissioners, the board of township trustees, or the legislative authority of a municipal corporation may enter into contracts with cemetery associations providing for the purchase and maintenance, in cemeteries within the county, of plots of ground for the burial of deceased veterans and the deceased spouses of veterans. Any such purchase may be made either by cash or by installment payments. The purchase price and maintenance cost of all such burial plots shall be paid from the treasury of the county, township, or municipal corporation contracting for such plots.

Amended by 120th General Assembly, HB 448, eff. 7/22/1994

5901.23 Plots open for burial on application.

Any veterans plot owned or maintained by any county, township, or municipal corporation shall be open for the burial of the body of any deceased veteran on application by a relative of the decedent or other proper person responsible for the disposition of the remains to the county, township, or municipal corporation owning or maintaining the plot.

Amended by 120th General Assembly, HB 448, eff. 7/22/1994

5901.24 Burial in cemetery not provided with plot.

If it is desired to bury the body or cremated remains of any deceased veteran in any cemetery not having a burial plot as provided by section 5901.22 of the Revised Code, the board of county commissioners, any board of township trustees, or the legislative authority of any municipal corporation in the county in which the cemetery is situated may purchase a space for the grave of the veteran or the veteran's cremated remains, provide for the care of the plot, and pay the amount of the purchase price and maintenance cost from the funds in the treasury of the county, township, or municipal corporation.

Amended by 122nd General Assembly, Senate Bill 117, eff. 8/5/1998

5901.25 Commission to contract for burial of indigent veteran, parent, spouse or surviving spouse of veteran.

The board of county commissioners shall require the veterans service commission, upon application and with the approval of the family or friends of the deceased, to contract, at a fair and reasonable price, with the funeral director selected by the family or friends, and cause to be interred or cremated in a decent and respectable manner the body of any veteran, or the parent, spouse, or surviving spouse of any such veteran, who dies without the means to defray the necessary funeral or cremation expenses. Such a burial may be made in any cemetery or burial ground within the state, other than those used exclusively for the burial of paupers and criminals.

Amended by 122nd General Assembly, Senate Bill 117, eff. 8/5/1998

5901.26 Duties of commission as to burial of indigent.

Pursuant to section $\underline{5901.25}$ of the Revised Code, the veterans service commission shall use the forms of contracts prescribed by sections $\underline{5901.25}$ to $\underline{5901.32}$ of the Revised Code, and abide by the regulations provided by such sections. The commission shall see that funeral directors furnish all items specified in the contract, that when the benefits of such sections are claimed the entire amount to be contributed by the county toward the cost of the burial or cremation shall not exceed

the sum of one thousand dollars, and that any remaining costs are paid by the family or friends of the deceased.

Amended by 122nd General Assembly, Senate Bill 117, eff. 8/5/1998

5901.27 Commission to determine indigency - report to county commissioners.

Before assuming the charge and expense of any burial or cremation, the veterans service commission, pursuant to section 5901.25 of the Revised Code, shall satisfy itself, beyond a reasonable doubt, by careful inquiry, that the family of the deceased is unable, for want of means, to defray the expenses of the burial or cremation, or that the family may be deprived of means actually necessary for its immediate support. Thereupon the commission shall cause the deceased to be buried or cremated and make a report thereof to the board of county commissioners. The report shall set forth that the commission found the family of the deceased person in indigent circumstances and unable to pay the expenses of burial or cremation. The report shall also set forth the name of the deceased, the rank and command to which the deceased belonged if a veteran, the date of death, the place of burial or disposition made of the person's cremated remains, the occupation while living, and an accurate itemized statement of the expenses incurred by reason of the burial or cremation.

Amended by 122nd General Assembly, Senate Bill 117, eff. 8/5/1998

5901.28 Death of inmate of home.

Upon the death of an inmate of any home for indigent parents, spouses, or surviving spouses of veterans, the manager of the home may, upon a certificate signed by the attending physician of the home, certify as to the death of the inmate to the board of county commissioners of the county from which the parent, spouse, or surviving spouse was admitted to the home, and the board shall proceed as provided in section <u>5901.32</u> of the Revised Code.

Amended by 120th General Assembly, HB 448, eff. 7/22/1994

5901.29 Funeral directors' blanks.

The funeral director employed to perform the service described by section <u>5901.25</u> of the Revised Code shall use the blanks provided by this section, specifying what the funeral director is to furnish for the service. The contract shall be signed by the funeral director and a copy thereof left with the veterans service commission with which it is made. Such contract shall read as follows:

- "I, funeral director, residing at hereby agree to furnish the following items for the burial or cremation (circle one) of, who resided at...., and died, which shall consist of:
- (A) One casket, nicely covered with a good quality of black cloth, lined with a good quality of white satin or other material, and trimmed on the outside with handles of a fair quality in keeping with the casket;
- (B) One burial robe of a good quality of material;
- (C) One plain box appropriate for receiving the coffin or urn containing cremated remains inside the grave;
- (D) Payment for digging the grave, in the place designated by the friends of the deceased or as otherwise provided, and for filling the grave in a proper manner;
- (E) Furnishing a funeral car for conveying the remains to the place of burial or crematory;
- (F) Preparing the body for burial when so requested:
- (G) Furnishing necessary transportation for the use of the family, friends, and pallbearers, which people shall be returned to their respective homes or to the place where the funeral services were held;

(H) Furnishing a decent, respectable funeral, for the sum of dollars." Amended by 123rd General Assembly, HB 495, eff. 5/9/2000

5901.30 Presentation of itemized bill and contract to county auditor.

The funeral director shall present the itemized bill and contract, as approved by the veterans service commission, to the county auditor, upon printed blanks furnished by the auditor, and make an oath that the funeral director has honestly and faithfully performed the contract, that the bill and contract attached is a true copy of the one left with the parties who engaged the funeral director's services, and that the bill covers the entire expense of the service described by section 5901.25 of the Revised Code, in order to obtain the auditor's warrant. The auditor shall have the necessary blanks printed and distribute them to the veterans service commission, from whom they may be procured by funeral directors.

Amended by 122nd General Assembly, Senate Bill 117, eff. 8/5/1998

5901.31 Savings on expenses to remain in county general fund - delay where additional funds coming to family.

If a saving of money is effected by reason of the loan of automobiles, ownership of a cemetery lot, or other items mentioned in the bill of expenses under section <u>5901.30</u> of the Revised Code, the amount of such saving shall remain in the general fund of the county. If it appears that life insurance or any additional funds are coming to the family of the deceased, the veterans service commission shall withhold its signature to the itemized bill and contract until such matters are definitely settled.

Amended by 120th General Assembly, HB 448, eff. 7/22/1994

5901.32 Record - expenses - headstone.

Upon securing the report and statement of expenses as provided by section <u>5901.27</u> of the Revised Code, the board of county commissioners shall transcribe in a book to be kept for that purpose, all the facts contained in the report concerning a deceased veteran, and shall certify the expenses thus incurred to the county auditor, who shall draw a warrant for those expenses upon the county treasurer, to be paid from the county fund to such persons as are designated by the board. Upon the death of any indigent veteran residing within the county at the time of death and the burial of the indigent veteran or the indigent veteran's cremated remains, the board shall make application to the proper authorities, under the United States government, for a suitable headstone, as provided by act of congress, and shall cause it to be placed at the grave of the deceased veteran or the deceased veteran's cremated remains.

Amended by 122nd General Assembly, Senate Bill 117, eff. 8/5/1998

5901.34 Permanent markers and temporary memorial day markers for graves of veterans.

The board of county commissioners shall, upon the petition of any five veterans of any township or municipal corporation in its county, procure for and furnish to the petitioners a suitable and durable marker for the grave of each veteran buried in the limits of the township or municipal corporation. The name of the veteran and the company, regiment, or other command in which he served may be inscribed upon the marker. The marker shall be placed on the grave by the petitioners for the purpose of permanently marking and designating the grave for memorial

purposes. The board may also provide a temporary memorial day marker for each veteran's grave within the limits of the county, upon the petition of any memorial day association or veterans organization having charge of memorial day ceremonies conducted within the cemetery where veterans are buried. The board shall provide for the payment of the necessary expense of placing and setting such permanent and temporary markers.

The petitioners shall state in their petition the names of veterans buried and the number of such graves in their township or municipal corporation at the time of petitioning, and shall describe the form and character of the markers which they desire to have placed at such graves.

Amended by 120th General Assembly, HB 448, eff. 7/22/1994

5901.35 Care of graves of veterans.

The board of county commissioners shall provide for the proper care of the graves of all veterans, and of confederate soldiers, sailors, and marines who are buried in lots used exclusively for the benefit of veterans and confederate soldiers, sailors, and marines in cemeteries or burying grounds.

Amended by 117th General Assembly, HB 626, eff. 9/14/1988

5901.36 County or municipal corporation may provide land for veterans' facilities.

For the purpose of enabling counties or municipal corporations to aid and facilitate the construction of veterans' facilities operated by the United States department of veterans affairs as a public works project of the government of the United States, the board of county commissioners of any county or the legislative authority of any municipal corporation may acquire lands by purchase or deed of gift for the purpose of providing a suitable site and grounds in such county for veterans' facilities to be constructed, maintained, and operated by the United States, and may grant the ownership or use and occupation of such lands to the United States for such purpose. Payment for lands so purchased shall be made from the general fund of the county.

Amended by 120th General Assembly, HB 448, eff. 7/22/1994

5901.37 Care of portion of cemetery set apart for burial of veterans.

In any county having a cemetery or part of it set apart for the burial of veterans, or containing a monument erected to their memory, or containing monuments and memorials erected by private or public expense to the memory of veterans, the board of county commissioners shall care for and properly preserve that portion of the cemetery so set apart for the burial of such veterans, and shall care for and properly preserve the monuments or memorials, and the board shall pay all expenses incident to such care and preservation from the general fund of the county.

Amended by 117th General Assembly, HB 626, eff. 9/14/1988

5901.99 Misrepresentation of veteran status.

(A) No person who is not a veteran, an active-duty member of the armed forces of the United States, or the spouse, surviving spouse, dependent parent, minor child, or ward of a veteran or an active-duty member of the armed forces of the United States shall knowingly represent that the person is a veteran, an active-duty member of the armed forces of the United States, or the spouse, surviving spouse, dependent parent, minor child, or ward of a veteran or an active-duty member of the armed forces of the United States and is eligible for any benefits or financial

assistance related to veteran status for the purpose of receiving such benefits or financial assistance.

(B) Whoever violates this section is guilty of misrepresentation of veteran status, a misdemeanor of the first degree.

Amended by 123rd General Assembly, Senate Bill 120, eff. 6/15/2000

Chapter 5902: VETERANS – TITLE 59: VETERANS' SERVICES

5902.01 Appointment of director - employment of personnel.

The person appointed to the position of director of veterans services shall be an honorably discharged or honorably separated veteran of the United States armed forces. The department of veterans services shall employ administrative and technical personnel as are necessary to perform the general and specific duties of the department. For positions within the department, the director shall adopt rules under Chapter 119. of the Revised Code establishing a program, which the director shall implement, giving hiring preferences to veterans.

Amended by 127th General Assembly, Senate Bill 289, eff. 8/22/2008

5902.02 Duties of the director of veterans services.

The duties of the director of veterans services shall include the following:

- (A) Furnishing the veterans service commissions of all counties of the state copies of the state laws, rules, and legislation relating to the operation of the commissions and their offices;
- (B) Upon application, assisting the general public in obtaining records of vital statistics pertaining to veterans or their dependents;
- (C) Adopting rules pursuant to Chapter 119. of the Revised Code pertaining to minimum qualifications for hiring, certifying, and accrediting county veterans service officers, pertaining to their required duties, and pertaining to revocation of the certification of county veterans service officers;
- (D) Adopting rules pursuant to Chapter 119. of the Revised Code for the education, training, certification, and duties of veterans service commissioners and for the revocation of the certification of a veterans service commissioner;
- (E) Developing and monitoring programs and agreements enhancing employment and training for veterans in single or multiple county areas;
- (F) Developing and monitoring programs and agreements to enable county veterans service commissions to address homelessness, indigency, and other veteran-related issues individually or jointly;
- (G) Developing and monitoring programs and agreements to enable state agencies, individually or jointly, that provide services to veterans, including the veterans' homes operated under Chapter 5907. of the Revised Code and the director of job and family services, to address homelessness, indigency, employment, and other veteran-related issues;

- (H) Establishing and providing statistical reporting formats and procedures for county veterans service commissions:
- (I) Publishing electronically a listing of county veterans service offices and county veterans service commissioners. The listing shall include the expiration dates of commission members' terms of office and the organizations they represent; the names, addresses, and telephone numbers of county veterans service offices; and the addresses and telephone numbers of the Ohio offices and headquarters of state and national veterans service organizations.
- (J) Establishing a veterans advisory committee to advise and assist the department of veterans services in its duties. Members shall include a member of the national guard association of the United States who is a resident of this state, a member of the paralyzed veterans of America who is a resident of this state, a member of the military officers association of America who is a resident of this state, a state representative of congressionally chartered veterans organizations referred to in section 5901.02 of the Revised Code, a representative of any other congressionally chartered state veterans organization that has at least one veterans service commissioner in the state, three representatives of the Ohio state association of county veterans service commissioners, who shall have a combined vote of one, three representatives of the state association of county veterans service officers, who shall have a combined vote of one, one representative of the county commissioners association of Ohio, who shall be a county commissioner not from the same county as any of the other county representatives, a representative of the advisory committee on women veterans, a representative of a labor organization, and a representative of the office of the attorney general. The department of veterans services shall submit to the advisory committee proposed rules for the committee's operation. The committee may review and revise these proposed rules prior to submitting them to the joint committee on agency rule review.
- (K) Adopting, with the advice and assistance of the veterans advisory committee, policy and procedural guidelines that the veterans service commissions shall adhere to in the development and implementation of rules, policies, procedures, and guidelines for the administration of Chapter 5901. of the Revised Code. The department of veterans services shall adopt no guidelines or rules regulating the purposes, scope, duration, or amounts of financial assistance provided to applicants pursuant to sections <u>5901.01</u> to <u>5901.15</u> of the Revised Code. The director of veterans services may obtain opinions from the office of the attorney general regarding rules, policies, procedures, and guidelines of the veterans service commissions and may enforce compliance with Chapter 5901. of the Revised Code.
- (L) Receiving copies of form DD214 filed in accordance with the director's guidelines adopted under division (L) of this section from members of veterans service commissions appointed under section <u>5901.02</u> and from county veterans service officers employed under section <u>5901.07</u> of the Revised Code;
- (M) Developing and maintaining and improving a resource, such as a telephone answering point or a web site, by means of which veterans and their dependents, through a single portal, can access multiple sources of information and interaction with regard to the rights of, and the benefits available to, veterans and their dependents. The director of veterans services may enter into agreements with state and federal agencies, with agencies of political subdivisions, with state and local instrumentalities, and with private entities as necessary to make the resource as complete as is possible.
- (N) Planning, organizing, advertising, and conducting outreach efforts, such as conferences and fairs, at which veterans and their dependents may meet, learn about the organization and operation of the department of veterans services and of veterans service commissions, and obtain information about the rights of, and the benefits and services available to, veterans and their dependents;

- (O) Advertising, in print, on radio and television, and otherwise, the rights of, and the benefits and services available to, veterans and their dependents;
- (P) Developing and advocating improved benefits and services for, and improved delivery of benefits and services to, veterans and their dependents;
- (Q) Searching for, identifying, and reviewing statutory and administrative policies that relate to veterans and their dependents and reporting to the general assembly statutory and administrative policies that should be consolidated in whole or in part within the organization of the department of veterans services to unify funding, delivery, and accounting of statutory and administrative policy expressions that relate particularly to veterans and their dependents;
- (R) Encouraging veterans service commissions to innovate and otherwise to improve efficiency in delivering benefits and services to veterans and their dependents and to report successful innovations and efficiencies to the director of veterans services;
- (S) Publishing and encouraging adoption of successful innovations and efficiencies veterans service commissions have achieved in delivering benefits and services to veterans and their dependents;
- (T) Establishing advisory committees, in addition to the veterans advisory committee established under division (J) of this section, on veterans issues;
- (U) Developing and maintaining a relationship with the United States department of veterans affairs, seeking optimal federal benefits and services for Ohio veterans and their dependents, and encouraging veterans service commissions to maximize the federal benefits and services to which veterans and their dependents are entitled;
- (V) Developing and maintaining relationships with the several veterans organizations, encouraging the organizations in their efforts at assisting veterans and their dependents, and advocating for adequate state subsidization of the organizations;
- (W) Requiring the several veterans organizations that receive funding from the state annually, not later than the thirtieth day of July, to report to the director of veterans services and prescribing the form and content of the report;
- (X) Reviewing the reports submitted to the director under division (W) of this section within thirty days of receipt and informing the veterans organization of any deficiencies that exist in the organization's report and that funding will not be released until the deficiencies have been corrected and a satisfactory report submitted;
- (Y) Releasing funds and processing payments to veterans organizations when a report submitted to the director under division (W) of this section has been reviewed and determined to be satisfactory;
- (Z) Furnishing copies of all reports that the director of veterans services has determined have been submitted satisfactorily under division (W) of this section to the chairperson of the finance committees of the general assembly;

- (AA) Investigating complaints against county veterans services commissioners and county veterans service officers if the director reasonably believes the investigation to be appropriate and necessary;
- (BB) Developing and maintaining a web site that is accessible by veterans and their dependents and provides a link to the web site of each state agency that issues a license, certificate, or other authorization permitting an individual to engage in an occupation or occupational activity;
- (CC) Encouraging state agencies to conduct outreach efforts through which veterans and their dependents can learn about available job and education benefits;
- (DD) Informing state agencies about changes in statutes and rules that affect veterans and their dependents;
- (EE) Assisting licensing agencies in adopting rules under section 5903.03 of the Revised Code;
- (FF) Administering the provision of grants from the military injury relief fund under section <u>5902.05</u> of the Revised Code;
- (GG) Issuing a county veterans service officer certification or county veterans service commissioner certification in accordance with Chapter 4796. of the Revised Code to an applicant if the applicant holds a license or certification in another state or the applicant has satisfactory work experience, a government certification, or a private certification as described in that chapter as a county veterans service officer or county veterans service commissioner, or in a position that is the equivalent to county veterans service officer or county veterans service commissioner, in a state that does not issue that license or certification;
- (HH) Taking any other actions required by this chapter.

Amended by 134th General Assembly, SB 131, SB 259, eff. 12/29/2023

5902.03 Duplicating certificates of discharge and separation.

The director of veterans services may microfilm or otherwise duplicate all or any part of copies of original certificates of discharge and separation submitted by Ohio veterans.

The director may prepare and maintain files of such microfilmed certificates of discharge and separation in such manner that they may readily be available for the use of the department of veterans services, authorized veterans service officers of the several congressionally chartered veterans organizations, and county veterans service officers of the several counties of the state in support of applications for compensation, pension, medical, or domiciliary care, or other state and federal benefits provided for eligible veterans or their dependents or survivors.

The director may make copies of such microfilmed certificates of discharge and separation for storage under secure conditions to assure their preservation, and for supply to qualified veterans or their dependents or survivors or to interested and authorized veterans organizations to aid such organizations in their programs of veterans aid and assistance.

Amended by 127th General Assembly, Senate Bill 289, eff. 8/22/2008

5902.04 Director to furnish information and advice to veterans.

(A) Upon application, the director of veterans services shall furnish necessary instructions and advice to the veterans of the state, their heirs, or their legal representatives, respecting their

claims against the United States or the state for pensions, bounty, bonus, back pay, or otherwise, by reason of military service.

- (B) The director or the director's representative may examine the files of any veterans service commission that pertain to either of the following classes of persons to determine the custody, use, or confidentiality of any documents in those files:
- (1) Applicants for, or recipients or former recipients of, financial assistance under sections $\underline{5901.01}$ to $\underline{5901.15}$ of the Revised Code;
- (2) Applicants for federal, state, or county benefits under those sections.
- (C) (1) No information or documents obtained by examinations conducted under division (B) of this section shall be considered part of the public records of the department of veterans services. The director may disclose information or documents that the director obtains pursuant to an examination conducted under division (B) of this section and that personally identify an applicant, recipient, or former recipient described in that division, if either of the following applies:
- (a) The director considers the disclosure necessary to enforce compliance with Chapter 5901. of the Revised Code.
- (b) For the purposes and under the circumstances authorized under division (E) of section <u>5901.09</u> of the Revised Code.
- (2) In all other cases, the director shall maintain the confidentiality of information or documents that the director obtains pursuant to an examination under division (B) of this section and that personally identify an applicant, recipient, or former recipient described in that division.

Amended by 127th General Assembly, Senate Bill 289, eff. 8/22/2008

5902.05 Military injury relief fund.

- (A) There is hereby created in the state treasury the military injury relief fund, which shall consist of money contributed to it under sections 4503.535 and 5747.113 of the Revised Code and of contributions made directly to it. Any person or entity may contribute directly to the fund in addition to or independently of the income tax refund contribution system established in section 5747.113 of the Revised Code.
- (B) Upon application, the director of veterans services shall grant money in the fund to individuals injured while in active service as a member of the armed forces of the United States while serving after October 7, 2001, and to individuals diagnosed with post-traumatic stress disorder while serving, or after having served, after October 7, 2001.
- (C) An individual who receives a grant under this section is precluded from receiving additional grants under this section during the same state fiscal year but is not precluded from being considered for or receiving other assistance offered by the department of veterans services.
- (D) The director shall adopt rules under Chapter 119. of the Revised Code establishing:
- (1) Forms and procedures by which individuals may apply for a grant under this section;
- (2) Criteria for reviewing, evaluating, and approving or denying grant applications;
- (3) Criteria for determining the amount of grants awarded under this section;
- (4) Definitions and standards applicable to determining whether an individual meets the requirements established in division (B) of this section;
- (5) The process for appealing eligibility determinations; and

- (6) Any other rules necessary to administer the grant program established in this section.
- (E) An eligibility determination, a grant approval, or a grant denial made under this section may not be appealed under Chapter 119. or any other provision of the Revised Code.

Amended by 131st General Assembly, HB 64, eff. 9/29/2015

5902.06 Director shall keep claims register.

The director of veterans services shall keep a register showing the situation and disposition of any claim filed by the department of veterans services.

Amended by 127th General Assembly, Senate Bill 289, eff. 8/22/2008

5902.07 Director may administrator oaths - seal.

The director of veterans services may administer oaths. The director's official certificate shall be received in evidence without further authentication.

Amended by 127th General Assembly, Senate Bill 289, eff. 8/22/2008

5902.08 Prohibition.

The director of veterans services, or any employee thereof, shall not receive directly or indirectly a fee or reward of any kind from a claimant or other person for services rendered or to be rendered, relating to a duty required of the director or employee under sections <u>5902.01</u> to <u>5902.07</u> of the Revised Code, or in any manner connected therewith.

Amended by 127th General Assembly, Senate Bill 289, eff. 8/22/2008

5902.20 Veteran peer counseling network.

The veteran peer counseling network is established. The purpose of the network is to offer veterans in this state the opportunity to work with other veterans in order to assist with overcoming the issues unique to veterans in this state. The director of veterans services shall adopt rules, in accordance with Chapter 119. of the Revised Code, to administer the network.

Added by 132nd General Assembly, HB 49, eff. 9/29/2017

5902.21 Program to assist receipt of federal military-related health care benefits.

The director of veterans services shall develop, institute, and monitor a program under which the department of veterans services assists individuals, who are medical assistance recipients, to obtain federal military-related health care benefits. As used in this section, "federal military-related health care benefits" has the meaning defined in section 5160.471 of the Revised Code.

Added by 131st General Assembly, SB 10, §1, eff. 3/23/2016

5902.22 Sports gaming profits veterans fund.

(A) As used in this section, "armed forces" and "veteran" have the same meanings as in section 5903.01 of the Revised Code.

- (B) The sports gaming profits veterans fund is hereby created in the state treasury. Interest earned on the moneys in the fund shall be credited to the fund. The director of veterans services shall use all moneys credited to the fund for the following purposes:
- (1) For the direct benefit of veterans and their spouses and dependents, for the following purposes:
- (a) Job training or assistance for job retraining;
- (b) Assistance during a period of unemployment due to prolonged physical or mental illness or disability of the veteran resulting from service in the armed forces;
- (c) Individual counseling or family counseling programs;
- (d) Family support group programs or programs for children of members of the armed forces;
- (e) Honor guard services.
- (2) To provide additional funding to a county veterans service commission to alleviate inequality of funding among such commissions;
- (3) To provide additional funding to a county veterans service commission in response to an emergency or declared disaster;
- (4) To provide additional funding to an Ohio veterans home established under Chapter 5907. of the Revised Code;
- (5) To provide funding to a program administered by the Ohio national guard that provides support to members of the armed forces and their families, especially during deployments.

Added by 134th General Assembly, HB29, eff. 3/23/2022

5902.99 Penalty.

Whoever violates section <u>5902.08</u> of the Revised Code shall be fined not more than five hundred dollars or imprisoned not more than thirty days, or both.

Added by 120th General Assembly, HB 448, eff. 7/22/1994

Chapter 5903: VETERANS – TITLE 59: VETERANS' RIGHTS

5903.01 Definitions.

As used in this chapter:

"Armed forces" means the armed forces of the United States, including the army, navy, air force, marine corps, space force, coast guard, or any reserve components of those forces; the national guard of any state; the commissioned corps of the United States public health service; the merchant marine service during wartime; such other service as may be designated by congress; or the Ohio organized militia when engaged in full-time national guard duty for a period of more than thirty days.

"License" means a license, certificate, permit, or other authorization issued or conferred by a licensing agency under which a licensee may engage in a profession, occupation, or occupational activity.

"Licensee" means a person to whom all of the following apply:

- (A) The person has been issued a license by a licensing agency.
- (B) The person has been a member of the armed forces.
- (C) The person has served on active duty, whether inside or outside the United States, for a period in excess of thirty-one days.

"Licensing agency" means any state department, division, board, commission, agency, or other state governmental unit authorized by the Revised Code to issue a license.

"Service member" means any person who is serving in the armed forces.

"Merchant marine" includes the United States army transport service and the United States naval transport service.

"Veteran" means any person who has completed service in the armed forces, including the national guard of any state, or a reserve component of the armed forces, who has been discharged under honorable conditions from the armed forces or who has been transferred to the reserve with evidence of satisfactory service.

Amended by 135th General Assembly, SB 154, eff. 3/20/2025

5903.02 Reinstatement and reemployment rights.

- (A) As used in this section:
- (1) "Uniformed services" and "service in the uniformed services" have the same meanings as in section <u>124.23</u> of the Revised Code.
- (2) "Organized militia of another state" means the national guard of any state, territory, or district other than Ohio or any military or naval force recognized under the laws of a state, district, or territory other than Ohio.
- (B) Any person whose absence from a position of employment is necessitated by reason of service in the uniformed services, in the Ohio organized militia, or in the organized militia of another state has the same reinstatement and reemployment rights in this state that a person has under the "Uniformed Services Employment and Reemployment Rights Act of 1994." A person who is denied a reinstatement or reemployment right pursuant to this section has a cause of action for the same remedies as a person has under the "Uniformed Services Employment and Reemployment Rights Act of 1994." The court of common pleas, notwithstanding any sum limitation established by decision of a board of county commissioners pursuant to section 2305.01 of the Revised Code, shall have exclusive original jurisdiction for such actions, unless the defendant is the state, in which case the court of claims shall have exclusive original jurisdiction pursuant to division (C) of this section.
- (C) A person who seeks reinstatement or reemployment rights with the state, pursuant to this section, may bring an action in the court of claims pursuant to this section or section 4323 of the "Uniformed Services Employment and Reemployment Rights Act of 1994."
- (D) In any action or proceeding to enforce a provision of this section, the court shall require the defendant to pay the court costs if the plaintiff is the prevailing party in the action or proceeding.

If the plaintiff is not the prevailing party, the court may use its discretion in allocating court costs among the parties to the action.

- (E) In any action or proceeding to enforce a provision of this section the court may award to a plaintiff who prevails in such action or proceeding reasonable attorney's fees, expert witness fees, and other litigation expenses. If the plaintiff does not receive a favorable judgment from the court in that action, the court shall not require the plaintiff to reimburse the state or the defendant for attorney's fees.
- (F) The director of administrative services shall adopt rules in accordance with Chapter 119. of the Revised Code for the implementation of this chapter with respect to persons in public service.
- (G) A person is not entitled to a remedy in a state action under division (B) or (C) of this section if the person has received a remedy based on the same facts under the "Uniformed Services Employment and Reemployment Rights Act of 1994." If a person has received a remedy in a state action under division (B) or (C) of this section and then receives a remedy based on the same facts under the "Uniformed Services Employment and Reemployment Rights Act of 1994," the person shall reimburse the judgment debtor the value of the federal remedy or the state remedy whichever is less.

Amended by 135th General Assembly, SB 154, eff. 3/20/2025

5903.03 Occupational licensing.

- (A) As used in this section, "military program of training" means a training program of the armed forces.
- (B) Notwithstanding any provision of the Revised Code to the contrary, a licensing agency shall consider an applicant for a license:
- (1) To have met the educational requirement for that license if the applicant has completed a military program of training and has been awarded a military primary specialty at a level that is substantially equivalent to or exceeds the educational requirement for that license; and
- (2) To have met the experience requirement for that license if the applicant has served in that military primary specialty under honorable conditions for a period of time that is substantially equivalent to or exceeds the experience requirement for that license.
- (C) Each licensing agency, not later than June 30, 2014, shall adopt rules under Chapter 119. of the Revised Code regarding which military programs of training, military primary specialties, and lengths of service are substantially equivalent to or exceed the educational and experience requirements for each license that agency issues.

Amended by 130th General Assembly, HB 488, eff. 9/16/2014

5903.04 Adoption of rules.

Each licensing agency shall adopt rules under Chapter 119. of the Revised Code to establish and implement all of the following:

- (A) A process to obtain from each applicant documentation and additional information necessary to determine if the applicant is a service member or veteran, or the spouse or surviving spouse of a service member or veteran;
- (B) A process to record, track, and monitor applications that have been received from a service member, veteran, or the spouse or surviving spouse of a service member or veteran; and

(C) A process to prioritize and expedite certification or licensing for each applicant who is a service member, veteran, or the spouse or a surviving spouse of a service member or veteran.

In establishing these processes, the licensing agency shall include any special accommodations that may be appropriate for applicants facing imminent deployment, and for applicants for a temporary license or certificate under division (C) of section 4743.04 of the Revised Code.

Amended by 134th General Assembly, SB131, eff. 12/29/2023

5903.05 Veteran's education benefits.

A licensing agency shall apply for approval to the state approving agency at the Ohio department of veterans services as required under 38 U.S.C. 3672(a) to enable an eligible person or veteran to receive education benefits through the United States department of veterans affairs.

Added by 130th General Assembly, HB 488, eff. 9/16/2014

5903.10 Renewal of license or certificate.

- (A) A holder of an expired license or certificate from this state or any political subdivision or agency of the state to practice a trade or profession shall be granted a renewal of the license or certificate by the issuing board or authority at the usual cost without penalty and without re-examination if not otherwise disqualified because of mental or physical disability and if either of the following applies:
- (1) The license or certificate was not renewed because of the holder's service in the armed forces.
- (2) The license or certificate was not renewed because the holder's spouse served in the armed forces of the United States or a reserve component of the armed forces and the service resulted in the holder's absence from this state.
- (B) A renewal shall not be granted under division (A) of this section unless the holder or the holder's spouse, whichever is applicable, has presented satisfactory evidence of the service member's discharge under honorable conditions or release under honorable conditions from active duty or national guard duty within six months after the discharge or release.

Amended by 130th General Assembly, HB 488, eff. 9/16/2014

5903.11 Veteran priority system to provide maximum employment and training opportunities to veterans.

- (A) Any federally funded employment and training program administered by any state agency including, but not limited to, the "Workforce Innovation and Opportunity Act," 29 U.S.C. 3101 et seq., shall include a veteran priority system to provide maximum employment and training opportunities to veterans and eligible persons within each targeted group as established by federal law and state and federal policy in the service area. Disabled veterans, veterans of the Vietnam era, other veterans, and eligible persons shall receive preference over nonveterans within each targeted group in the provision of employment and training services available through these programs as required by this section.
- (B) Each state agency shall refer qualified applicants to job openings and training opportunities in programs described in division (A) of this section in the following order of priority:
- (1) Special disabled veterans;

(2) Veterans of the Vietnam era;	
(3) Disabled veterans;	
(4) All other veterans;	

- (5) Other eligible persons;
- (6) Nonveterans.
- (C) Each state agency providing employment and training services to veterans and eligible persons under programs described in division (A) of this section shall submit an annual written report to the speaker of the house of representatives and the president of the senate on the services that it provides to veterans and eligible persons. Each such agency shall report separately on all entitlement programs, employment or training programs, and any other programs that it provides to each class of persons described in divisions (B)(1) to (6) of this section. Each such agency shall also report on action taken to ensure compliance with statutory requirements. Compliance and reporting procedures shall be in accordance with the reporting procedures then in effect for all employment and training programs described in division (A) of this section, with the addition of veterans as a separate reporting module.
- (D) All state agencies that administer federally funded employment and training programs described in division (A) of this section for veterans and eligible persons shall do all of the following:
- (1) Ensure that veterans are treated with courtesy and respect at all state governmental facilities;
- (2) Give priority in referral to jobs to qualified veterans and other eligible persons;
- (3) Give priority in referral to and enrollment in training programs to qualified veterans and other eligible persons;
- (4) Give preferential treatment to special disabled veterans in the provision of all needed state services;
- (5) Provide information and effective referral assistance to veterans and other eligible persons regarding needed benefits and services that may be obtained through other agencies.
- (E) As used in this section:
- (1) "Special disabled veteran" means a veteran who is entitled to, or who but for the receipt of military pay would be entitled to, compensation under any law administered by the department of veterans affairs for a disability rated at thirty per cent or more or a person who was discharged or released from active duty because of a service-connected disability.
- (2) "Veteran of the Vietnam era" means an eligible veteran who served on active duty for a period of more than one hundred eighty days, any part of which occurred from August 5, 1964, through May 7, 1975, and was discharged or released therefrom with other than a dishonorable discharge or a person who was discharged or released from active duty for a service-connected disability if any part of the active duty was performed from August 5, 1964, through May 7, 1975.

- (3) "Disabled veteran" means a veteran who is entitled to, or who but for the receipt of military retirement pay would be entitled to compensation, under any law administered by the department of veterans affairs and who is not a special disabled veteran.
- (4) "Eligible veteran" means a person who served on active duty for more than one hundred eighty days and was discharged or released from active duty with other than a dishonorable discharge or a person who was discharged or released from active duty because of a service-connected disability.
- (5) "Other eligible person" means one of the following:
- (a) The spouse of any person who died of a service-connected disability;
- (b) The spouse of any member of the armed forces serving on active duty who at the time of the spouse's application for assistance under any program described in division (A) of this section is listed pursuant to the "Act of September 6, 1966," 80 Stat. 629, 37 U.S.C.A. 556, and the regulations issued pursuant thereto, as having been in one or more of the following categories for a total of ninety or more days:
- (i) Missing in action;
- (ii) Captured in line of duty by a hostile force;
- (iii) Forcibly detained or interned in line of duty by a foreign government or power.
- (c) The spouse of any person who has a total disability permanent in nature resulting from a service-connected disability or the spouse of a veteran who died while such a disability was in existence.
- (6) "Veteran" means a veteran as defined in section <u>5903.01</u> of the Revised Code who was a member of the armed forces of the United States for a period of one hundred eighty days or more; a person who was discharged or released from active duty because of a service-connected disability; or a person who served as a member of the United States merchant marine and to whom either of the following applies:
- (a) The person has an honorable report of separation from active duty military service, form DD214 or DD215; or
- (b) The person served in the United States merchant marine between December 7, 1941, and December 31, 1946, and died on active duty while serving in a war zone during that period of service.
- (7) "Employment program" means a program which provides referral of individuals to employer job openings in the federal, state, or private sector.
- (8) "Training program" means any program that upgrades the employability of qualified applicants.
- (9) "Entitlement program" means any program that enlists specific criteria in determining eligibility, including but not limited to the existence in special segments of the general population of specific financial needs.

(10) "Targeted group" means a group of persons designated by federal law or regulations or by state law to receive special assistance under an employment and training program described in division (A) of this section.

Amended by 132nd General Assembly, HB 49, eff. 9/29/2017

5903.12 Extension of continuing education reporting period for licensee called to active duty military service. Effective 4/9/2025.

(A) As used in this section:

"Continuing education" means continuing education required of a licensee by law and includes, but is not limited to, the continuing education required of licensees under sections 3737.881, 3776.07, 3781.10, 4701.11, 4715.141, 4715.25, 4717.09, 4723.24, 4725.16, 4725.51, 4730.14, 4730.49, 4731.155, 4731.282, 4734.25, 4735.141, 4741.16, 4741.19, 4751.24, 4751.25, 4755.63, 4757.33, 4759.06, 4761.06, 4763.07, and 4772.081 of the Revised Code.

"Reporting period" means the period of time during which a licensee must complete the number of hours of continuing education required of the licensee by law.

(B) A licensee may submit an application to a licensing agency, stating that the licensee requires an extension of the current reporting period because the licensee has served on active duty during the current or a prior reporting period. The licensee shall submit proper documentation certifying the active duty service and the length of that active duty service. Upon receiving the application and proper documentation, the licensing agency shall extend the current reporting period by an amount of time equal to the total number of months that the licensee spent on active duty during the current reporting period. For purposes of this division, any portion of a month served on active duty shall be considered one full month.

Amended by 135th General Assembly, SB 95, eff. 4/9/2025

5903.121 Factors used in determining fulfillment of required continuing education.

A licensing agency shall consider relevant education, training, or service completed by a licensee as a member of the armed forces in determining whether a licensee has fulfilled required continuing education.

Amended by 130th General Assembly, HB 488, eff. 9/16/2014

5903.15 Preferential hiring policies.

- (A) As used in this section "employer" means any person who has one or more employees. "Employer" includes an agent of an employer but does not include the state or any agency of the state, and any municipal corporation, county, township, school district, or other political subdivision or any agency or instrumentality thereof.
- (B) An employer may adopt a policy to provide a preference for employment decisions, including hiring, promotion, or retention during a reduction in force, to a service member, veteran, or the spouse or a surviving spouse of a service member or veteran.

- (C) A preference provided under division (B) of this section is not a violation of any state or local equal employment opportunity law. The unlawful discriminatory practices as defined in section 4112.02 of the Revised Code do not make it unlawful for an employer implementing a policy under this section to obtain information about an applicant's military status for the purpose of determining if the applicant is eligible for the preference provided under this policy.
- (D) If an employer elects to adopt a policy described in division (B) of this section, the employer may notify the Ohio department of job and family services. The department of job and family services shall maintain a registry of employers that have a voluntary veterans' preference employment policy as described in this section, which shall be available to the public on the web site maintained by the department. The department of veterans services shall make available on the department's web site a link to the registry.

Added by 130th General Assembly, HB 488, eff. 9/16/2014

5903.99 Penalty.

(f) Residency requirements;

Whoever violates section <u>5903.02</u> of the Revised Code may be fined not more than one thousand dollars or imprisoned not more than six months, or both.

Amended by 127th General Assembly, Senate Bill 289, eff. 8/22/2008

Chapter 4117: LABOR AND INDUSTRY – TITLE 41: PUBLIC EMPLOYEES' COLLECTIVE BARGAINING

4117.10 Terms of agreement.

(A) An agreement between a public employer and an exclusive representative entered into pursuant to this chapter governs the wages, hours, and terms and conditions of public employment covered by the agreement. If the agreement provides for a final and binding arbitration of grievances, public employers, employees, and employee organizations are subject solely to that grievance procedure and the state personnel board of review or civil service commissions have no jurisdiction to receive and determine any appeals relating to matters that were the subject of a final and binding grievance procedure. Where no agreement exists or where an agreement makes no specification about a matter, the public employer and public employees are subject to all applicable state or local laws or ordinances pertaining to the wages, hours, and terms and conditions of employment for public employees. All of the following prevail over conflicting provisions of agreements between employee organizations and public employers:

employees are subject to all applicable state or local laws or ordinances pertaining to the wages, hours, and terms and conditions of employment for public employees. All of the following prevail over conflicting provisions of agreements between employee organizations and public employers
(1) Laws pertaining to any of the following subjects:
(a) Civil rights;
(b) Affirmative action;
(c) Unemployment compensation;
(d) Workers' compensation;
(e) The retirement of public employees;

- (g) The minimum educational requirements contained in the Revised Code pertaining to public education including the requirement of a certificate by the fiscal officer of a school district pursuant to section <u>5705.41</u> of the Revised Code;
- (h) The provisions of division (A) of section <u>124.34</u> of the Revised Code governing the disciplining of officers and employees who have been convicted of a felony;
- (i) The minimum standards promulgated by the director of education and workforce pursuant to division (D) of section <u>3301.07</u> of the Revised Code.
- (2) The law pertaining to the leave of absence and compensation provided under section <u>5923.05</u> of the Revised Code, if the terms of the agreement contain benefits which are less than those contained in that section or the agreement contains no such terms and the public authority is the state or any agency, authority, commission, or board of the state or if the public authority is another entity listed in division (B) of section <u>4117.01</u> of the Revised Code that elects to provide leave of absence and compensation as provided in section <u>5923.05</u> of the Revised Code;
- (3) The law pertaining to the leave established under section $\underline{5906.02}$ of the Revised Code, if the terms of the agreement contain benefits that are less than those contained in section $\underline{5906.02}$ of the Revised Code;
- (4) The law pertaining to excess benefits prohibited under section <u>3345.311</u> of the Revised Code with respect to an agreement between an employee organization and a public employer entered into on or after September 29, 2015.

Except for sections 306.08, 306.12, 306.35, and 4981.22 of the Revised Code and arrangements entered into thereunder, and section 4981.21 of the Revised Code as necessary to comply with section 13(c) of the "Urban Mass Transportation Act of 1964," 87 Stat. 295, 49 U.S.C.A. 1609(c), as amended, and arrangements entered into thereunder, this chapter prevails over any and all other conflicting laws, resolutions, provisions, present or future, except as otherwise specified in this chapter or as otherwise specified by the general assembly. Nothing in this section prohibits or shall be construed to invalidate the provisions of an agreement establishing supplemental workers' compensation or unemployment compensation benefits or exceeding minimum requirements contained in the Revised Code pertaining to public education or the minimum standards promulgated by the director of education and workforce pursuant to division (D) of section 3301.07 of the Revised Code.

(B) The public employer shall submit a request for funds necessary to implement an agreement and for approval of any other matter requiring the approval of the appropriate legislative body to the legislative body within fourteen days of the date on which the parties finalize the agreement, unless otherwise specified, but if the appropriate legislative body is not in session at the time, then within fourteen days after it convenes. The legislative body must approve or reject the submission as a whole, and the submission is deemed approved if the legislative body fails to act within thirty days after the public employer submits the agreement. The parties may specify that those provisions of the agreement not requiring action by a legislative body are effective and operative in accordance with the terms of the agreement, provided there has been compliance with division (C) of this section. If the legislative body rejects the submission of the public employer, either party may reopen all or part of the entire agreement.

As used in this section, "legislative body" includes the governing board of a municipal corporation, school district, college or university, village, township, or board of county commissioners or any other body that has authority to approve the budget of their public jurisdiction and, with regard to the state, "legislative body" means the controlling board.

- (C) The chief executive officer, or the chief executive officer's representative, of each municipal corporation, the designated representative of the board of education of each school district, college or university, or any other body that has authority to approve the budget of their public jurisdiction, the designated representative of the board of county commissioners and of each elected officeholder of the county whose employees are covered by the collective negotiations, and the designated representative of the village or the board of township trustees of each township is responsible for negotiations in the collective bargaining process; except that the legislative body may accept or reject a proposed collective bargaining agreement. When the matters about which there is agreement are reduced to writing and approved by the employee organization and the legislative body, the agreement is binding upon the legislative body, the employer, and the employee organization and employees covered by the agreement.
- (D) There is hereby established an office of collective bargaining in the department of administrative services for the purpose of negotiating with and entering into written agreements between state agencies, departments, boards, and commissions and the exclusive representative on matters of wages, hours, terms and other conditions of employment and the continuation, modification, or deletion of an existing provision of a collective bargaining agreement. Nothing in any provision of law to the contrary shall be interpreted as excluding the bureau of workers' compensation and the industrial commission from the preceding sentence. This office shall not negotiate on behalf of other statewide elected officials or boards of trustees of state institutions of higher education who shall be considered as separate public employers for the purposes of this chapter; however, the office may negotiate on behalf of these officials or trustees where authorized by the officials or trustees. The staff of the office of collective bargaining are in the unclassified service. The director of administrative services shall fix the compensation of the staff.

The office of collective bargaining shall:

- (1) Assist the director in formulating management's philosophy for public collective bargaining as well as planning bargaining strategies;
- (2) Conduct negotiations with the exclusive representatives of each employee organization;
- (3) Coordinate the state's resources in all mediation, fact-finding, and arbitration cases as well as in all labor disputes;
- (4) Conduct systematic reviews of collective bargaining agreements for the purpose of contract negotiations;
- (5) Coordinate the systematic compilation of data by all agencies that is required for negotiating purposes;
- (6) Prepare and submit an annual report and other reports as requested to the governor and the general assembly on the implementation of this chapter and its impact upon state government.

Amended by 135th General Assembly, HB 33, eff. 10/3/2023

OHIO ADMINISTRATIVE CODE (OAC)

Chapter 5902-1: REQUIREMENTS FOR SERVICE COMMISSIONERS AND OFFICERS

5902-1-01 Training and education.

For purposes of Chapter 5902-1 of the Administrative Code:

- (A) Training and education curricula for the accreditation of county veterans service officers shall be determined by the director of the Ohio department of veterans services or the directors designee, in consultation with the Ohio state association of county veterans service officers;
- (B) Training and education curricula for the training of county veterans service commissioners shall be determined by the director of the Ohio department of veterans services or the directors designee, in consultation with the Ohio state association of county veterans service commissioners:
- (C) In each case, training will be selected from the following list of topics:
- (1) Veterans' benefits, including but not limited to
- (a) Claims, appeals, survivor benefits, death benefits, national and state cemeteries;
- (b) Financial assistance; housing and small business loan programs; social security administration;
- (c) Individual unemployability compensation, presumptive disabilities, ratings;
- (d) Women veteran programs;
- (e) Issues related or specific to service in the reserves or national guard;
- (f) Programs intended for disabled veterans;
- (2) Education programs for veterans;
- (3) Employment resources, including but not limited to
- (a) Vocational rehabilitation;
- (b) Resources for post-9/11 veterans;
- (c) Survivors' and dependents' educational assistance;
- (4) Financial counseling, including but not limited to
- (a) Debt management;
- (b) Insurance programs;

(c) Retiree issues;
(5) Veteran healthcare, including but not limited to
(a) Employee health;
(b) Environmental exposures;
(c) Mental health issues and resources;
(d) Traumatic brain injury;
(e) Suicide prevention;
(f) Nursing home, domiciliary, and other medical care;
(6) Operations of county veterans service commissions and other veterans' resources and programs, including but not limited to
(a) Accreditation by the United States department of veterans affairs or by veterans service organizations;
(b) Consumer protection;
(c) Customer awareness;
(d) Federal veterans' affairs;
(e) State veterans' affairs;
(f) Equal opportunity and sexual harassment provisions;
(g) Workplace violence provisions;
(h) Ethics law;
(i) Veteran homelessness programs;
(j) Labor law;
(k) Public records law;
(I) Records (e.g. discharges and upgrades) management;
(m) Board of veterans appeals;
(n) United States veterans affairs regional office updates and trends;

(o) Veterans health administration;

- (p) Shared services;
- (g) Any federal, state, and local veterans' programs;
- (r) Sunshine law;
- (7) Additional topics required by the United States department of veterans affairs or otherwise considered beneficial to Ohio's veterans by the director of the Ohio department of veterans services;
- (D) Dates, times, and locations of training and education opportunities shall be maintained on the website of the Ohio department of veterans services.

Authorized By: 5902.02 Amplifies: 5902.02

Five Year Review Date: 1/21/2028

Effective: 1/23/2023

5902-1-02 Education, training, and certification for county veterans service commissioners.

(A) In order to be recertified, county veterans service commissioners shall earn annually no fewer than five credits per calendar year. Additional credits or training may be required at the discretion of the director of the Ohio department of veterans services. The director, or the director's designee, shall determine the curriculum for each training conference, school, or other event provided by the Ohio state association of county veterans service commissioners, in consultation with that association. Newly-appointed commissioners shall attend a special course of instruction conducted by the department of veterans services and earn credit at the discretion of the director of the department of veterans services. Each commissioner shall sign a standards of conduct form.

- (B) County veterans service commissioners shall attend or take:
- (1) All training or education required by the director of the department of veterans services; and
- (2) At least one of the following:
- (a) The Ohio state association of county veterans service commissioners' spring conference; or
- (b) The Ohio state association of county veterans service commissioners' fall conference; and
- (3) Any other education or training approved by the director of the department of veterans services and needed for service commissioners to earn the required number of credits annually.

Authorized By: ORC <u>5902.02</u> Amplifies: ORC <u>5902.02</u>

Five Year Review Date: 8/31/2027

Effective: 1/1/2017

5902-1-03 Criteria for hiring county veterans service officers.

(A) Minimum qualifications for hiring veterans service officers:

- (1) Shall be a veteran with an honorable discharge/separation;
- (2) Shall be a high school graduate or equivalent;
- (3) Shall satisfactorily complete a background investigation by a local law enforcement agency.
- (B) Hiring preference shall be given to veterans with a service-connected disability.

Authorized By: ORC <u>5902.02</u> Amplifies: ORC <u>5902.02</u>

Five Year Review Date: 8/31/2027

Effective Dates: 1/1/2017

5902-1-05 Accrediting and certifying county veterans service officers.

In order to hold the position of a county veterans service officer, an individual shall be accredited by the Ohio department of veterans services within eighteen months of being hired. The department of veterans services shall certify an individual's accreditation to the United States department of veterans affairs upon completion of each of the following requirements:

- (A) Attend state association of county veterans service officers new service officers school;
- (B) Achieve a minimum score of at least seventy per cent on the certification test administered by the department of veterans services.

County veterans service officers not yet accredited and within the initial eighteen months of employment shall have all benefit applications reviewed by an accredited service officer prior to submission to the veterans benefits administration.

Authorized By: ORC <u>5902.02</u> Amplifies: ORC <u>5902.02</u>

Five Year Review Date: 8/31/2027

Effective Dates: 1/1/2017

5902-1-06 Education of county veterans service officers.

- (A) County veterans service officers shall earn no fewer than five credits per calendar year beginning in the first full calendar year of employment following their accreditation by the Ohio department of veterans services. Additional credits or training may be required at the discretion of the director of the Ohio department of veterans services. At the time the department of veterans services accredits county veterans service officers, the department shall send each service officer notice of accreditation and how many credits the service officer must earn in that calendar year, dependent upon the time of year and training opportunities remaining.
- (B) The director, or the director's designee, shall determine the curriculum for each training conference, school, or other event provided by the Ohio state association of county veterans service officers, in consultation with that association.
- (C) County veterans service officers shall attend or take:
- (1) All training or education required by the director of the department of veterans services; and
- (2) At least one of the following:
- (a) The Ohio state association of county veterans service officers' spring school; or
- (b) The Ohio state association of county veterans service officers' fall school; and

(3) Any other education or training approved by the director of the department of veterans services and needed for service officers to earn the required number of credits annually.

Authorized By: ORC <u>5902.02</u> Amplifies: ORC <u>5902.02</u>

Five Year Review Date: 8/31/2027

Effective Dates: 1/1/2017

5902-1-08 Revocation of certification of county veterans service commissioners.

- (A) The director of the department of veterans services, at their discretion, shall promptly investigate allegations of incompetence, misfeasance, malfeasance, nonfeasance, and unethical behavior on the part of a veterans service commissioner for purposes of determining whether such commissioner's certification shall be revoked.
- (B) Such investigation may be performed by the director personally or such other individual as the director may designate.
- (C) At the conclusion of the investigation, the director shall make a determination as to whether the certification of the commissioner should be revoked and shall issue a report of that determination. Copies of the report shall be sent to the commissioner who was the subject of the investigation and to the administrative judge of the common pleas court of the county where the commissioner serves.
- (D) If the director's report indicates that the grounds are insufficient to warrant the revocation of the commissioner's certification, the report may also include other findings and recommendations the director may deem appropriate.
- (E) If the director's report indicates that the grounds are sufficient to warrant the revocation of the commissioner's certification, the report shall notify the commissioner who was the subject of the investigation that they may appeal such determination to the veterans advisory committee within thirty days of the issuance of the report.
- (F) In the case of a timely appeal to the veterans advisory committee, the committee chairperson shall appoint a subcommittee of three committee members, all of whom shall be representatives of the state association of county veterans services commissioners, to hear the appeal, except that if any of the three representatives are from the same county as the individual filing the appeal, the chairperson shall appoint a substitute advisory committee member to the subcommittee who also serves as a county veterans service commissioner. If the chairperson cannot, for any reason, fill the three positions on the subcommittee with advisory committee members who are also county veteran service commissioners, they shall contact the state association of county veterans service commissioners for the purpose of the temporary appointment of one or more association members to the advisory committee for the limited purpose of serving on the appeal subcommittee. The subcommittee shall conduct a hearing and shall make a report and recommendation to the full committee at the next scheduled meeting. The veterans advisory committee shall then vote, by a simple majority of those in attendance at the meeting, either to affirm the director's decision to revoke the commissioner's certification or to overrule the director's determination. If the advisory committee votes to overrule the director's determination, the certification shall not be revoked.
- (G) If the director's determination that a county veterans service commissioner's certification shall be revoked is not appealed to the advisory committee, or if appealed, the director's determination is affirmed by the advisory committee, such determination shall be reported to the

administrative judge of the common pleas court of the county where the veterans service commissioner serves and to the United States department of veterans affairs as soon as practical.

Authorized By: ORC <u>5902.02</u> Amplifies: ORC <u>5902.02</u>

Five Year Review Date: 1/21/2028

Effective Dates: 1/23/2023

5902-1-09 Revocation of certification of county veterans service officers.

- (A) The director of the department of veterans services, at their discretion, shall promptly investigate allegations of incompetence, misfeasance, malfeasance, nonfeasance, and unethical behavior on the part of a veterans service officer for purpose of determining whether such officer's certification shall be revoked.
- (B) Such investigation may be performed by the director personally or such other individual as the director may designate.
- (C) At the conclusion of the investigation, the director shall make a determination as to whether the certification of the service officer should be revoked and shall issue a report of that determination. Copies of the report shall be sent to the service officer who was the subject of the investigation and to the veterans service commission of the county where the service officer serves.
- (D) If the director's report indicates that the grounds are insufficient to warrant the revocation of the service officer's certification, the report may also include other findings and recommendations the director may deem appropriate.
- (E) If the director's report indicates that the grounds are sufficient to warrant the revocation of the service officer's certification, the report shall notify the service officer who was the subject of the investigation that they may appeal such determination to the veterans advisory committee within thirty days of the issuance of the report.
- (F) In the case of a timely appeal to the veterans advisory committee, the committee chairperson shall appoint a subcommittee of three committee members, all of whom shall be representatives of the state association of county veterans service officers, to hear the appeal, except that if any of the three representatives are from the same county as the individual filing the appeal, the chairperson shall appoint a substitute advisory committee member to the subcommittee who also serves as a county veterans service officer. If the chairperson cannot, for any reason, fill the three positions on the subcommittee with advisory committee members who are also county veteran service officers, they shall contact the state association of county veterans service officers for the purpose of the temporary appointment of one or more association members to the advisory committee for the limited purpose of serving on the appeal subcommittee. The subcommittee shall conduct a hearing and shall make a report and recommendation to the full committee at the next scheduled meeting. The veterans advisory committee shall then vote, by a simple majority of those in attendance at the meeting, either to affirm the director's decision to revoke the service officer's certification or to overrule the director's determination. If the advisory committee votes to overrule the director's determination, the certification shall not be revoked.
- (G) If the director's determination that a county veterans service officer's certification shall be revoked is not appealed to the advisory committee, or if appealed, the director's determination is

affirmed by the advisory committee, such determination shall be reported to the veterans service commission of the county where the veterans service officer serves and to the United States department of veterans affairs as soon as practical.

Authorized By: ORC <u>5902.02</u> Amplifies: ORC <u>5902.02</u>

Five Year Review Date: 1/21/2028

Effective Dates: 1/23/2023

Chapter 5902-2: MEETINGS

5902-2-01 Ohio open meeting laws and roberts rules of order.

- (A) The veterans advisory committee, established by the director of the department of veterans services in accordance with section $\underline{5902.02}$ of the Revised Code, will follow the Ohio open meeting laws as codified in section $\underline{121.22}$ of the Revised Code.
- (B) Each organization as specified in division (J) of section <u>5902.02</u> of the Revised Code shall name a representative(s) to the committee to represent the organization by November first of each year and to forward the name(s) of the representative(s) to the director of the department of veterans services.
- (C) The quorum requirements of the department of veterans services veterans advisory committee is established at fifty per cent of those currently appointed to the veterans advisory committee.
- (D) A simple majority of the committee present is required to approve or oppose any issue before the committee.
- (E) The committee meetings shall be conducted in accordance with Robert's Rules of Order.
- (F) The committee shall elect a chairperson and a vice chairperson at the committee's annual meeting which shall be conducted on the last Thursday of October of each year. The staff of the department of veterans services shall perform the duties of secretary.
- (G) In addition to the annual meeting of the committee, the committee shall conduct other regular meetings as the chairperson or the director of the department of veterans services shall deem necessary, but no less often than once per quarter at times and places determined by the chairperson or the director. The veterans advisory committee secretary shall mail notice of each meeting to each member of the committee at least seven days prior to the scheduled date of the meeting, except in the case of a special emergency meeting, for which the seven-day notice requirement shall be shortened to forty-eight hours. Such notice may be delivered by e-mail attachment. Meeting notices shall contain the date, time, and place of the meeting, and in the case of special emergency meetings, shall include the purpose of the meeting.
- (H) Changes in the rules for the operation of the veterans advisory committee requires a majority vote of those currently appointed to the committee.
- (I) Voting by the veterans advisory committee shall be conducted as follows:
- (1) For voting to endorse, oppose, or take any other official action or stance regarding legislation presented to the committee, all votes shall be by roll call and in rotating order.
- (2) For voting to hold an executive session for the reasons outlined in division (G) of section <u>121.22</u> of the Revised Code, all votes shall be by roll call and in rotating order.
- (3) For all other business, the committee may vote by show of hands, voice vote, or other methods prescribed in Robert's Rules of Order unless a committee member moves to vote by roll call and is seconded by another member.
- (J) Minutes of the veterans advisory committee shall be sent to members of the committee at least seven days prior to the next regularly scheduled veterans advisory committee meeting.

- (K) Any motions to be considered from a sub-committee by the veterans advisory committee shall be made in writing, on an approved form adopted by the rules committee, and be a permanent part of the official minutes of said meeting(s).
- (L) When a member of the committee fails to attend three meetings within a one year period, the department of veterans services, acting as committee secretary, shall send a notice to that member and the organization represented by that member. This notice shall state that pursuant to section 3.17 of the Revised Code the failure of a committee member to attend three-fifths of all committee meetings within a two year period shall result in the forfeiture of that member's position on the committee.
- (M) Notices of all regular and special meetings of the veterans advisory committee shall be posted and/or disseminated by the department of veterans services, acting as secretary to the committee, as follows:
- (1) The department of veterans services shall post a notice of the dates, times, and locations of each regular meeting on the department's website at least seven days in advance.
- (2) The department of veterans services shall post a notice of the dates, times, and locations of each special meeting on the department's website as far in advance of the meeting as is practical, except that the committee shall not schedule a special meeting, except in cases of an emergency, without giving news media who have requested notification at least twenty-four hours' advance notice. In the event the need for a special meeting is deemed an emergency by the chairman of the committee, the department shall immediately notify news media who have requested advance notification of the date, time, and location of the emergency special meeting.
- (3) Any person, upon request to the committee and payment of a reasonable fee, may obtain reasonable advance notice of all meetings at which any specific type of public business is to be discussed. The requesting person may request the notification by email or such other method(s) as is prescribed in division (F) of section 121.22 of the Revised Code.

Authorized By: ORC <u>5902.02</u> Amplifies: ORC <u>5902.02</u>

Five Year Review Date: 8/31/2027

Effective Dates: 8/1/2016

Chapter 5902-3 EDUCATION, DIPLOMAS, DEGREES

5902-3-01 Education, diplomas and degrees high school diplomas to world war II, Korean conflict, or Vietnam conflict veterans.

- (A) A high school diploma may be awarded to any living World War II, Korean conflict, or Vietnam conflict veteran, or posthumously to a living relative, who left a public or non-public school located in any state prior to graduation in order to serve in the armed forces of the United States, or who left a public or nonpublic school located in any state prior to graduation due to family circumstances and subsequently entered the armed forces of the United States, and meets all of the following criteria:
- (1) The veteran is a current resident of the state of Ohio, or was previously enrolled in any high school in this state, or was a resident of the state of Ohio at the time of death.
- (2) The veteran served at any time during the period of September 16, 1940 to December 31, 1946 or June 27, 1950 to January 31, 1955, or August 5, 1964 (February 28, 1961, for veterans who served "in country" before August 5, 1964) to May 7, 1975 in any branch of the armed forces of the United States, which includes:
- (a) United States army air corps.

- (b) United States air force.
- (c) United States army.
- (d) United States coast guard.
- (e) United States marine corps.
- (f) United States navy.
- (3) The veteran received an honorable discharge from the armed forces of the United States as verified by a certified copy of their discharge or of other proof of service.
- (B) An application verifying all the requirements set forth in paragraph (A) of this rule shall be forwarded, upon completion, to the board of education of any city, exempted village, or local school district or governing authority of any chartered nonpublic school or county education service center in Ohio.
- (1) The person is a current resident of the state of Ohio, or was previously enrolled in any high school in this state, or was a resident of the state of Ohio at the time of death.
- (2) The person left a public or nonpublic school located in any state prior to graduation in order to join the workforce to support their family or to join the war effort; or,
- (3) The person left a public or nonpublic school located in any state prior to graduation due to family circumstances and subsequently joined the workforce or war effort; and,
- (4) The person has not been granted a diploma as provided in section $\underline{3313.61}$ or $\underline{3313.612}$ of the Revised Code, a diploma of adult education as provided in section $\underline{3313.611}$ of the Revised Code or a diploma under this rule.
- (C) An application verifying all the requirements set forth in paragraph (A) or (B) of this rule shall be forwarded, upon completion, to the board of education of any city, exempted village, or local school district or governing authority of any chartered nonpublic school or county education service center in Ohio.

Authorized By: <u>3313.616</u> Amplifies: <u>3313.616</u>

Five Year Review Date: 1/21/2028

Effective Date: 1/23/2023

Chapter 5902-4: PERSIAN GULF, AFGHANISTAN, AND IRAQ CONFLICTS COMPENSATION FUND

5902-4-01 Definitions.

For purposes of Chapter 5902-4 of the Administrative Code, and except as otherwise provided, the following definitions shall apply:

(A) "Afghanistan service" means military service within Afghanistan during the period between October 7, 2001, and the date determined by the president of the United States as the end of the involvement of the United States armed forces in Afghanistan.

- (B) "Child" when used in referring to the child of a deceased veteran, includes a child born as issue of a lawful marriage to which the deceased veteran was a part, a child who was legally adopted by the deceased veteran, the natural child of a deceased female veteran, and the child of a deceased male veteran for whom the parent-child relationship was lawfully established under a court or administrative proceeding.
- (C) "Domestic Service" means service within the territorial limits of the fifty states.
- (D) "Foreign service" means service in locations other than the territorial limits of the fifty states, excluding Persian gulf, Afghanistan, or Iraq service.
- (E) "Iraq service" means military service within Iraq during the period between March 19, 2003, and the date determined by the president of the United States as the end of the involvement in Iraq.
- (F) "Persian gulf service" means military service within the Persian gulf theater of operations during the period between August 2, 1990, and March 3, 1991.
- (G) "Persian gulf theater of operations" means the geographic area determined by the United States department of defense for the awarding of the southwest asia service medal for the period of time between August 2, 1990 through March 3, 1991.
- (H) "United States armed forces" includes the army, air force, navy, marine corps, and coast guard; any active reserve component of such forces; and members of the Ohio national guard serving on active duty.

Authorized By: Section 2r, Article VIII, Ohio Constitution Amplifies: Section 2r, Article VIII, Ohio Constitution

Five Year Review Date: 8/31/2027

Effective Date: 5/17/2010

5902-4-02 Compensation to living current and former armed forces members who served during the Persian gulf, Afghanistan, and Iraq conflicts.

- (A) The Persian gulf, Afghanistan, and Iraq conflicts compensation fund shall be paid out upon the order of the director of the department of veterans services, without necessity of appropriation by the general assembly, in payment of the expenses of administering this section and as compensation as follows to each person who applies properly and meets all of the following requirements:
- (1) The person has served in active duty in the United States armed forces, except active duty for training only, at any time during at least one of the following time periods:
- (a) between August 2, 1990, and March 3, 1991; or
- (b) between October 7, 2001, and the date determined by the president of the United States as the end of involvement of the United States armed forces in Afghanistan; or
- (c) between March 19, 2003, and the date determined by the president of the United States as the end of the involvement of the United States armed forces in Iraq.
- (2) The person was separated from the United States armed forces under honorable conditions, is still serving in active duty service, or remains in any reserve component of the United States armed forces or in the Ohio national guard after serving on active duty.

- (3) The person was an Ohio resident at the start of active duty service and is currently an Ohio resident.
- (B) A person who meets all the requirements of paragraph (A) of this rule is entitled to, and may apply to receive, compensation as follows:
- (1) Fifty dollars for each month of active domestic or foreign service during the compensable periods, not to exceed five hundred dollars, and
- (2) One hundred dollars for each month of Persian Gulf, Afghanistan, or Iraq service during the compensable periods, not to exceed one thousand dollars.
- (C) A person who qualifies for compensation under both paragraph (B) (1) and (2) may receive compensation for both types of service, but in no case may the total compensation paid to any person exceed one thousand five hundred dollars.
- (D) Compensation for a fraction of a month of service shall be paid on the basis of one-thirtieth of the appropriate monthly amount for each day of service.
- (E) A person who is medically discharged or medically retired from service due to combat-related disabilities sustained during Persian Gulf, Afghanistan, or Iraq service is entitled to, and may apply to receive, compensation of one thousand dollars without regard to the amount of time served in such service.
- (F) A person who had been designated by the United States department of defense as missing in action as a result of honorable service during any of the compensable periods or had been held in enemy captivity during any of the compensable periods, is entitled to, and may apply for, a payment of five thousand dollars upon the person's release or location. Such payment replaces any other cash benefit payable under this rule, and the person's entitlement to such five thousand dollar payment is not affected by any earlier payment to the person's spouse, child, parent or person standing in loco parentis under rule <u>5902-4-03</u> of the Administrative Code.

Authorized By: Section 2r, Article VIII, Ohio Constitution Amplifies: Section 2r, Article VIII, Ohio Constitution

Five Year Review Date: 8/31/2027

Effective Date: 5/17/2010

5902-4-03 Compensation to living kin of deceased veteran who served during the Persian gulf, Afghanistan, and Iraq conflicts.

- (A) The surviving spouse, surviving child or children, or surviving parent or parents, including a person or persons standing in loco parentis for one year preceding commencement of service in the United States armed forces, of a person whose death was not as a result of injuries or illness sustained in Persian gulf, Afghanistan, or Iraq service, is entitled to, and may apply to receive, the same amount of compensation that the person who served in the armed forces would have received under rule <u>5902-4-02</u> of the Administrative Code, if living.
- (B) If the United States department of veterans' affairs determines that the person's death was the result of injuries or illness sustained in Persian gulf, Afghanistan, or Iraq service, the person's survivor(s) is/are entitled to, and may apply for, a survivor's payment of five thousand dollars, regardless of the amount of compensation that the deceased would have been entitled to receive, if living.
- (C) Any survivor's compensation payments applied for under paragraphs (A) and (B) of this rule shall be made to the surviving spouse. If there is no surviving spouse, the payment shall go to the surviving child or children. If there are no surviving children, the payment shall go to the surviving parent or parents or person or persons standing in loco parentis for at least one year preceding commencement of service in the United States armed forces.

Authorized By: Section 2r, Article VIII, Ohio Constitution Amplifies: Section 2r, Article VIII, Ohio Constitution

Five Year Review Date: 8/31/2027

Effective Date: 5/17/2010

5902-4-04 Compensation paid to living kin of veteran missing in action during the Persian gulf, Afghanistan, and Iraq conflicts.

- (A) The spouse, child or parent, including a person standing on loco parentis for at least one year preceding commencement of service in the United States armed forces, of a person designated by the United States department of defense as missing in action or held in enemy captivity as a result of honorable service during the Persian gulf, Afghanistan, or Iraq conflicts, is entitled to, and may apply for, a payment of five thousand dollars.
- (B) This payment replaces any other cash benefit payable under this chapter.
- (C) While the person is missing or held captive, the payment shall be made to the person's spouse. If there is no spouse to claim the payment, payment shall be made to the person's child or children. If the person does not have children, payment shall be made to the person's parent or parents or person or persons standing in loco parentis for at least one year preceding commencement of service in the United States armed forces.

Authorized By: Section 2r, Article VIII, Ohio Constitution Amplifies: Section 2r, Article VIII, Ohio Constitution

Five Year Review Date: 8/31/2027

Effective Date: 5/17/2010

5902-4-05 Persons to whom compensation shall not be paid.

Compensation shall not be paid under this chapter:

- (A) To any person who received from another state a bonus or compensation of a similar nature;
- (B) To any person who served less than ninety days in the United States armed forces, unless active duty was terminated as a result of injuries or illness sustained during Persian gulf, Afghanistan, or Iraq service during the compensable period; or
- (C) To any person for any time period spent under penal confinement during the compensable period.

Authorized By: Section 2r, Article VIII, Ohio Constitution Amplifies: Section 2r, Article VIII, Ohio Constitution

Five Year Review Date: 8/31/2027

Effective Date: 5/17/2010

5902-4-06 Legal residence.

- (A) For purposes of this rule, the term "service member" shall mean the individual for whose military service compensation is sought, regardless of whether the application for compensation is filed by the individual on his or her own behalf; by a legally appointed guardian; or by his or her next of kin in the case of a deceased individual or an individual designated as missing in action or held in enemy captivity.
- (B) In order to be eligible for compensation under this chapter, the applicant must establish to the satisfaction to the director of the department of veterans services, that the service member was a legal resident of Ohio at the start of such service member's active duty service in the United States armed services. The proof of residence shall be the official military records of the United States or

other evidence deemed sufficient by the director. In making a determination of the legal residence in cases where official military records do not show Ohio as the home of record at the start of active duty service, the director will apply a rebuttable presumption that the veteran was not a legal resident of Ohio. The applicant may rebut this presumption by submitting documents establishing to the satisfaction of the director that Ohio was the service member's legal residence.

- (C) In order to be eligible for compensation under this chapter the applicant must also establish to the satisfaction of the director that the service member, if living, is an Ohio resident at the time the application is filed. An applicant for compensation who is the survivor of a deceased service member or the next of kin of a service member designated as missing in action or held in enemy captivity need not be a resident of Ohio at the time the application is filed in order to be eligible for compensation under this chapter if all other criteria are met, however in the case of an application for compensation filed by the survivor of a deceased service member, such service member must have been an Ohio resident at the time of his/her death in order for his/her survivor to be eligible for payment of compensation.
- (D) A legal resident of Ohio is an individual for whom Ohio was the state of domicile and who did not claim legal residence in any other state for any purpose. A service member's legal residence in Ohio is not changed by virtue of military assignment to another state.
- (E) Documents that the director may consider to determine the residency of a service member under paragraphs (B) and (C) of this rule include, but are not limited to, the following:
- (1) Voter registration records;
- (2) Proof of payment of Ohio state income tax as a resident;
- (3) Ohio driver's license;
- (4) Other proof of Ohio residence address, including high school diploma or attendance record for Ohio high school, real estate records, utility receipts and other records showing residence in Ohio; and
- (5) An affidavit of residence submitted by the service member or other person having knowledge of such facts under penalty of law in which the affiant swears or affirms that the service member was a resident of Ohio at the start of his/her active duty and/or is a current Ohio resident.

Authorized By: Section 2r, Article VIII, Ohio Constitution Amplifies: Section 2r, Article VIII, Ohio Constitution

Five Year Review Date: 8/31/2027

Effective Date: 5/17/2010

5902-4-07 Applications for compensation.

- (A) Applications for payment of compensation from the Persian gulf, Afghanistan, and Iraq conflicts compensation fund must be made to the department of veterans services. All applications must be in writing on forms approved by the department of veterans services.
- (B) No sale or assignment of any right or claim to compensation under this chapter shall be valid. No claims of creditors shall be enforceable against rights or claims to or payments of compensation under this chapter. No fees shall be charged for services in connection with the prosecution of any right or claim to compensation or the collection of any compensation under this chapter.
- (C) All applications for payment of compensation under this chapter shall be made to the department of veterans services according to the following schedule:
- (1) For Persian gulf service, not later than December 31, 2013;
- (2) For Afghanistan service, not later than three years after the date determined by the president of the United States as the end of involvement of the United States armed forces in Afghanistan;
- (3) For Iraq service, not later than three years after the date determined by the president of the United States as the end of involvement of the United States armed forces in Iraq;

(D) Each applicant for compensation under this chapter shall complete IRS Form W-9, Request for Taxpayer Identification. Instructions for completing Form W-9, together with the W-9 Form, will be included in the application documents.

Authorized By: Section 2r, Article VIII, Ohio Constitution Amplifies: Section 2r, Article VIII, Ohio Constitution

Five Year Review Date: 8/31/2027

Effective Date: 5/17/2010

5902-4-08 Availability of funding for the program.

Notwithstanding any other provision to the contrary, valid claims for cash compensation made under these rules shall be paid only if adequate funds remain in the Persian gulf, Afghanistan, and Iraq conflicts compensation fund.

Authorized By: Section 2r, Article VIII, Ohio Constitution Amplifies: Section 2r, Article VIII, Ohio Constitution

Five Year Review Date: 8/31/2027

Effective Date: 5/17/2010

5902-4-09 Applications for compensation to incompetent persons.

(A) An application for the payment of compensation based upon service of a living person in the armed forces of the United States in the Persian gulf, Afghanistan, and Iraq conflicts must be made by such person, unless such person is the ward of a legally appointed and acting guardian or unless such person is mentally or physically incompetent to make an application.

(B) If the person entitled to compensation under this chapter, including a survivor, is the ward of a legally appointed and acting guardian, the application must be made by such guardian, which must be filled in by such guardian just as though it was being filled in by the ward, excepting that at the place in the application form provided for the applicant's signature, the guardian must sign the ward's name and his/her own name followed by the words to indicate the guardianship and he/she must affirm to the truth of the application.

Authorized By: Section 2r, Article VIII, Ohio Constitution Amplifies: Section 2r, Article VIII, Ohio Constitution

Five Year Review Date: 8/31/2027

Effective Date: 5/17/2010

5902-4-10 Applications for compensation for deceased veterans.

(A) Any application for the payment of compensation under this chapter based upon the service of a deceased veteran must be made by the veteran's surviving spouse; if there is no surviving spouse, the application must be made by the child or children of such deceased veteran; if there is no surviving spouse and no surviving child or children, the application must be made by a surviving parent or surviving parents or person or persons standing in loco parentis for at least one year preceding commencement of service in the United States armed forces of such deceased veteran; provided, however, that if any of the kin of a deceased veteran mentioned in this paragraph, who may be entitled to compensation shall be the ward of a legally appointed and acting guardian, such guardian alone shall be entitled to make the application on behalf of such ward. An application by a guardian must be made, which must be filled in by the guardian as though it were being filled in by the ward, excepting that at the place in the application form provided for the applicant's signature, the guardian must sign the ward's name and his/her own

name followed by words to indicate his/her guardianship and his/her affirmation of the truth of the application.

- (B) If there is no surviving spouse of a deceased veteran, and if there is more than one living child of such deceased veteran an application for compensation shall be made by or on behalf of each child separately. If there is no surviving spouse of a deceased veteran, and if there are no living children of such deceased veteran, and if there is more than one living parent of such deceased veteran, an application for compensation shall be made separately by each of them
- (C) The surviving spouse of more than one deceased veteran shall be entitled to compensation based upon the service of each deceased veteran. Separate applications must be filed. The parent or parents of more than one deceased veteran who is not survived by a spouse, child or children, shall be entitled to compensation based upon the service of each of such deceased veterans. Separate applications for compensation by reason of the death of each of such deceased veterans, must be filed by such parent or parents.

Authorized By: Section 2r, Article VIII, Ohio Constitution Amplifies: Section 2r, Article VIII, Ohio Constitution

Five Year Review Date: 8/31/2027

Effective Date: 5/17/2010

5902-4-11 Department shall appoint counsel and employees as necessary.

In order to carry out the duties imposed by this chapter, the director of the department of veterans services shall select and appoint legal counsel and employees as are necessary, fix their compensation, and prescribe their duties. All such appointees shall be in the unclassified service of the state of Ohio and shall serve at the pleasure of the director.

Authorized By: Section 2r, Article VIII, Ohio Constitution Amplifies: Section 2r, Article VIII, Ohio Constitution

Five Year Review Date: 8/31/2027

Effective Date: 5/17/2010

5902-4-12 Payments of compensation.

- (A) Payments of compensation will be made from the Persian gulf, Afghanistan, and Iraq conflicts compensation fund by warrants (checks) drawn upon such fund by order of the director of the department of veterans services. Such warrants will be paid by the state of Ohio when properly endorsed and presented through any bank.
- (B) In the case of the compensation awarded on an application made by a living person, the warrant in payment of such compensation shall be made payable to such person regardless of whether he/she is more or less than eighteen (18) years of age; provided, however, that if it shall appear to the satisfaction of the director of the department of veterans services prior to the time the warrant in payment of the compensation awarded shall have been presented to the state of Ohio for payment, that such person is the ward of a legally appointed and acting guardian who was appointed subsequent to the execution of the application, the warrant in payment of such compensation shall be made payable to such guardian.
- (C) In the case of compensation awarded on an application made by a legally appointed and acting guardian, the warrant in payment of such compensation will be made payable to such guardian.
- (D) Warrants in payment of compensation on all other applications will be made payable to the applicants.
- (E) Warrants in payment of compensation must be endorsed personally by persons to whom they are payable, provided, however, where to obtain a personal endorsement would cause extreme

hardship, counsel for the department of veterans services may approve an endorsement by an individual holding a proper power of attorney. If the person to whom a warrant is made payable shall die before personally endorsing the warrant, the warrant shall be returned to the department of veterans services and deposited in the Persian gulf, Afghanistan, and Iraq conflicts compensation fund. If the ward of a legally appointed guardian shall die before the warrant is personally endorsed by the guardian, the warrant shall be returned to the department of veterans services and deposited in the Persian gulf, Afghanistan, and Iraq conflicts compensation fund.

- (F) Compensation from the Persian gulf, Afghanistan, and Iraq conflicts compensation fund shall not be payable to an executor or administrator of a deceased person.
- (G) In each case where compensation is payable to the children of a deceased veteran, each child shall be entitled to the total amount of compensation awarded by reason of the deceased veteran's service in the armed forces of the United States divided by the number of such children living at the time of the payment of compensation. A warrant will be issued to each such child for the share of such compensation due such child, upon such child's application therefore.
- (H) In each case where compensation is payable to the parent of a deceased veteran, each such parent shall be entitled to the total amount of compensation awarded by reason of the deceased veteran's service in the armed forces of the United States divided by the number of such parents living at the time of the payment of compensation. A warrant will be issued to each such parent for the share of such compensation due such child, upon such parent's application therefore.
- (I) Compensation for a fraction of a month of service shall be paid on the basis of one-thirtieth of the monthly amount payable for such service for each day of such service.
- (J) Warrants from the Persian gulf, Afghanistan, and Iraq conflicts compensation fund mailed to applicants for compensation must be understood by the applicants receiving same to be in full settlement of their claims for compensation unless the warrant is accompanied by a communication from the director of the department of veterans services indicating otherwise.

Authorized By: Section 2r, Article VIII, Ohio Constitution Amplifies: Section 2r, Article VIII, Ohio Constitution

Five Year Review Date: 8/31/2027

Effective Date: 5/17/2010

5902-4-13 Determination of sufficiency of documentation.

Determinations as to the sufficiency of documentation submitted in support of applications for compensation submitted under this chapter, whether by current or former service members, guardians of current or former service members, or the next of kin of current or former service members shall rest within the discretion of the director of the department of veterans services.

Authorized By: Section 2r, Article VIII, Ohio Constitution Amplifies: Section 2r, Article VIII, Ohio Constitution

Five Year Review Date: 8/31/2027

Effective Date: 5/17/2010

5902-4-14 Confidentiality of applicant information.

All information obtained by the department of veterans services concerning any particular person who shall have filed an application for compensation with this agency, or concerning any particular claim for such compensation which shall have been filed, or concerning any action which shall have been taken in connection with any particular claim, shall be treated as confidential information and is not a public record under section 149.43 of the Revised Code. Information shall not be disclosed to any person other than the applicant or the applicant's authorized representative, with the exception of persons who are employees of the department

of veterans services or law enforcement personnel investigating fraudulent applications for compensation.

Authorized By: Section 2r, Article VIII, Ohio Constitution Amplifies: Section 2r, Article VIII, Ohio Constitution

Five Year Review Date: 8/31/2027

Effective Date: 7/10/2011

Chapter 5902-5: ACCESSING CONFIDENTIAL PERSONAL INFORMATION

5902-5-01 **Definitions**.

For the purposes of administrative rules promulgated in accordance with section <u>1347.15</u> of the Revised Code to regulate employee access to confidential personal information within the department of veterans services, hereafter referred to as "the agency," the following definitions apply:

- (A) "Access" as a noun means an opportunity to copy, view, or othersie perceive whereas "access" as a verb means to copy, view, or otherwise perceive.
- (B) "Acquisition of a new computer system" means the purchase of a "computer system," as defined in this rule, that is not a computer system currently in place nor one for which the acquisition process has been initiated as of the effective date of the agency rule addressing requirements in section <u>1347.15</u> of the Revised Code.
- (C) "Computer system" means a "system," as defined by section <u>1347.01</u> of the Revised Code, that stores, maintains, or retrieves personal information using electronic data processing equipment.
- (D) "Confidential personal information" (CPI) has the meaning as defined by division (A)(1) of section $\underline{1347.15}$ of the Revised Code and identified by rules promulgated by the agency in accordance with division (B)(3) of section $\underline{1347.15}$ of the Revised Code that reference the federal or state statutes or administrative rules that make personal information maintained by the agency confidential.
- (E) "Employee of the state agency" means each employee of a state agency regardless of whether they holds an elected or appointed office or position within the state agency. "Employee of the state agency" is limited to the specific employing state agency.
- (F) "Incidental contact" means contact with the information that is secondary or tangential to the primary purpose of the activity that resulted in the contact.
- (G) "Individual" means natural person or the natural persons authorized representative, legal counsel, legal custodian, or legal quardian.
- (H) "Information owner" means the individual appointed in accordance with division (A) of section <u>1347.05</u> of the Revised Code to be directly responsible for a system.
- (I) "Person" means natural person.
- (J) "Personal information" has the same meaning as defined in division (E) of section $\underline{1347.01}$ of the Revised Code.

- (K) "Personal information system" means a "system" that "maintains" "personal information" as those terms are defined in section $\underline{1347.01}$ of the Revised Code. "System" includes manual and computer systems.
- (L) "Research" means a methodical investigation into a subject.
- (M) "Routine" means common place, regular, habitual, or ordinary.
- (N) "Routine information that is maintained for the purpose of internal office administration, the use of which would not adversely affect a person" as that phrase is used in division (F) of section <u>1347.01</u> of the Revised Code means personal information relating to the agencys employees that is maintained by the agency for administrative and human resource purposes.
- (0) "System" has the same meaning as defined by division (F) of section $\underline{1347.01}$ of the Revised Code.
- (P) "Upgrade" means a substantial redesign of an existing system for the purpose of providing a substantial amount of new application functionality, or application modifications that would involve substantial administrative or fiscal resources to implement, but would not include maintenance, minor updates and patches, or modifications that entail a limited addition of functionality due to changes in business or legal requirements.

Authorized by: <u>1347.15</u> Amplifies: 1347.15

Five Year Review Date: 1/21/2028

Effective Date: 1/23/2023

5902-5-02 Procedures for accessing confidential personal information.

For personal information systems, whether manual or computer systems, that contain confidential personal information, the agency shall do the following:

- (A) Personal information systems of the agency are managed on a "need-to-know" basis whereby the information owner determines the level of access required for an employee of the agency to fulfill their job duties. The determination of access to confidential personal information shall be approved by the employees supervisor and the information owner prior to providing the employee with access to confidential personal information within a personal information system. The agency shall establish procedures for determining a revision to an employees access to confidential personal information upon a change to that employees job duties including, but not limited to, transfer or termination. Whenever an employees job duties no longer require access to confidential personal information in a personal information system, the employees access to confidential personal information shall be removed.
- (B) Upon the signed written request of any individual for a list of confidential personal information about the individual maintained by the agency, the agency shall do all of the following:
- (1) Verify the identity of the individual by a method that provides safeguards commensurate with the risk associated with the confidential personal information;
- (2) Provide to the individual the list of confidential personal information that does not relate to an investigation about the individual or is otherwise not excluded from the scope of Chapter 1347. of the Revised Code; and

- (3) If all information relates to an investigation about that individual, inform the individual that the agency has no confidential personal information about the individual that is responsive to the individuals request.
- (C) Notice of invalid access.
- (1) Upon discovery or notification that confidential personal information of a person has been accessed by an employee for an invalid reason, the agency shall notify the person whose information was invalidly accessed as soon as practical and to the extent known at the time. However, the agency shall delay notification for a period of time necessary to ensure that the notification would not delay or impede an investigation or jeopardize homeland or national security. Additionally, the agency may delay the notification consistent with any measures necessary to determine the scope of the invalid access, including which individuals confidential personal information invalidly was accessed, and to restore the reasonable integrity of the system.

"Investigation" as used in this paragraph means the investigation of the circumstances and involvement of an employee surrounding the invalid access of the confidential personal information. Once the agency determines that notification would not delay or impede an investigation, the agency shall disclose the access to confidential personal information made for an invalid reason to the person.

- (2) Notification provided by the agency shall inform the person of the type of confidential personal information accessed and the date(s) of the invalid access.
- (3) Notification may be made by any method reasonably designed to accurately inform the person of the invalid access, including written, electronic, or telephone notice.
- (D) The agency director shall designate an employee of the agency to serve as the data privacy point of contact. The data privacy point of contact shall work with the chief privacy officer within the office of information technology to assist the agency with both the implementation of privacy protections for the confidential personal information that the agency maintains and compliance with section 1347.15 of the Revised Code and the rules adopted pursuant to the authority provided by that chapter.
- (E) The agency director shall designate an employee of the agency to serve as the data privacy point of contact who shall timely complete the privacy impact assessment form developed by the office of information technology.

Authorized by: <u>1347.15</u> Amplifies: <u>1347.15</u>

Five Year Review Date: 1/21/2028

Effective Date: 1/23/2023

5902-5-03 Valid reasons for accessing confidential personal information.

Pursuant to the requirements of division (B)(2) of section 1347.15 of the Revised Code, this rule contains a list of valid reasons, directly related to the department of veterans services' exercise of its powers or duties, for which only employees of the agency may access confidential personal information (CPI) regardless of whether the personal information system is a manual system or computer system:

(A) Performing the following functions constitute valid reasons for authorized employees of the agency to access confidential personal information:

- (1) Responding to a public records request;
- (2) Responding to a request from an individual for the list of CPI the agency maintains on that individual;
- (3) Administering a constitutional provision or duty;
- (4) Administering a statutory provision or duty;
- (5) Administering an administrative rule provision or duty;
- (6) Complying with any state or federal program requirements;
- (7) Processing or payment of claims or otherwise administering a program with individual participants or beneficiaries;
- (8) Auditing purposes;
- (9) Licensure [or permit, eligibility, filing, etc.] processes;
- (10) Investigation or law enforcement purposes;
- (11) Administrative hearings;
- (12) Litigation, complying with an order of the court, or subpoena;
- (13) Human resource matters (e.g., hiring, promotion, demotion, discharge, salary/compensation issues, leave requests/issues, time card approvals/issues);
- (14) Complying with an executive order or policy;
- (15) Complying with an agency policy or a state administrative policy issued by the department of administrative services, the office of budget and management or other similar state agency; or
- (16) Complying with a collective bargaining agreement provision.
- (B) To the extent that the general processes described in paragraph (A) of this rule do not cover the following circumstances, for the purpose of carrying out specific duties of the Ohio department of veterans services, authorized employees would also have valid reasons for accessing CPI in these following circumstances:
- (1) Employees of the Ohio department of veterans services may access the CPI of residents of the Ohio veterans' homes for purposes of diagnosis and treatment related to residents' physical, mental, and/or psycho-social well-being and for purposes of carrying out the agency's duties related to resident assessments and resident billing for services provided.
- (2) Employees of the Ohio department of veterans services may access the CPI of individuals seeking admission to the Ohio veterans' homes for purposes of determining eligibility for admissions.
- (3) Employees of the Ohio department of veterans services may access the CPI of applicants for compensation under the veterans bonus program for purposes of carrying out the duties found in Section 2r of Article VIII of the Constitution of the state of Ohio.
- (4) Employees of the Ohio department of veterans services may access the CPI of former members of the U.S. armed forces, members of the national guard, reservists and their dependents applying for assistance from the agency related to eligibility for benefits or availability of programs for which they may qualify under state and/or federal law. Such access is permissible whether the application for assistance was made by the veteran on his orher own behalf; or through county veterans service officers, state or federal legislators, the U.S. department of veterans affairs, veterans' service organizations, legal guardians, or other individuals or organizations making applications for assistance on the individual's behalf.

(5) Employees of the Ohio department of veterans services may access the CPI of former members of the U.S. armed forces, members of the national guard, reservists and their dependents, applying for education and employment training services under the G.I. bill for purposes of carrying out its duties as the administering body for the state approving authority (SAA) for veterans training in Ohio.

Authorized by: <u>1347.15</u> Amplifies: 1347.15

Five Year Review Date: 8/31/2027

Effective Date: 9/17/2010

5902-5-04 Confidentiality Statutes.

The following federal statutes or regulations or state statutes and administrative rules make personal information maintained by the agency confidential and identify the confidential personal information within the scope of rules promulgated by this agency in accordance with section 1347.15 of the Revised Code:

- (A) Social security numbers: 5 U.S.C. 552a.
- (B) "Bureau of Criminal Investigation and Information" criminal records check results: section <u>4776.04</u> of the Revised Code.
- (C) Medical records: 42 U.S.C. section 201 et seq, and division (A)(1)(a) of section $\underline{149.43}$ of the Revised Code.
- (D) Federal tax returns and return information: 26 USCS section 6103(a).
- (E) Confidential law enforcement investigatory records: division (A)(1)(h) of section <u>149.43</u> of the Revised Code.
- (F) Medical records pertaining to the Americans with Disabilities Act: 42 USCS section 12112(d)(3)(B).
- (G) Peace officer residential and familial information: division (A)(1)(p) of section $\underline{149.43}$ of the Revised Code.
- (H) Law enforcement automated data system ("LEADS") information: section $\underline{5503.10}$ of the Revised Code.
- (I) Driver's license numbers or state identification numbers: sections $\underline{4501.34}$ and $\underline{4501.27}$ of the Revised Code.
- (J) Personal information required by the bureau of motor vehicles for driver's license purposes: Drivers Privacy Protection Act (18 U.S.C. 2721 2725).
- (K) U.S. military records of discharge: sections $\underline{317.24}$ and division (A)(1)(z) of section $\underline{149.43}$ of the Revised Code, and 5 U.S.C. 552a.

Authorized by: <u>1347.15</u> Amplifies: 1347.15

Five Year Review Date: 8/31/2027

Effective Date: 8/1/2016

5902-5-05 Restricting and logging access to confidential personal information in computerized personal information systems.

For personal information systems that are computer systems and contain confidential personal information, the agency shall do the following:

(A) Access to confidential personal information that is kept electronically shall require a password or other authentication measure.

- (B) When the agency acquires a new computer system that stores, manages or contains confidential personal information, the agency shall include a mechanism for recording specific access by employees of the agency to confidential personal information in the system.
- (C) When the agency modifies an existing computer system that stores, manages or contains confidential personal information, the agency shall make a determination whether the modification constitutes an upgrade. Any upgrades to a computer system shall include a mechanism for recording specific access by employees of the agency to confidential personal information in the system.
- (D) Logging requirements regarding confidential personal information in existing computer systems.
- (1) The agency shall require employees of the agency who access confidential personal information within computer systems to maintain a log that records that access.
- (2) Access to confidential information is not required to be entered into the log under the following circumstances:
- (a) The employee of the agency is accessing confidential personal information for official agency purposes, including research, and the access is not specifically directed toward a specifically named individual or a group of specifically named individuals.
- (b) The employee of the agency is accessing confidential personal information for routine office procedures and the access is not specifically directed toward a specifically named individual or a group of specifically named individuals.
- (c) The employee of the agency comes into incidental contact with confidential personal information and the access of the information is not specifically directed toward a specifically named individual or a group of specifically named individuals.
- (d) The employee of the agency accesses confidential personal information about an individual based upon a request made under either of the following circumstances:
- (i) The individual requests confidential personal information about themselves.
- (ii) The individual makes a request that the agency takes some action on that individuals behalf and accessing the confidential personal information is required in order to consider or process that request.
- (3) For purposes of this paragraph, the agency may choose the form or forms of logging, whether in electronic or paper formats.
- (E) Log management. The agency shall issue a policy that specifies the following:
- (1) Who shall maintain the log;
- (2) What information shall be captured in the log;
- (3) How the log is to be stored; and
- (4) How long information kept in the log is to be retained.

Nothing in this rule limits the agency from requiring logging in any circumstance that it deems

necessary.

Authorized by: <u>1347.15</u> Amplifies: <u>1347.15</u>

Five Year Review Date: 1/21/2028

Effective Date: 1/23/2023

Chapter 5902-6 Military Nonstandard License Plate Application and Guidelines

5902-6-01 Agency responsibilities.

- (A) The director of the Ohio department of veterans services shall adopt rules specifying guidelines for establishment of the military nonstandard license plate program pursuant to division (B) of section $\underline{4503.29}$ of the revised code.
- (B) The registrar of motor vehicles shall adopt rules for the implementation and issuance of military nonstandard license plates pursuant to division (B) of Section <u>4503.29</u> of the Revised Code.

Authorized by: <u>4503.29 (B)</u> Amplifies: <u>4503.29 (B)</u>

Five Year Review Date: 10/9/2026

Effective Date: 10/9/2021

5902-6-02 Authorized military nonstandard license plates.

- (A) A formal recommendation, by the director of veteran services to the registrar of motor vehicles, shall be made for the establishment of military related license plates. All recommendations shall include eligibility and documentation requirements necessary for issuance.
- (B) Pursuant to section <u>4503.29</u> of the Revised Code, license plates established under this program shall adhere to the following parameters:
- (1) Any military nonstandard license plate issued by the registrar as of June 29, 2018 shall continue to be available for issue in accordance with division (C) of section $\underline{4503.29}$ of the Revised Code.
- (2) Military nonstandard license plates that reflect service in the armed forces as defined in section 5903.01 of the Revised Code. Such plates may be issued to any eligible person currently serving, retired from, or veteran of the applicable branch of service. License plates created under this division shall be manufactured in accordance with rule 4501-27-01 of the Administrative Code. The registrar shall, with the assistance of the Ohio department of veterans services and the institute of heraldry, design the license plates.
- (3) Military nonstandard license plates that reflect service participation in any named military campaign, expeditionary operation, or overseas defensive mission.
- (4) Military nonstandard license plates that reflect military honors earned for valor or are only awarded for participation in combat operations.

- (5) Except as provided in division (B)(1) of this rule, military nonstandard license plates that reflect unit awards, non-combat achievements, or individual qualifications are prohibited pursuant to division (B)(7) of section $\underline{4503.29}$ of the Revised Code.
- (6) Military non-standard license plates shall only display one military designation.

Authorized by: <u>4503.29 (B)</u> Amplifies: 4503.29 (B)

Five Year Review Date: 10/9/2026

Effective Date: 10/9/2021

5902-6-03 Application and documentation.

- (A) Any application for a military nonstandard license plate shall be completed in accordance with rule <u>4501:1-7-13</u> of the Administrative Code. Documents or subsequent verification shall be submitted as directed by the registrar.
- (B) Former members of the Armed Forces, as defined by section <u>5903.01</u> of the revised code, shall submit a DD-214, NGB-22, current federal retiree identification, or other equivalent service documentation demonstrating separation under honorable conditions and military awards or service relevant to the requested license plate.
- (C) Currently serving members of the Armed Forces, as defined by section <u>5903.01</u> of the revised code, shall provide current federal identification indicating their service and military personnel record documentation, orders, or equivalent service documentation demonstrating military awards relevant to the requested license plate. Currently serving members of the Armed Forces shall also provide a letter from their commanding officer when applying for military nonstandard license plates issued under division (B)(2) of rule 5902-6-2 of the Administrative Code.
- (D) In circumstances where a DD-214, NGB-22, military personnel record, or other equivalent service documentation does not specify the appropriate military award, the applicant may submit official Department of Defense or other federal agency certificates or orders demonstrating military awards relevant to the requested license plate.

Authorized by: <u>4503.29 (B)</u> Amplifies: <u>4503.29 (B)</u>

Five Year Review Date: 10/9/2026

Effective Date: 10/9/2021

REFERENCES AND RESOURCES

Useful VA Related Phone Numbers

Bereavement Counseling	1-877-927-8387
Civilian Health and Medical Program (CHAMPVA)	1-800-733-8387
Education (GI Bill)	1-888-442-4551
Foreign Medical Program	1-877-345-8179
Headstones and Markers	1-800-697-6947
Health Care Benefits	1-877-222-8387
Home Loans	1-888-827-3702
Homeless Veterans	1-877-424-3838
Life Insurance	1-800-669-8477
National Cemetery Scheduling Office	1-800-535-1117
National Suicide Prevention Lifeline	988
Presidential Memorial Certificate Program	1-202-632-7300
Special Health Issues	1-800-749-8387
Spina Bifida/Children of Women Vietnam Veterans	1-833-930-0816
VA Benefits	1-800-827-1000

VA Related Websites

Attorney General Opinions http://www.ohioattorneygeneral	general.gov/About-AG/Service-Divisions/Opinions	
Burial and Memorial Benefits	https://www.cem.va.gov/burial_benefits/	
Caregiver Support	https://www.caregiver.va.gov/	
Code of Federal Regulation (CFR) Title 38	http://www.benefits.va.gov/warms/bookc.asp	
CVSC/CVSO Training and Registration Page https://dvs.ohio.gov/what-we-do/cvso-cvsc-training		
Access and manage your VA benefits and health care	https://www.va.gov	
Education Benefits		
Environmental Exposures	http://www.publichealth.va.gov/exposures	
Find Your County Veterans Service Office http://dvs.ohio.gov/main/county-veterans-service-offices.html		
Health Care Eligibility	http://www.va.gov/healthbenefits	
Home Loan Guaranty	http://www.benefits.va.gov/homeloans/	
Homeless Veterans	http://www.va.gov/homeless	
Life Insurance	http://www.insurance.va.gov	
Memorial Certificate Program	http://www.cem.va.gov/pmc.asp	
Mental Health	http://www.mentalhealth.va.gov	
My HealtheVet	http://www.myhealth.va.gov	
National Resource Directory	http://www.nrd.gov	
Ohio Administrative Code (OAC)	http://codes.ohio.gov/oac/	
Ohio Department of Veterans Services		
Ohio Ethics Commission	http://ethics.ohio.gov/	
Ohio Job & Family Services Veterans Workforce Services http://jfs.ohio.gov/veterans/index.stm		
Ohio Means Jobs https://jobseeker.ohiomea	ansjobs.monster.com/Veterans/VeteranInfo.aspx	
Ohio Revised Code (ORC)	http://codes.ohio.gov/orc/	
Ohio Sunshine Law <u>http://ww</u>	w.ohioattorneygeneral.gov/Legal/Sunshine-Laws	
Military Personnel Records <u>http</u>	o://www.archives.gov/st-louis/military-personnel	
Relias Online Training Login	http://countytraining.training.reliaslearning.com	
Returning Service Members	http://www.oefoif.va.gov	
State Departments of Veterans Affairs	http://www.va.gov/statedva.htm	
U.S. Department of Veterans Affairs	http://www.va.gov/	
United States Code (USC)	http://uscode.house.gov/	

Ohio Administrative Code (OAC)

VA Benefit Payment Rates <u>http://www.k</u>	penefits.va.gov/compensation/rates-index.asp
VA Forms	https://www.va.gov/vaforms/default.asp
VA Home Page	http://www.va.gov
VA Vet Centers	http://www.vetcenter.va.gov
Veterans Crisis Line Chat Online	
Web Automated Reference Materials System (WARMS) .	http://www.benefits.va.gov/WARMS/
Women Veterans	http://www.womenshealth.va.gov